Indiana State University Sycamore Scholars

All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2015

Current Grading Practices For Indiana Elementary Grades K-5 And The Impact On Communication, Assessment, And Student Mindset

Paula Rae Concus Indiana State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds

Recommended Citation

Concus, Paula Rae, "Current Grading Practices For Indiana Elementary Grades K-5 And The Impact On Communication, Assessment, And Student Mindset" (2015). *All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1367.

https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds/1367

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Sycamore Scholars. It has been accepted for inclusion in All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Sycamore Scholars. For more information, please contact dana.swinford@indstate.edu.

VITA

Paula Rae Concus

EDUCATION

2015	Indiana State University, Terre Haute, Indiana
	Ph.D. in Educational Administration

- 1997Purdue University- Calumet, Calumet, IN
Administrative Licensure K-12
- 1988Valparaiso University, Valparaiso, IndianaM.S. in Elementary Education, Reading Endorsement
- 1975 Evangel College, Springfield, MO B.A. in Education

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

2014-2016	Kokomo School Corporation, Kokomo, Indiana Principal, Bon Air Elementary
2013-2014	Kokomo School Corporation, Kokomo, Indiana Principal, Bon Air Middle School and Elementary School
2009-2013	Kokomo School Corporation, Kokomo, Indiana Principal, Bon Air Elementary
2004-2009	Kokomo School Corporation, Kokomo, Indiana Principal, Darrough Chapel Elementary
2000-2004	Kankakee Valley School Corporation, Wheatfield, Indiana Principal, Wheatfield Elementary School
1997-2000	Griffith School Corporation, Griffith, Indiana Principal, Beiriger Elementary School
1992- 1997	Kankakee Valley School Corporation, Wheatfield, IN Title I Director, Teacher, DeMotte Elementary School
1986- 1992	Kankakee Valley School Corporation, Wheatfield, IN Title I Teacher, DeMotte Elementary School
1982-1986	Kankakee Valley School Corporation, Wheatfield, IN Elementary Teacher, DeMotte Elementary School

CURRENT GRADING PRACTICES FOR INDIANA ELEMENTARY GRADES K-5

AND THE IMPACT ON COMMUNICATION, ASSESSMENT,

AND STUDENT MINDSET

A Dissertation

Presented to

The College of Graduate and Professional Studies

Department of Educational Leadership

Indiana State University

Terre Haute, Indiana

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Paula Rae Concus

December 2015

© Paula Rae 2015Concus

Keywords: Grading practices, impact on communication, assessment, student mindset,

standards-based grading, traditional grading

ProQuest Number: 3739193

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 3739193

Published by ProQuest LLC (2015). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Committee Chair: Terry McDaniel, Ph.D.

Associate Professor of Educational Leadership

Indiana State University

Committee Member: Bobbie Jo Monahan, Ph.D.

Instructor of Educational Leadership

Indiana State University

Committee Member: Michael Langevin, Ph.D.

Adjunct Instructor of Educational Leadership

Indiana State University

ABSTRACT

This study involved elementary teachers in Indiana who were actively teaching during the spring of 2015. The purpose of this study was to determine whether or not there is a significant difference between the perceptions of teachers using traditional report cards and those who use standards-based report cards in the areas of assessment of students, communication from the viewpoint of teachers and from the viewpoint of parents, and mindset of students. Results were viewed through the lens of students of affluence (< 35% free/reduced lunch) and students of poverty (\geq 50% free/reduced lunch).

Standards-based responses in the areas of assessment, communication from the viewpoint of teachers and parents, and student mindset were statistically significant factors for students of poverty; assessment was also significant for students of affluence. Traditional report cards offered statistical significance only for students of affluence in the area of communication from the teacher viewpoint. Communication from the parent viewpoint (reported by teachers) and student mindset were not statistically significant factors for students of affluence in either reporting system, meaning teachers of students of affluence did not find traditional report cards or standards-based report cards as more important.

Implications of these findings are of particular importance to teachers of students of poverty, as the use of standards-based report cards are significant when teachers look at student assessment, teacher communication, parent communication, and student mindset. Although traditional report cards actually showed significance in one area (teacher communication) for one

student group (students of affluence), more consideration should be given to the use of standards-based report cards for all students.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

With a grateful heart, I would like to acknowledge the impact several people have had on my personal life, as well as on my educational life. I thank Dr. Terry McDaniel for accepting me as a candidate and seeing me through the process. Dr. Michael Langevin has provided support and encouragement, prodding me on during the slow times. Dr. Bobbi Jo Monahan offered encouragement and support as part of my committee. To those who enabled us to have a Kokomo Cohort, I offer thanks; for the vision of Dr. Dawn McGrath, and for Dr. Terry McDaniel, Dr. Steve Gruenert, Dr. Todd Bess, and Dr. Ryan Donlan who were willing to travel hours, so our cohort could travel less, and so the dreams of many could come true—thank you! The members of my cohort were supportive of each other, driving all of us to be better versions of ourselves. I especially want to thank Mike, Katie, Teni, Lynne, and Heidi who all reached this lofty status before me, and I want to thank my study partner, Amanda Whybrew, who will finish shortly after me. There have been some who will never see this day, but were keys to me getting here. My dad always introduced me with pride as a teacher or principal; I will never forget his beaming smile; my Aunt Martha wanted a college education for me when it was not even a thought for me; my Grandma Lila always wanted to be a teacher but her health prevented her accomplishment of this goal. Others will share this accomplishment with me: my sister, Freda, supported me with prayer from California; my mom, Marilyn, has given up hours of Scrabble with me as I have been writing; my daughter, Christi, has provided technical support and her visits have provided needed breaks; my son, Cory, along with his wife, Dr. Aliza, have pushed

mom to become the second of three "Doctors" in the family (Cory, you're next) through words of encouragement, prayers, and times of focus during visits to and from Tennessee; my precious grandchildren who have missed time with Grandma due to her "studying and writing," but whose hugs and kisses motivated me onward; and to my husband, Larry, whose support has been unwavering through 40 years of marriage, and to whom I want to say, "Dreams do come true." Above all, I want to thank God for providing the support and foundation for all of my life and being.

DEDICATION

To my grandchildren

Lily, Ruby, Nina, Riley, Wyatt, Addison, and ??

May God guide you as you reach for your dreams.

"In Him we live and move and have our being" Acts 17:28a

TABLE OF CONTENTS

COMMITTEE MEMBERS	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	v
DEDICATION	vii
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	. xiv
INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of the Problem	1
Purpose of the Study	5
Research Questions	7
Null Hypotheses	7
Delimitations	8
Limitations	8
Definitions	9
Significance of the Study	11
Summary	12
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	14
Historical Practices of Grading	14
Present Day Practices of Grading	17

The Purpose of Grading	17
Reliability and Validity of Grades	22
What Do Grades Reflect?	30
How Do Grades Relate to Standards?	31
Internal Assessments, External Assessments, and Grades	32
Elements Impacting Student Achievement	34
Extraneous Elements	34
Motivation, Ability or Mindset	35
Next Steps – To Grade or Not to Grade	46
The Impact of College and Career Readiness Standards on Grading and Reporting	47
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	52
Research Questions	52
Null Hypotheses	53
Study Sample	54
Survey Design	54
Instrumentation	56
Data Collection Process	56
Statistical Analysis	57
Summary	58
FINDINGS OF THE DATA ANALYSIS	60
Descriptive Statistics	64
Frequency Data for Whole Sample	64
Descriptive Statistics Traditional Reporting System	70

< 3 Years and ≥ 3 Years	86
Free/Reduced Lunch	. 102
Inferential Data	. 118
Assessment and \geq 50% Free/Reduced Population	. 119
Assessment and < 35%% Free/Reduced Lunch Population	. 119
Parent Communication and \geq 50% Free/Reduced Lunch Population	. 121
Parent Communication and < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch Population	. 122
Teacher Communication and \geq 50% Free/Reduced Lunch Population	. 123
Teacher Communication and < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch Population	. 124
Mindset and \geq 50% Free/Reduced Lunch Population	. 125
Mindset and <35% Free/Reduced Lunch Population	. 126
Summary of Findings	. 127
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR	
FUTURE RESEARCH	. 129
Summary of Findings	. 129
Implications	. 139
Recommendations for Future Research	. 144
Summary	. 147
REFERENCES	. 148
APPENDIX A: CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH	. 159
APPENDIX B: TRADITIONAL AND STANDARDS-BASED REPORTING SURVEY	. 161
APPENDIX C: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL	. 166

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Items Contained Within the Survey	63
Table 2. Traditional Reporting Systems – Parent Communication	71
Table 3. Means for Using Traditional Report Cards – Parent Communication	72
Table 4. Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Parent Communication	73
Table 5. Means for Using Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Parent Communication	74
Table 6. Traditional Reporting systems – Teacher Communication	75
Table 7. Means for Using Traditional Reporting Systems – Teacher Communication	76
Table 8. Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Teacher Communication	77
Table 9. Means for Using Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Teacher Communication	78
Table 10. Traditional Reporting Systems – Mindset	79
Table 11. Means for Traditional Reporting Systems – Mindset	80
Table 12. Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Mindset	81
Table 13. Means for Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Mindset	82
Table 14. Traditional Reporting System – Assessments	83
Table 15. Means for Traditional Reporting System – Assessment	84
Table 16. Standards-Based Reporting System – Assessment	85
Table 17. Means for Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Assessment	86
Table 18. Frequency Data for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Parent	
Communication	87

Table 19. Means for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Parent Communication	88
Table 20. Frequency Data for Teachers with \geq 3 Years' Experience – Parent	
Communication	89
Table 21. Means for Teachers with \geq 3 Years' Experience – Parent Communication	90
Table 22. Frequency Data for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Teacher	
Communication	91
Table 23. Means for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Teacher Communication	92
Table 24. Frequency Data for Teachers with \geq 3 Years' Experience – Teacher	
Communication	93
Table 25. Means for Teachers with \geq 3 Years' Experience – Teacher Communication	94
Table 26. Frequency Data for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Mindset	95
Table 27. Mean for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Mindset	96
Table 28. Frequency Data for Teachers with \geq 3 Years' Experience – Mindset	97
Table 29. Means for Teachers With \geq 3 Years' Experience – Mindset	98
Table 30. Frequency Data for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Assessment	99
Table 31. Means for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Assessment	100
Table 32. Frequency Data for Teachers with \geq 3 Years' Experience – Assessment	101
Table 33. Means for Teachers with \geq 3 Years' Experience – Assessment	102
Table 34. Frequency Data for Free/Reduced Lunch – Parent Communication	103
Table 35. Means for Free/Reduced Lunch – Parent Communication	104
Table 36. Frequency Data for \geq 50% Free/ Reduced Lunch – Parent Communication	105
Table 37. Means for \geq 50% Free/Reduced Lunch – Parent Communication	106
Table 38. < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch – Teacher Communication	107

Table 39. Means for < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch – Teacher Communication
Table 40. Frequency Data for \geq 50% Free/Reduced Lunch – Teacher Communication 109
Table 41. Means for \geq 50% Free/ Reduced Lunch – Teacher Communication 110
Table 42. Frequency Data for < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch – Mindset
Table 43. Means for < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch – Mindset
Table 44. Frequency Data for \geq 50% Free/Reduced Lunch – Mindset 113
Table 45. Means for \geq 50% Free/Reduced Lunch – Mindset 114
Table 46. Frequency Data for < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch – Assessment
Table 47. Means for <35% Free/Reduced Lunch – Assessment 116
Table 48. Frequency Data for \geq 50% Free/Reduced Lunch – Mindset 117
Table 49. Means for \geq 50% Free/Reduced Lunch – Mindset

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Sample Report of Student's Progress with Modified Standards.	. 50
Figure 2. Communication Strategies	138

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

When asked how a child is doing in school, the answer often includes a reference to the letter grades the child receives. Letter grades have become synonymous with success or lack of success in school to students, parents, teachers, and "outside stakeholders" such as colleges, grant/ award recognitions, and employers. For the last generation of students, standardized test scores have become another mandatory indicator of success for students, parents, and teachers. No longer is the grade on the report card the sole assessment to summatively report student learning. The mission of schools is changing from ranking students by averaging their letter grades to ensuring that all students learn to specified standards (Stiggins, 2005). Adding the layer of standardized measurement to the tradition of grading by the teacher has broadened the discussion of how to best inform all stakeholders of the academic progress of students in consistent and meaningful terms (O'Connor, 2009).

Statement of the Problem

Student achievement is reported to parents most often by letter grades on assignments that culminate in a summative grade, typically four or six times per year. The use of letter grades to summarize student learning is a commonly accepted practice across generations, countries, and student age levels. In actuality, the use of summative letter grades has only been around for just over 100 years (Goodwin, 2011). Debate about using one summative letter to indicate student achievement has been ongoing since the practice was widely accepted as the means to report student achievement. Questions were raised about the use of letter grades as well as the use of percentages to justify the grades given (Finkelstein, 1913).

The need for more schools to educate children grew as the population of the United States rose. With the number of students increasing, teachers needed a more practical way to share student progress with parents, colleges, and businesses (Stiggins, 2006). The solution to this growth dilemma was to find a way to differentiate the degree to which students were learning (O'Connor, 2010). Student learning was given a fixed length of time, which was one year, and was noted by assigning grade levels (Answers, 2002; Stiggins, 2005). Letter grades often resulted in different meanings, and often incorporated academic assessment, effort, behavior, attendance, and motivation as factors of grading (Brookhart, 2011). Kohn (2011) was one of many who interpreted grades as a less than effective means of conveying what students are actually learning when he stated, "Collecting information doesn't require tests, and sharing that information doesn't require grades" (p. 28).

Letter grades were created as a means of measuring student achievement. O'Connor (2010) noted that the primary purpose of grading should be to communicate student achievement of learning goals with parents and students. However, teachers often assess non-academic factors such as attendance, behavior, participation, and timeliness of homework, along with actual achievement, when determining what grade to give (Marzano & Heflebower, 2011). Educators have the responsibility of communicating student achievement to parents, whether using traditional report cards or standards-based report cards. However, most educators have not been well trained on how to accurately report student performance to parents (Cizek, 1996). Often educators report grades based on their own experiences as students (Guskey, 2006).

Educators must debate and discuss the purpose of assessments they are reporting to stakeholders, whether parents, colleges, or employers. No single assessment can meet the information needs of all stakeholders (Stiggins, 2006).

In the 1960s, standardized tests were introduced as the means of comparing schools across districts on a yearly basis. Since then, standardized tests have become just one instrument used to compare achievement of students, by measuring scores on identified academic standards across districts, states, and nations (Stiggins, 2006). States developed their own standards for students to meet. More recently, most states have worked collaboratively to develop the Common Core State Standards Initiative, or CCSS.

Every state also had its own definition of proficiency, which is the level at which a student is determined to be sufficiently educated at each grade level and upon graduation. This lack of standardization was one reason why states decided to develop the Common Core State Standards in 2009. (CCSS, 2014, para. 2)

The CCSS have been built on a nation-wide level, combining efforts of educators, parents, and students. The overarching goal of the CCSS has been to develop rigorous and unified goals for student achievement and prepare students for college and a modern workforce. States have either adopted nationally recognized Common Core State Standards (CCSS), or have adopted their own version of the CCSS. Indiana has developed their own version, the College and Career Readiness Standards (CCRS).

The use of standards for setting and measuring student achievement has become an accepted practice across all states, whether state standards or CCSS. Standards are written so teachers across various genrés are aware of the skills and knowledge students should acquire through instruction (Guskey & Jung, 2013). However, there are concerns with what the

standardized test is actually measuring. "The problem with current standardized tests is that the standards being tested are often separate from those reflected in the curriculum" (Simmons, 2010, p. 1). Not only may standardized tests measure different standards than classroom curriculum, they also are not seen as reliable indicators of achievement. "Test scores, which can vary from year to year due to a multitude of variables, are unreliable indicators which can be affected by many predictable and random factors" (McGrath, 2006, pp. 7-8). Similarly, Popham stated that since the aim of standardized testing is to create a separation of the achievement of students, standardized tests should not be used to evaluate the learning of students (Simmons, 2010).

O'Connor (2009) and Guskey and Jung (2013) proposed there are two components to consider when reporting student achievement using standards—content standards and performance standards. Content standards are known as learning targets or goals, which state the expectations for student learning. Performance standards indicate how well the student performs those targets or goals by offering benchmarks or indicators to educators, students, and parents. The first state to actually develop a statewide standards-based report card was Kentucky. Teachers in Kentucky are required to base grades on explicit criteria articulated in the learning standards. Likewise, teachers are also compelled to distinguish product, process, and progress criteria (Guskey, Swan, & Jung, 2011). O'Connor (2009) identified product as the culmination of learning, progress as learning gain or improvement, and process as a combination of extraneous factors. Notably, process criteria, such as effort, timeliness, and responsibility, are seen as external elements of grading that are external to the actual achievement.

Dweck (2006) posited there are also internal elements which impact student achievement. Dweck saw the mindset of a student as the major factor in whether people achieve expertise.

"There are two meanings to ability not one: a fixed ability that needs to be proven OR a changeable ability that can be developed through learning" (Dweck, 2006, p. 15). The *fixed* mindset is the belief that one's qualities are carved in stone and therefore, an urgency is created to prove oneself over and over; a person has a certain amount of intelligence, certain personality, certain moral character that one must prove. The other viewpoint is that of the growth mindset in which basic qualities are things one can cultivate through effort. According to the growth mindset, although people may differ in multiple ways in their initial talents and aptitudes, interests or temperaments, everyone can change and growth through application and experience (Dweck, 2006).

How do these two mindsets show up in the learning process? Children with the growth mindset want to make sure they succeed; success is about stretching themselves. Students with the growth mindset tend to seize the chance to learn material that is presented to them. Students with the fixed mindset do not want to expose their deficiencies. Fixed mindset students would rather *feel* smart in the short run (now). In studies conducted by Dweck (2006), students were willing to put their college careers at risk rather than learn new material. Dweck saw this as how the fixed mindset makes people into non-learners. There may be external factors that impact learning; however, there are also internal factors that may impact the learning of students, according to research.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to determine whether or not there is a significant difference between the perceptions of teachers using traditional report cards and those using standardsbased report cards in the areas of assessment, communication, and mindset of students. "In education, grades are the symbols, words, or numerals that teachers assign to evidence on student

learning to signify different levels of achievement" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 64). The evidence teachers collect to support and assess learning is part of the professional judgment that teachers exercise. Examples of student work, both process and product, are used by teachers to determine the achievement marks given to the student. This use of product and process becomes a defining area separating traditional and standards-based grading practices.

The debate is ongoing regarding the best way to communicate the ongoing growth in which students are able to demonstrate the level of skills and knowledge they have obtained. Traditional report cards often offer a single summary grade for overall skills such as reading, math, science, social studies which is sometimes referred to as an "omnibus grade" (Marzano & Heflebower, 2011, para. 3). When teachers base student grades on specific learning standards, the meaning of the grade changes from a general overall assessment of learning, to a much more detailed description of student performance on a discrete set of skills (Jung & Guskey, 2007). For this reason, some school districts have moved from a traditional report card to a standardsbased report card. The purpose of standards-based grading is to align grading practices with content standards by measuring and reporting a student's proficiency (Oliver, 2011). Standardsbased cards may list specific standards that vary from one grading period to another, or they may offer narratives along broader strands or domains of standards (Guskey & Jung, 2013). Either way, standards-based cards seek to remedy the omnibus grade by providing more clarity regarding student achievement. The purpose of this study was to determine whether there are significant differences between reporting systems of traditional report cards and standards-based report cards in the areas of assessment and communication. Beyond this information, what role does the mindset of students play in these reporting systems? Does the socioeconomic status (SES) of students affect their mindset identified by teachers?

Research Questions

This study addressed the following question and subquestions:

Is there a difference between the perceptions of teachers using traditional report cards and those using standards-based report cards in the areas of assessment, communication, and mindset of students?

- Q1a. Is there a significant difference on assessment composite scores based on reporting systems within high-poverty schools?
- Q1b. Is there a significant difference on assessment composite scores based on reporting systems within low-poverty schools?
- Q2a. Is there a significant difference on communication composite scores based on reporting systems within high-poverty schools?
- Q2b. Is there a significant difference on communication composite scores based on reporting systems within low-poverty schools?
- Q3a. Is there a significant difference on mindset composite scores based on reporting systems within high-poverty schools?
- Q3b. Is there a significant difference on mindset composite scores based on reporting systems within low-poverty schools?

Null Hypotheses

The following represented the null hypotheses:

 H_01a . There is no significant difference on assessment composite scores based on reporting systems within high-poverty schools.

 H_0 1b: There is no significant difference on assessment composite scores based on reporting systems within low-poverty schools.

 H_02a : There is no significant difference on communication composite scores based on reporting systems within high-poverty schools.

H₀2b: There is no significant difference on communication composite scores based on reporting systems within low-poverty schools.

 H_03a : There is no significant difference on mindset composite scores based on reporting systems within high-poverty schools.

 H_0 3b: There is no significant difference on mindset composite scores based on reporting systems within low-poverty schools.

Delimitations

A delimiting factor of this study included the number of Indiana schools that participated in the study. An additional delimiting factor of this study was the decision to use information only from teachers of students in Grades K-5.

Limitations

- 1. The study was limited to the honesty of teachers self-reporting when given a questionnaire.
- 2. The study was limited to factors teachers use when computing grades.
- 3. The study was limited to the number of respondents to the survey.
- The study was limited to the prior environmental and educational experiences of students.
- 5. The study was limited to the respondents' understanding of standards-based assessment.
- The study was limited to teachers' abilities to respond because of a corporation's Internet filtering system.

Definitions

For the purposes of this study, certain definitions have been used in research cited in this study and are summarized below:

Academic achievement refers to knowledge in a content area, such as reading and math, the student can demonstrate to the teacher.

Achievement refers to "marks students receive for learning activities" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 241); "demonstration of the knowledge and skill components of the standards" (or learning goals;" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 89); performance of standards "how good is good enough" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 8); "the act of achieving or performing; an obtaining by exertion; successful performance" (O'Connor, 2011, p. 74).

Assessment refers to "measure students' mastery of standards" (Duncan & Murane, 2014, p. 51).

Correlation refers to analysis of data to look at relationships between variables, rather than cause and effect.

Experienced standards-based refers to those teachers using report cards based on standards for three years or more.

Formative assessment(s) refers to "specific achievement targets selected by teachers that enable students to build toward standards" (Stiggins, 2006, p. 35);

assessments that we conduct throughout teaching and learning to diagnose student needs, plan our next steps in instruction, provide students with feedback they can use to improve the quality of their work and help students see and feel in control of their journey to success. (Stiggins, 2006, p. 33) *Grade* refers to "the number or letter reported at the end of a period of time as a summary statement of student performance" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 2).

Growth refers to "the process of growing: increase in size, number, frequency, strength, etc." (O'Connor, 2011, p. 74).

Learning refers to assessment at completion of significant skill (O'Connor, 2009); "expectations, outcomes, learning results or learning goals" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 8); "the "what" or content of standards" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 9);

grades are artifacts of learning; as such, they should reflect student achievement only; not just doing the work, but the quality of work; developmental and will grow with time and repeated opportunities; the most current information that is used to summarize achievement." (O'Connor, 2011, p. 72)

Marks refers to "the number, letter, or words placed on any single student assessment" (test, performance task, etc.; O'Connor, 2009, p. 2).

Mindset refers to Dweck's (2006) two meanings to ability: "a *fixed* ability that needs to be proven and a changeable *growth* ability that can be developed through learning; one's beliefs about oneself and the nature of one's abilities" (Pink, 2009, p. 118).

Newly implemented standards based refers to teachers using report cards that are based on standards for less than three years, for the purpose of this study; teachers in Indiana Mentor and Assessment Program (IMAP) or having just finished a teacher induction program.

Progress refers to "movement, as toward a goal; advance" (O'Connor, 2011, p. 74).

Standards refers to "the particular knowledge students are expected to acquire as a result of their involvement in instructional activities (content) and what we want students to be able to do with what they learn (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 98); "expectations, outcomes, learning results

or learning goals" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 8); "the "what" or content of standards" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 9).

Summative assessment(s) refers to "achievement standards for which schools, teachers, and students are held accountable" (Stiggins, 2006, p. 35); "assessments that happen after learning is supposed to have occurred to determine if it did" (Stiggins, 2006, p. 31); "designed to measure achievement, and 'are used to make statements of student learning status at a point in time to those outside the classroom" (O'Connor, 2011, p. 5).

Significance of the Study

Educators are being asked to accurately communicate student progress. Past practice has been to communicate progress with parents by grading assignments and providing a summary of grades on the report card, culminating with an average of all of the grades. This practice is now being questioned as computing grades by averaging is shifting to assessment of students according to standards. The movement to standards-based assessments both in the form of report cards and standardized-test results is a challenge that educators must become prepared to make.

School leaders need to understand the purpose for the assessments, whether grades or standardized tests (Reeves, 2011). "District and school policies need to be in place so that teachers know what procedures to follow in their classrooms" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 216). Development of grading policies provides guidance for teachers and consistency throughout the school district. Such policies can also provide the opportunity for discussions so that all groups can interpret the use of and meaning of grades with similar understandings (Guskey & Jung, 2013).

In order to implement changes to the grading policy, leaders must believe and be willing to implement action-oriented change. Reeves (2011) noted there are four elements of this

change model "explicit vision, specification of behavior, assessment and feedback, and continuous refinement" (p. 108). The leader must create a compelling vision wherein there are fewer student failures and more student successes. Next, the leader must create specific behavioral expectations for implementing the change. Then the leader must assess the implementation levels of the practice. Finally, the leader must continually refine and improve the changes. "After assessing the degree of implementation of the change and the impact of those changes on student results, the leader must refine and improve the changes on a continuous basis" (Reeves, 2001, p. 111).

Summary

"To succeed in tearing down old traditions, you must have new traditions to take their place" (Guskey, 2011, para. 2). Grading by averaging scores has been in question since shortly after its inception in the early 1900s. The use of grades to rank students is no longer the prevalent necessity in modern society. Research has shown that effective assessment and effective communication allows students to take charge of their own learning and at the same time provides accurate information to stakeholders. Research is also tasked with studying elements that impact student learning, whether those elements are internal or external. The challenge to education and educators is to research the best practices in providing all of this information in ways that are understandable to those involved.

Chapter 1 discussed the purpose and significance of the study, as well as set forth the hypotheses. Chapter 2 discusses the history and research behind grading and report cards, as well as the impact of communication, assessments and mindsets upon grades and report cards. Chapter 3 presents the methodology of the study. Following the survey, Chapter 4 discusses the

results of the study. Chapter 5 uses the research and the results of the study to discuss the next steps with grading and reporting student achievement.

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

The expectation of attendance at a public school has been to further the academic achievement of the student (Oliver, 2012; Stiggins, 2006). As student enrollment in public schools rose and as opportunities for education became more prevalent, educators needed to streamline the narrative reports that were given to stakeholders (Durm, 1993; Stiggins, 2005). The solution to the dilemma resulted in the evolution of letter grades (Goodwin, 2011). The process of using letter grades to demonstrate student progress and achievement was not without controversy from the inception to the present day (Kohn, 2011; O'Connor & Wormelli, 2011; Otto, 1973). Educators continue to attempt to merge reporting of student achievement to all stakeholders with assessment of student progress and to do so with accountability and accuracy (Brookhart, 2011; Marzano & Heflebower, 2011). The purpose of this study sought to look at factors that impact grading from both a historical and a present day perspective, as well as how the meanings of those grades are communicated. Further study in the area of grading and assessment, including communication of student achievement, was recommended by Guskey (2011) and Oliver (2011).

Historical Practices of Grading

For hundreds of years, grading was given to parents and stakeholders as a narrative report or verbal assessment. Narrative reports, listing skills, and concepts each student mastered were used to separate student performance at all levels of learning (O'Connor, 2010). Eliot (1923) noted that in the early years, Harvard listed students according to the social position of their families and Yale used descriptive adjectives. William and Mary classified students in 1817 with one of four notations: "1) first in class, 2) orderly, correct and attentive, 3) they have made very little improvement, 4) they have learnt little or nothing" (Durm, 1993, p. 295). In the mid-19th century, Otto (1973) noted that colleges and universities began moving from narrative reports and started using some form of a letter grading system. "In the 1880s, Harvard adopted a new approach to evaluating student work . . . the letter grade" (Goodwin, 2011, p. 80). Letter grades were not necessarily the A to F grades we have today, but rather letter grades or number symbols were used to summarize student achievement in place of the longer, more detailed narrative reports. "This reductionist movement began in universities, and then moved to K-12 schools, especially to high schools, in response to a growing student population" (O'Connor, 2010, p. 38).

As student numbers increased, the task of narrative grades became problematic. Between 1870 and 1910 the number of high schools increased from 500 to 10,000 (Answers, 2002). As people migrated into the cities and labor in factories grew, the value of education for children became more important to parents. A compulsory attendance law also created an increase in numbers of students in school (Answers, 2002). Although the use of percentages for grades was common by 1910, as early as 1912, two Wisconsin researchers, Daniel Starch and Edward Charles Elliot, were questioning the reliability of percentages in determining grades (Reedy, 1995; O'Connor, 2010). Finkelstein (1913) stated, "School administrators have been using with confidence an absolutely uncalibrated instrument" (p. 1).

Grading then moved from percentages to a form of scale, usually A to F or

Excellent/Good/Average/Poor/Failing, using three to five categories (O'Connor, 2009). The use of a scale report was followed in the 1930s by a normal probability, or bell-shaped curve, which was thought to be both fair and equitable since innate intelligence and school achievement were thought to be directly related (O'Connor, 2010; Answers, 2002). School leaders and educators seemed to move into one of three thought patterns.

"As the debate over grading and reporting intensified, a number of schools abolished formal grades altogether (Chapman & Alsbaugh, 1925) and returned to using verbal descriptions of student achievement. Others advocated pass-fail systems that distinguished only between acceptable and failing work (Good, 1937). "Still others advocated a 'mastery approach:' Once students have mastered a skill or content, they move to other areas of study" (as cited in Guskey & Guskey, 1994, p. 18). By the 1950s, there was a great variation in reporting student achievement (O'Connor, 2010).

In the 1960s, the belief was that the way to improve schooling was through the use of standardized testing, expanding from district tests to state, federal, and international testing (Stiggins, 2004). Part of the need for testing was due to increased numbers of "baby boomers" who were heading to college, yet were unprepared for the academic expectations they faced (Goodwin, 2011). With the increasing numbers of students engaged in formal schooling, the present mission of schools is to ensure that all students meet increasingly rigorous academic standards (Stiggins, 2006). Standardized tests have been used for 60 years despite the failure of such testing to reduce achievement gap scores (Stiggins & Chappuis, 2005).

"Since the introduction of percentage grades in public high schools in the early 1900's, grading and grade reporting have recycled more than they have evolved" (Reedy, 1995, p. 47).

Now assessment and grading that allowed a few to succeed must now permit the possibility that all students could succeed at some appropriate level (Stiggins, 2005). In the midst of standardized testing and all students being expected to perform to increasing higher levels, grades remain largely the domain of individual teachers (Cox, 2011).

The score or grade provides the information by which students decide whether or how they fit into the world of writers, readers, or math problem solvers. Students read the score as evidence of whether success is even within reach for them. (Stiggins, 2004, p. 25)

Present Day Practices of Grading

Questions about grading and grading practices are ongoing. Although grades are still the main avenue for communicating academic performance (Cizek, 1996), what is the purpose of grading? If grades are meant to communicate student performance, how reliable and valid are grades? If grades do not communicate student performance, what do they reflect? With the move by many states to standards, how do grades relate to standards? How do assessments and grades relate to each other? Discussion related to these questions provides many interesting points of thought without definitive answers.

The Purpose of Grading

Grading involves the assignment of symbolic numbers or letters that serve as a summary of evaluations of student work over a period of time (Marzano & Heflebower, 2011; Tomlinson, 2005). Tomlinson (2005) further suggested, "The goal of grading is to provide high quality feedback to parents and students so they can clearly understand and appropriately use the information to support the learning process and encourage student success" (p. 263). Although grading seems to be straightforward and uncontroversial, terms such as *high quality feedback*, *clearly understand information* and *encourage student success* start the debate on grades.

The responsibility of giving grades is given to teachers or, is the responsibility of earning grades owned by students? Green and Emerson (2007) stated, "Grading is one of the least liked, least understood, and least considered aspects of teaching" (p. 495). Teachers often provide summative reports to students and parents regarding the quality of student work on a daily, weekly, or multi-week basis. Grades reflect the teacher's idea of student achievement and should provide students with information they can use to enhance their performance and learning (Guskey, 2006).

"Traditionally, report cards, especially for secondary schools, have been little more than lists of grades and brief comments about student progress and behavior" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 220). Often, one letter grade must carry many different types of information. Teachers put together a variety of information, including achievement, effort, and behavior, into one letter that summarizes student learning. However, there is a problem with summarizing multiple pieces of information into one letter grade. "In particular, no specific mathematical procedure for combining scores from various sources of evidence is defensible under all conditions" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 65).

Kohn (2011) offered that "collecting information does not require tests, and sharing that information doesn't require grades" (p. 28). For many students and parents, the educational experience becomes synonymous with what grades the student earns or is given, not what the student learns. Quinn (2012) suggested that assignments become a means to an end (grades) and that students become oblivious as to whether or not they are learning and do not understand what they must do to improve their performance. Therefore the question still remains—do teachers
give grades or do students earn them, or is it some combination of both? What one teacher considers when determining what goes into a grade may differ greatly from what another teacher may consider when determining a grade (Guskey, 2006).

Guskey and Jung (2013) offered five questions to help determine the purpose of grading:

- 1. What do grades mean?
- 2. What evidence should be considered in determining grades?
- 3. Who is the primary audience for the information?
- 4. What is the intended goal of that communication?
- 5. How should that information be used? (p. 71)

Why is purpose important? "When educators do not agree on the purpose, they often attempt to create policies for grading that address all of these purposes—and usually end up achieving none very well" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 70). They go on to say, "The simple truth is that no approach to grading can serve all of these purposes well. In fact, some of these purposes are actually counter to others" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 70). Guskey and Jung (2013) then summarize the purpose of grading.

The purpose of grading is to describe how well students have achieved specific learning expectations based on evidence gathered from an assignment, assessment, or other demonstration of learning. Grades are intended to inform parents, students, and others about learning successes and to guide improvements when needed. (p. 71)

O'Connor (2009) summarized one purpose for grading, yet had several guidelines for creating the grades. He stated, "The primary purpose of grades is to communicate meaningful information to students, parents, teachers, potential employers, colleges, and other individuals and institutions concerning the achievement status of students" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 219). He

also stated that letter grades are only a small part of our communication system. O'Connor (2009) believed that a set of grading guidelines are needed in order to avoid the misuse and misinterpretation of grades. O'Connor's (2009) guidelines are

- 1. Relate grading procedures to learning goals (i.e., standards).
- Use criterion-referenced performance standards as reference points to determine grades.
- 3. Limit the valued attributes included in grades to individual achievement.
- 4. Sample student performance—do not include all scores in grades.
- 5. Grade in pencil—keep records so they can be updated easily.
- 6. Crunch numbers carefully—if at all.
- 7. Use quality assessment(s) and properly recorded evidence of achievement.
- 8. Discuss and involve students in assessment, including grading, throughout the teaching/learning process. (p. 41)

O'Connor (2009) noted that Guidelines 7 and 8 are used by many teachers in traditional and standards-based systems, and have been in place for many years. Guidelines 1 through 6 relate more to standards-based systems.

Erickson (2011) cited a study of a school in Minnesota whose teachers were adding many extraneous factors such as attendance, behavior, extra credit, and participation along with actual achievement to arrive at a single letter grade. He found the first step in addressing the concerns of parents and teacher surveys was the need to "articulate a clear focus for grading" (Erickson, 2011, p. 66). "Changing our school's grading practices required that we take a fundamental look at one guiding question: What should go into a grade?" (Erickson, 2011, p. 66). The answer they arrived at provided the motivation for their work: "Grades should reflect only what a student

knows and is able to do" (Erickson, 2011, p. 66). Parents and teachers arrived at a decision that not more than 15% of the students' final grades would be from formative assessments, and not less than 85% of the students' final grades would be from summative assessments. Other issues, such as homework, retakes and redos, behavioral infractions, and home-school communication, were also addressed (Erickson, 2011).

Tomlinson (2005) proposed that grading and assessment are not synonymous. Historically, assessments were used to rank order students and to detect differences in student learning (Stiggins, 2007a). Schools have used assessments in the form of quizzes, tests, homework, and letter grades to motivate students to learn. Students were the ones who decided "whether success was within or beyond their reach, whether the learning is worth the required effort, and so whether to try or not" (Stiggins, 2005, p. 325). This worked for society and students when ranking was the purpose of education (Stiggins, 2007a).

The referred assessments are seen as mostly summative assessments or assessments used to arrive at a summation of learning which was often a single letter grade. "Global economic changes, together with the development of standards and our new understandings about learning, are leading to significant changes in the ways children are taught and the ways in which they are assessed" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 12). "The primary purpose of classroom assessment [must now be] to inform learning, not to sort and select or justify a grade" (McTighe & Ferrara, 1995, p. 11). This was a shift to more of a formative assessment. Formative assessment is "a process, strategy, or device used by teachers and students to gather information on students' learning progress in order to identify learning difficulties and guide improvements in instructional activities and student learning" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 26).

Black and Wiliam (1998) studied assessment and showed that a switch to assessment for learning or using assessments to determine learning that needed to take place, could make assessments more powerful learning tools. "Assessment for learning turns day-to-day assessment into a teaching and learning process that enhances (instead of merely monitoring) student learning" (Stiggins, 2007a, p. 24). Black and Wiliam (1998) defined formative assessments as "when comparison of actual and reference levels yield information which is then used to alter the gap" (p. 53). Their research and the work of others have shown that improving formative assessment and using assessment for learning raises the achievement of all students, but also that it has the most significant impact on low achievers (O'Connor, 2011).

Letter grades are a major incentive for some students to learn. "Although many educators debate the idea, extensive evidence shows that grades and other reporting methods are important factors in determining the amount of effort students put forth and how seriously they regard any learning or assessment task" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 69). Students' attitudes about learning and about themselves as learners are of great importance in establishing, maintaining, and developing students' commitment to the learning process.

With teachers in such disarray with the purpose of grading, it is not surprising that students and parents are confused also. Until educators can arrive at an answer they *own*, the question will not be decided and, more unfortunately, not often asked nor debated.

Reliability and Validity of Grades

"The grades teachers and professors assign to students' work and performance have long been identified by those in the measurement community as prime examples of unreliable measurement" (Guskey, 2006, p. 1). Grades are not consistent measures of student learning or achievement due in part to the assessment itself and to the inference needed to move from an

assessment to a grade. The focus of teachers is on promoting learning of students not creating assessments/ grades comparable or consistent measures across students (Brookhart, 2001). As teachers are focusing on the learning of students, they sometimes add in exceptions to the grading process (Gordon & Fay, 2010). Many extraneous factors sometimes interfere with the consistency of assigning a grade to a paper or assigning a grade spanning a period of time, thus contaminating the reliability of grades/assessments.

The validity of grades, or the consistency of grades, is often on shaky ground. "There are two types of threats to validity: internal threats and external threats" (Creswell, 2009, p. 162). Internal threats to validity arise from the procedures used or experiences of those participating in the research that might cause the researcher to draw incorrect assumptions. External threats to validity arise when incorrect assumptions are drawn from the data that is collected (Creswell, 2009). Validity is important because the sole purpose of grades is to accurately communicate to others the level of academic achievement that a student has obtained (Allen, 2005). Many grades are not valid because teachers grade their students in the manner they were graded as students. "What the literature suggests is that educators at all levels make decisions when assigning grades that are not based on sound principles of validity that ensure the grade is a meaningful communication of a student's level of academic achievement" (Allen, 2005, p. 221). Most teachers do agree that grades should reflect what students have learned and are able to do (Guskey & Jung, 2013). "Researchers examining the rationale behind teacher grading practices have found that individual teacher beliefs and values are significant influences" (Cox, 2011, p. 1). Cox (2011) continued, "Results (of the research) indicate that teacher's current grading practices remain largely traditional, based on a combination of achievement and effort" (p. 6). "Unfortunately, report card grades often mix compliance and understanding" (Fisher, Frey &

Pumpian, 2011, p. 46). Theoretically, one of the functions of a grading system is to motivate students to work harder and perform better" (Elikai & Schuhmann, 2010, p. 1). With all of these rationales and theories behind grading practices, what does go into a grade?

Actual achievement on curriculum standards is one piece of traditional grading practices. Other factors may include, "attendance, behavior, effort, extra credit, and participation" (Erickson, 2011, p. 66). Scriffiny (2008) agreed, stating that the system used to determine a student's grade "must not allow students to mask their level of understanding with their attendance, their level of effort, or other peripheral issues" (p 71). Marzano and Heflebower (2011) referred to such factors as creating an "omnibus" (p. 34) grade, or one that includes a plethora of items besides the actual achievement. Examples of compliance factors that may significantly influence a grade, either up or down, are homework and behavior. Homework may represent anywhere from 50% of the grade in some schools to 10% in other schools (Fisher et al., 2011). Although homework may signify understanding of work, it often becomes a home, organizational, or assistance issue.

Many times non-academic performance skews the reported grade and brings validity into question. "It is common practice for teachers to award extra points for bringing in tissue boxes, completing extra-credit assignments, returning permission slips, contributing canned food to the food drive, and so on. Such practices inflate grades and distort their meaning" (Erickson, 2011, p. 66). The letter grade becomes less meaningful when the items that influence the grade are not related to student achievement. "Extra credit and bonus points stem from the belief that school is about doing the work, accumulating points, and that quantity is the key—with more being better—rather than about achieving higher levels of learning" (O'Connor, 2011, p. 33). O'Connor (2011) cited 15 fixes for grades:

- Fix 1: Don't include student behaviors (effort, participation, adherence to class rules, etc.) in grades; include only achievement (p. 16).
- Fix 2: Don't reduce marks on work submitted late; provide support for the learner (p. 24).
- Fix 3: Don't give points for extra credit or use bonus points; seek only evidence that more work has resulted in a higher level of achievement (p. 32).
- Fix 4: Don't punish academic dishonesty with reduced grades; apply other consequences and reassess to determine actual level of achievement (p. 38).
- Fix 5: Don't consider attendance in grade determination; report absences separately (p. 47).
- Fix 6: Don't include group scores in grades; use only individual achievement evidence (p. 52).
- Fix 7: Don't organize information in grading records by assessment methods or simply summarize into a single grade; organize and report evidence by standards/learning goals (p. 58).
- Fix 8: Don't assign grades using inappropriate or unclear performance standards; provide clear descriptions of achievement expectations (p. 67).
- Fix 9: Don't assign grades based on a student's achievement compared to other students; compare each student's performance to preset standards (p. 79).
- Fix 10: Don't rely on evidence gathered using assessments that fail to meet standards of quality; rely only on quality assessments (p. 82).
- Fix 11: Don't rely only on the mean; consider other measures of central tendency and use professional judgment (p. 90).

- Fix 12: Don't include zeros in grade determination when evidence is missing or as punishment; use alternatives, such as reassessing to determine real achievement, or use "I" for Incomplete or Insufficient Evidence (p. 95).
- Fix 13: Don't use information from formative assessments and practice to determine grades; use only summative evidence (p. 106).
- Fix 14: Don't summarize evidence accumulated over time when learning is developmental and will grow with time and repeated opportunities; in those instances, emphasize more recent achievement (p. 120).
- Fix 15: Don't leave students out of the grading process. Involve students; they can-and should-play key roles in assessment and grading that promote achievement (p. 126).

One of O'Connor's (2011) fixes includes not using student behaviors when measuring a grade. "Teachers combine achievement and other variables, such as behavior, into grades for several reasons" (O'Connor, 2011, p. 17). Teachers may do this to signify the importance of behavior and to reward students who are well behaved. Add to these factors the impact of not performing. Low grades were sometimes used to motivate students to try harder. "No research supports the idea that low grades prompt students to try harder. More often, low grades lead students to withdraw from learning" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 80). "Grades are broken when zeros are entered into a student's academic record for missing evidence or as punishment for transgressions. When combined with other evidence, the resulting grade does not accurately reflect student achievement" (O'Connor, 2011, p. 95). "The key is that grades are based on public learning goals/ standards and reflect real achievement, not some vague perception of their effort and their achievement relative to their ability" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 209).

Although there are a multitude of variables that may affect reliability, there are some common areas that affect both reliability and validity. What external forces do teachers take into consideration as they compute and assign a grade? Cizek (2009) questioned a particular sample of work or behavior as yielding an accurate picture of what a student knows; that sample may or may not measure what is being asked. A student's knowledge or skill must be supported by adequate evidence, and that evidence is vital in an accurate assessment. Another major element affecting the actual grade given is the treatment of student effort (Brookhart, 2001). How the teacher handles poorly completed, not completed or late assignments, is reflected in the validity of the grade given the assessment.

The argument then moves to the reliability of methods of reporting grades. "Talking with educators about how to combine academic and nonacademic factors into grades gives insight into how teachers define grade" (Gullen, Gullen, & Erickson-Guy, 2012, p. 1). Students often ask teachers if a certain task or piece of information is going to be asked later on a test. "When instructors hear this, they should realize those particular students probably consider grades a higher priority than learning" (Durm, 1993, p. 294).

Guskey and Jung (2013) offered one solution to this dilemma. "Recognizing that merging these diverse sources of evidence distorts the meaning of any grade, educators in many parts of the world today assign multiple grades" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 93). Their theory of grading distinguishes three elements of grading—product criteria, process criteria, and progress criteria. Product criteria focused on "what students know and are able to do at a particular point in time" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 95). Process criteria emphasized "the final results and how they got there" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 95). Progress criteria showed "how much students gain from their learning experiences" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 95). "Reporting separate grades

for product, process, and progress criteria also makes grading more meaningful" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 95).

"In an effort to cure the ills of current grading and reporting systems, many schools and districts across the United States have attempted to implement a standards-based system" (Marzano & Helfebower, 2011, p. 34). "Standards-based education and the system of grading it entails improves student achievement; increases the accuracy and fairness of grades; and enhances communication between classroom teachers and students, parents, colleges, and employers" (Proulx, Spencer-May, & Westerberg, 2012, p. 30). Tierney, Simon and Charland (2011) found that there was a difference between policy and principle when looking at changing from traditional grading to standards-based grading. "Policies are considered to be directives given by organizations with the authority to mandate what must be done in practice, whereas principles are abstract guidelines about what should be done in practice" (Tierney et al., 2011, p. 211). There must be sound principles for a grading change that affect teacher practice. The four research-based principles these authors cited are

- When the purpose of grading is to report on student achievement, grades should be referenced to the curriculum objectives or learning expectations (criterion referenced).
- 2. A grade should be an accurate representation of achievement, so non-achievement factors should be reported separately to permit valid interpretation by stakeholders.
- 3. Results from multiple assessments should be combined carefully, with weighting that reflects the learning expectations, to ensure that the grade accurately summarizes achievement.

4. Information about grading should be clearly communicated so that grades are justified and their meaning is understood by students, parents, and other teachers. (Tierney et al., 2011, p. 211)

Guskey and Jung (2013) reported that standards should have two components that need to be aligned with the report card.

First, they describe specific elements of *content*. That is, they represent *what we want students to learn*. Second, they describe levels of *performance*. In other words, standards also indicate *what we want students to be able to do* with what they learn. (p. 98)

"Marks and grades are meaningful when—and only when—they are based on accurate assessment" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 174). Accurate assessment is necessary whether using traditional reporting or standards-based reporting.

Reliability of grading is affected by reporting choices that teachers make. O'Connor (2009) stated that "Teachers use a wide variety of assessment methods, but not all sources of information need to be included in grades" (p. 39). He continued by offering four teacher choices that impact how grades are determined.

- 1. Teachers must decide what evidence to use—everything or the most recent.
- 2. Teachers must decide the method they will use for 'number crunching.'
- 3. Teachers should use quality assessments and keep accurate records.
- 4. Teachers should take steps to ensure that students are involved in and understand their grades. (O'Connor, 2009, p. 41)

What Do Grades Reflect?

"Exploring whether they (teachers) provide common, consistent communication about their students' abilities can be challenging" (Gullen et al., 2012, p. 24). Grades should reflect what students know and are able to do (Erickson, 2011; Fisher et al., 2011). Grading is a process that continues to be developed. "Identifying and analyzing aspects of grading and reporting perceived as effective or ineffective by students could aid educators in the development of improved practice and policy" (Gwidt, 2010, para. 4). Letter grades are seen as a common language yet do not always lend themselves to a common interpretation. "Grades are the fundamental currency of our educational system; they signal academic achievement and noncognitive skills to parents, employers, postsecondary gatekeepers, and students themselves" (Pattison, Grodsky, & Muller, 2013, p. 1). "Educators (and the media) have a responsibility to educate parents and the community about the place of grades in the communication system" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 238).

Grades are the means by which teachers share a version of how students are performing. Motivated students try to accumulate points while unmotivated students tend to withdraw from the enticement of grades. When criteria are set and known by teachers, students and parents, students are more likely to respond to the opportunity for learning. "If the focus is on learning goals, grades should be as pure a measure of achievement as possible without penalties for such behaviors as handing assessment evidence in late" (O'Connor, 2010, p. 40). Grading must move to a shared practice based on agreed upon and clearly articulated principles or guidelines. More time should be spent on guiding students in the process of doing the work than on the grading of the work (Vanderbilt University Center for Teaching, 2012). This is true whether one is referring to daily grades, assignments, tests or other assessments.

Report card grades should reflect the student's understanding of the content (Fisher et al., 2011). Many teachers agree with this statement and want to think the grades put on the report card reflect student understanding. However, a closer look often reveals the grade is a combination of factors, including student understanding of the material. Report card grades often reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior and motivation (Brookhart, 2011), whether the teacher realizes it or not. Teachers are prone to helping students succeed, and actually practice inequity if they are not aware of the values underlying their grading decisions (Tierney et al., 2011). According to McMillan, Myran, and Workman (2002), 70% of grades given were either an A, B, or C due to variables used in grading rather than established measurement principles.

How Do Grades Relate to Standards?

Many states have formulated their own state standards, and the current move is toward adoption of the CCSS. Report cards are in a state of transition, with some schools moving from a traditional report card to a report card based on standards. Kentucky is the first state in the United States to develop a statewide standards-based report card for all grade levels (Guskey et al., 2011). Teachers are required to base grades on explicit criteria derived from articulated learning standards. Teachers report criteria using separate marks for product, process, and progress. Through work with teachers throughout Kentucky, the CCSS have been rewritten in parent-friendly language and teacher-manageable reporting standards.

The purpose of standards-based report cards is to align grading practices with content standards by measuring and reporting a student's proficiency (Oliver, 2011). Standards-based reports are criterion referenced, as students are measured according to specific learning expectations or curriculum. When these expectations are clearly identified and shared with

students, parents and other educators, grades become transparent and based on what is being learned rather than an accumulation of points. For all students, multiple individual notations of accomplishment need to be documented by educators in order ascertain student accomplishment of learning expectations.

Learning objectives can also be identified for individual students, according to specific, identified needs. Standards-based grading requires teachers to know where students are on the learning continuum and address individual needs, whether or not the student is identified as having a disability. According to Jung and Guskey (2007), if a student does have a disability, the case conference committee modifies particular standards that are not appropriate for the student, and grades do not have to be adjusted further because they are based on skills appropriate for the student. Multiple forms of criterion-referenced tests along with corrective exercises and the ability to retest students are also needed to support standards-based reporting (Lalley & Gentile, 2009).

Internal Assessments, External Assessments, and Grades

Stakeholders (students, parents, educators), receive information from various sources regarding the academic achievement of a specific child. The sources often include the teacher, the state, and external testing companies. Although multiple sources and multiple reports would seem to provide triangulation of data, when reports are disparate, there is more confusion than clarity on the part of parents—and even teachers. Stiggins (2006) reported that no single assessment is capable of meeting the information needs of all of the various users. In order to provide accurate information to all stakeholders, the source of the report must be analyzed and understood, and based on criterion referenced learning objectives.

Internal assessments, or classroom assessments, should be administered frequently and results should drive instructional decisions (Brookhart, 2011). These formative assessments are conducted during learning and must reflect learning targets or learning expectations of the student. All involved with the education of the students must have clearly identified learning goals to maximize the possibility of student achievement (Arter, 2010; Scanlan, 2003). The achievements of each student should also be tracked, with the student being actively involved in setting goals, knowing the plan for what is next, and tracking progress (Stiggins & Chappuis, 2005). In many cases, teachers would benefit from further training to improve the quality of assessments and from training on integrating assessment into instruction in a meaningful way (McMillan et al., 2002).

External assessments, or assessments driven by state/ national/ outside sources, are usually summative in nature. Many of these tests result in high-stakes reports that identify students or schools as being successful or not successful. The testing policies often do affect classroom instruction more often than pedagogy (Diamond, 2007). Even with the pending impact of high-stakes tests, the tests themselves have not been shown to maximize student motivation and learning (Stiggins, 2007b). In a study using the Massachusetts Comprehensive Assessment System (MCAS), some groups of students who were already faring poorly did even worse when high-stakes tests were used for promotion and graduation (Brennan, Kim, Wenz-Gross, & Siperstein, 2001). The study recommended educators rely on other academic factors to supplement test scores.

Elements Impacting Student Achievement

Extraneous Elements

Even when there appears to be a relationship between high-stakes test scores and report cards, a discrepancy is still shown to exist. In a study by Ross and Kostuch (2011), "while report cards reportedly foreshadowed external assessments with accuracy and timeliness, about 25% of the students were identified as misclassified, meaning that they did better or poorer on the external assessment than predicted by report cards" (p. 176). The authors called for transparency and precision on report cards to ensure parents received accurate information.

Willingham, Pollack, and Lewis (2002) based their study on patterns of individual and group differences in assessment. They found that the two measures often yield somewhat different results and offered a framework of possible sources of discrepancy between observed grades and test scores. Suggested differences included "content differences between grades and test scores, individual differences (including student characteristics) that interact with content differences, situational differences (across contexts or over time), and errors in grades or test scores" (Willingham et al., 2002, p. 31).

Grades motivate students through the local contract with the teacher; tests motivate teachers and schools through the external standards thereby imposed. Due to distinguishing characteristics, grades and tests have different strengths that tend to be complementary (Willingham et al., 2002).

The summary offered by Willingham et al. mirrored findings cited by Glass (2009). A research study sought to determine the relationship between end-of-course tests (EOCT) and teacher-issued course grades. Although the correlations were seen as statistically significant in most cases, demographically the correlations were not strong. When the mean of the EOCT

scores and the mean of the course grades were observed, it was apparent that the EOCT scores and course grades were not measuring the same thing. Again, extraneous factors such as attendance, behavior, and popularity also influenced student grades (Glass, 2009).

Motivation, Ability or Mindset

Many schools and even school districts post mission statements that are included as part of the goal to develop independent, lifelong learners. There is more to developing independent, lifelong learners than getting the right answers. "Too many schools are moving in the wrong direction. They are redoubling their emphasis on routines, right answers and standardization" (Pink, 2009, p. 185). Educators and parents often do not understand that grades are not always synonymous with student achievement.

Motivation. "The problem in the school system is that, as soon as grades are introduced, teachers, parents, and students emphasize grades rather than learning. Teachers usually say this happens because grades motivate" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 17). "Grades tend to reduce students' interest in the learning itself" (Kohn, 1999, p. 38). "In fact, when students are rewarded only with feedback on their performance and are not subjected to a grade, their performance is better than when they are graded" (Reeves, 2011, p. 105). "Actual success at learning then is the single most important factor in intrinsic motivation, and it is important to recognize that success is relative. Success for each individual is seeing oneself getting better" (Pink, 2009, p. 10).

"At the same time, no research supports the idea that low grades prompt students to try harder. More often, low grades lead students to withdraw from learning" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 80). This may be a surprising development to some; however, there is a logic leading some students to think this way. "Meanwhile students whose grades don't measure up often that see themselves as failures and give up trying to learn" (Pink, 2009, p. 188). Guskey and Jung (2013) continued by stating, "To protect their self-images, many students regard the low grade as irrelevant or meaningless. Others may blame themselves for the low grade but feel helpless to improve" (p. 80).

Student achievement and student learning must involve the student when setting learning goals. "Goals that people set for themselves and that are devoted to attaining mastery are usually healthy but goals imposed by others can sometimes have dangerous side effects" (Pink, 2009, p. 48). When students are not achieving, the best support a teacher can offer is to show them not only the skill area they are lacking, but how to get to the next level of learning. "We must be mindful of the fact that students are users of the information that comes from assessments, so the purpose of each assessment must be clear to them. We must also be sure that students understand the targets" (O'Connor, 2011, p. 127). Student descriptions of the ideal student were,

A successful student is one whose primary goal is to expand their knowledge in their ways of thinking and investigating the world. They do not see grades as an end in themselves but as a means to continue to grow. OR: The ideal student values knowledge for its own sake, as well as for its instrumental uses. He or she hopes to make a contribution to society at large. (Dweck, 2006, p. 192)

People, usually adults, use rewards with students expecting to increase the motivation and behavior in a positive way. Often the unintended consequence is that the student's intrinsic motivation toward a certain activity is undermined (Pink, 2009). Pink (2009) found that sometimes, "In direct contravention to the core tenets of Motivation 2.0, an incentive designed to clarify thinking and sharpen creativity ended up clouding thinking and dulling creativity. Why? Rewards, by their very nature, narrow our focus" (p. 42). Proposed incentives may come in the form of grades. "The more the task required creative thinking, in fact, the worse the

performance of students who knew they were going to be graded" (Kohn, 1999, p. 39). To be fair, grades do serve to motivate some students.

Grades certainly motivate successful students, at least some of the time. But they are definitely not motivators for all students, such as those who get grades that are lower than they expect or think they deserve. For these students, grades in fact often act as *de*-motivators. (O'Connor, 2011, p. 8)

Focusing on the reward or challenge of the reward sometimes ends up clouding creative thinking and thereby hindering the learning that is embedded when a problem is seen through to solution. When students are offered extrinsic rewards for achievement, they can become so focused on the reward that their eventual success may actually be hindered (Pink, 2009).

Educators must emphasize that learners are responsible for learning. It is then clear that the learner must be motivated by the intrinsic interest and the worth of what is being learned, not by the carrot-and-stick approach that emphasized gold stars and A's.

(O'Connor, 2009, p. 18)

Making the extrinsic reward the goal of an activity can tempt students to reach the goal by any means possible, even if the product does not produce the intended learning goal. Intrinsic motivation becomes a reward in itself. "The primary reward for learning should be intrinsic to positive feelings that result from success" (Pink, 2009, p. 9). Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners.

Ability – aptitude. "Grading should always be related to learning goals" (O'Connor, 2009, p. 208). Some students may need modified learning goals—some higher and some lower. "For identified special education students, whether they are mainstreamed or not, the grades they receive should be based on the extent to which they meet the modified predetermined standards"

(O'Connor, 2009, p. 208). Tomlinson (2005) supported the ability of teachers to differentiate, or vary instruction. "Differentiated instruction is a philosophy of teaching purporting that students learn best when their teachers effectively address variance in students readiness levels, interest, and learning profile preference" (Tomlinson, 2005, p. 1). "The best guidance for schools on the application of grading to students with special needs is based on the principles with which we began this book: grades must be accurate, fair, specific, and timely" (Reeves, 2011, p. 118). All measurements of student work must be recorded accurately; the work asked of students should be communicated to students; student work should be specifically incremental, and feedback should be timely. The important caveat to this statement is that the principles for grading of exceptional students are the same as the principles for grading of non-exceptional students. "There is not inherent problem with the philosophy of differentiation and grading or reporting. Rather, the problems exist in how educators view and practice grading-even in the absence of differentiation" (Tomlinson, 2005, p. 1).

Regardless of ability, student engagement is the key to student learning. "We are bribing students into compliance instead of challenging them into engagement. Whatever they're studying, be sure they can answer these questions: Why am I learning this? How is it relevant to the world I live in now?" (Pink, 2009, p. 190). Being a self-determined learner does not mean mastering learning will be easy or without effort.

In the end mastery often involves working and working and showing little improvement perhaps with a few moments of flow pulling you along then making a little progress and then working and working on that new slightly higher plateau again. (Pink, 2009, p. 123) Learning can be grueling, and that struggle is the solution to learning and mastering concepts and

ideas. Even very smart people have to work hard for their achievements. "No matter what your

ability one is, effort is what ignites that ability and turns it into accomplishment" (Dweck, 2008, p. 41).

Ability – mindset. Some researchers (Pink, 2009; Dweck, 2006; Ricci, 2013) proposed there is more to ability than just aptitude, which often is related to genetics or environment. "There are two meanings to ability not one: a fixed ability that needs to be proven OR a changeable ability that can be developed through learning" (Dweck, 2006, p. 15). Dweck (2006) coined the term "mindsets" (p. 15) to explain why some students were concerned with proving themselves while others could just "let go and learn" (p. 15).

Fixed mindset. People with the fixed mindset tend to expect their ability to supersede their need for effort; the qualities that they have are set, or fixed. A person with a fixed mindset is born with a certain amount of intelligence, a certain personality, and a certain moral character. Furthermore, they believe that a person must prove himself over and over (Dweck, 2006). "Once a student concludes that "I'm just not a good writer" or "I'll never get math," then it becomes strikingly more difficult to restore that student's confidence" (Reeves, 2011, p. 86). As learners, students with a fixed mindset are more interested when feedback reflects on their ability, even if this judgment of ability may not result in learning.

When they were presented with information that could help them learn, there was no sign of interest. Even when they had gotten an answer wrong, they were not interested in learning what the right answer was. This is how the fixed mindset makes people into non-learners. (Dweck, 2006, p. 18)

If students identified with a fixed mindset did well right away, they stayed interested in the task at hand. If things were too challenging, fixed ability students tended most often to lose interest. Fegley (2010) found that many students he studied "may not be performing to the

learning levels they are capable of due to the student belief that greater or different effort will not result in improved learning success" (p. 1). For students who struggle with learning, the fixed mindset turns into a self-fulfilling prophecy. Students identified as advanced learners tend to become consumed with looking smart, regardless the cost, even to the point of avoiding learning situations (Ricci, 2013). "Common sense suggests that ability inspires self-confidence. And it does for a while—so long as the going is easy. But setbacks change everything" (Krakovsky, 2010, p. 2). "A fixed mindset does not allow people the luxury of becoming they have to already be" (Dweck, 2006, p. 25). "This student conviction may be due to (HMHS) students believing and accepting that academic achievement is due to their innate ability and not their learning effort" (Fegley, 2010, p. 1). Ricci (2013) found that as young as first grade, 10% of students saw some of their peers as being born smarter than others. By the time they reached third grade, the number had jumped to 42% of students having a fixed mindset. Ricci (2013), Pink (2009), and Dweck (2006) noted there is still hope, for mindset is a changeable quality, and fixed mindsets can become growth mindsets.

Growth mindset. "Although people may differ in every which way—in their initial talents and aptitudes, interests, or temperaments—everyone can change and grow through application and experience" (Dweck, 2006, p. 7). People have basic qualities that can be changed and cultivated through effort. "There is an almost endless list of 'non-natural' athletes who made big achievements against all odds and despite all recommendations to 'do something else " (Vermeij, 2013, p. 1). Those with a growth mindset take risks and confront challenges; they keep working at challenges because success is about stretching oneself, learning, growing, and improving (Stepitup²Thrive, 2011). "The focus of a growth mindset individual is on learning, not on looking smart" (Ricci, 2013, p. 2). Combine challenging work and interest and

learning flows. "As talent can be developed, so can character and mindset be trained" (Vermeij, 2013, p. 1). Dweck (2006), Pink (2009), and Ricci (2013) all believe that mindsets are not static, rather they are evolving, changeable qualities that are possessed in varying degrees in varying areas within each of person.

Teacher impact. Sometimes, "our school structures eliminate opportunities, communicate low expectations, and prematurely remove students from challenging environments" (Ricci, 2013, p. 9). This is only one way the belief of teachers impact the growth of students. "Stereotypes tell teachers which groups are bright in which groups are, not so teachers with the fixed mindset no which students to give up on before they've even met them" (Dweck, 2006, p. 199). When teachers have low expectations for students, their students live up (or down) to those expectations. "The very assumption that certain students don't value education leads some educators to lower their expectations and offer these students a substandard curriculum" (Thompson, 2007, p. 2). The fixed mindset also leads teachers to *dumb down* material for students, assuming they cannot handle more challenging work. When students know do not know how to do something and others, do the gap seems unbridgeable. In response, some fixed-minded educators try to reassure their students that they are fine just as they are (Dweck, 2006).

Countless teachers have low academic standards for certain students, many teachers inflate the grades of these students, and even when these students go directly to two- or four-year colleges and universities after high school, they are more likely to end up needing to take remedial math and English classes, decreasing their chances of graduating from college. (Thompson, 2007, p. 2)

"A child with a fixed mindset may give up easily and not engage in the learning process"

(Ricci, 2013, p. 4). "Simply raising standards in our schools without giving students the means of reaching them is a recipe for disaster it just pushes the poorly prepared or poorly motivated students into failure in and out of school" (Dweck, 2006, p. 194).

How do growth-minded teachers and students react to challenging situations? "Growth minded teachers tell students the truth and then give them the tools to close the gap" (Dweck, 2006, p. 199). Ricci (2013) posited the mindset of the educator directly influences how a child not only views himself or herself as a learner but also how he or she faces academic challenges. "A child's mindset directly affects how he or she faces academic challenges. A child with a growth mindset perseveres even in the face of barriers" (Ricci, 2013, p. 4). "Helping students to manage their minds so that they can get the best out of themselves is one of the greatest gifts teachers can provide" (Gerson, 2013, para 5). "An educator with a growth mindset believes that with effort and hard work from the learner, all students can demonstrate significant growth and therefore all students deserve opportunities for challenge" (Ricci, 2013, p. 2).

Teachers with a growth mindset try to figure out what students don't understand and what learning strategies students need for learning to occur. Regardless of whether their students are learning, or they themselves are learning, growth mindset teachers are fascinated by the process of learning (Dweck, 2006). Pink suggested teachers should ask students about their passions and help students develop into classroom experts, calling upon them as needed throughout the school year. "A classroom of teachers is a classroom of learners" (Pink, 2009, p. 196). When teachers can turn students into learners, students become teachers of themselves and of others. When students believe teachers are judging them, students will sabotage the teacher by not trying. "When students understand school is for them—a way to grow their minds—they do not insist

on sabotaging themselves" (Dweck, 2006, p. 201). This shift in mindset allows learning to take place.

Adolescents and ego. If educators want to develop students into intrinsically motivated, lifelong learners, students must see themselves as learners, especially during the adolescent years. "Adolescence is a time of opportunity a time to learn new subjects a time to find out what they like and what they want to become in the future" (Dweck, 2006, p. 59).

The presence of a growth or fixed mindset seems to be especially crucial during the middle school years, a time when the work becomes more demanding, grades take on greater salience, and teachers can be perceived as less supportive. Indeed, research demonstrates that seventh graders with a growth mindset see their grades improve over a two-year period of middle school, while students with a fixed mindset see no such improvement. (Damour, 2011, p. 2)

Adolescence is a time when students tend to become more focused on friendships and themselves and thereby put precious little effort on learning. This low effort syndrome is "often seen as a way in which adolescents assert their independence from adults, but it is also a way that students with the fixed mindset protect themselves" (Dweck, 2006, p. 58). "Students with a fixed mindset usually give up easily or take easier courses because grades and looking good to others are most important" (Gerson, 2013, para. 2). Teachers of adolescents must realize that lowering standards during this adolescent time does not protect the egos of the students they serve.

If you're a teacher remember that lowering standards doesn't raise students' self-esteem, but neither does raising standards without giving students a way of reaching them. The

growth mindset gives you a way to set high standards and have students reach them. (Dweck, 2006, p. 212)

"Students with a growth mindset usually persist in the face of difficulties and take challenging courses because learning and developing their minds are most important" (Gerson, 2013, para 2).

Effort or resources. One effect of poverty noted by Dweck (2006) was, "people have different resources and opportunities" (p. 47). Duncan and Murane (2014) studied the effects of poverty on children and their education. "Historically, this country has relied on its public schools to help level the playing field for children born into different circumstances" (p. 2).

In high-poverty elementary schools, about 55 percent of all students perform below grade level on standardized tests, and this hardly improves as they move to the middle grades. As a result, by the time students enter ninth grade in high-poverty high schools, around 80 percent are over-age for their grade or have reading and math skills that are below the seventh-grade level. (Rowan, 2011, p. 524)

A number of research studies have been conducted to determine if there is a relationship between SES and student achievement. "These studies have demonstrated that children in low-SES families have a reduced ability to suppress distractors at the neural level and have more general reductions to prefrontal cortex activity even during rest" (Nelson & Sheridan, 2011, p. 38). The connection is made in these studies because students must know how to self-regulate their behavior in order to learn in a classroom setting. Ricci offered another view, tying the neuroplasticity of the brain into how summer breaks. "Some children are at a disadvantage academically simply because they don't have the opportunities to learn at the same levels of their peers during the summer months" (Ricci, 2013, p. 6). Neural connections are weakened or eliminated if not used—in this case, the connections in the brain used for learning are less likely

to be used by students whose parents are poor. Students of more affluent parents have more learning opportunities over the summer (Ricci, 2013). Although all students have the same number of days out of public school for the summer, the days are not spent with equal quality.

Another area of difference that affects students is the surrounding community students are raised in. "Rich, educated, connected effort works better" (Dweck, 2006, p. 47). "Students in the bottom quintile of family socioeconomic status score more than a standard deviation below those in the top quintile on standardized tests of math and reading when they enter kindergarten" (Reardon, 2011, p. 92). A better education often translates to a better job, which brings in a network of influential friends. People who know how to be in the right place at the right time all stand a better chance of having their effort pay off (Duncan & Murane, 2014; Dweck, 2006).

Children from different social groups enter school with very different skills and behaviors. Comparing children in the bottom and top quintiles of SES, we show that low-SES children are 1.3 standard deviations lower than high-SES children in their kindergarten-entry math skills, nearly two-thirds of a standard deviation below in teacher ratings of attention skills, and one-fourth of a standard deviation worse in terms of teacher-reported antisocial behavior. (Duncan & Magnuson, 2011, p. 47)

This gap in skills does not translate to a lack of parental concern or care about education. Because parent involvement has been linked to several positive outcomes, including better grades for students, it is understandable why some educators and policymakers blame parents for their children's poor academic performance. However, even though this mind-set is prevalent throughout the United States, research has shown that most parents, including low income, African American, and Latino parents do care about their children's education (Thompson, 2007, p. 2).

Other factors that create a disparity between students include family structure, education levels of parents, and parental management of student lives. Poor students tend to have singleparent family structures more often than more affluent students (Duncan & Murane, 2014). Parents with greater education *know the ropes* and can guide their children into opportunities that will support a future job. Students from lower income families tend to get less support from their parent(s) and often the parent has less education or networking skills to provide internships for future jobs. As parents make more money, they are more likely to provide adult support for their child's activities than parents needing to work to meet essential needs for the family. Factors such as these combine to allow affluent students to come to school more ready to learn than poor students. "Remember that effort isn't quite everything and that not all effort is created equal" (Dweck, 2006, p. 48).

Next Steps – To Grade or Not to Grade

With the tumult surrounding grades, the easiest suggestion some may have would be to not give grades. Although that idea has merit with some, the problem is more with defining the purpose of grades. According to Guskey and Jung (2013), when educators are asked to give their purpose for grading, there are six major categories:

- 1. To communicate information about students' achievement to parents and others;
- 2. To provide information to students for self-evaluation;
- 3. To select, identify, or group students for certain educational paths or programs;
- 4. To provide incentives for students to learn;
- 5. To evaluate the effectiveness of instructional programs; and
- 6. To provide evidence of students' lack of effort or inappropriate responsibility. (p. 69)

The question for educators is then to agree on which of the six purposes of grading is the most important for their classroom, their building, their district.

In a survey by Guskey and Jung (2013), teachers were asked to rank the above purposes for grading, as well as to answer open-ended questions about why we use report cards and grades. Again, this was not because there is a right or wrong answer to the questions, however the questions must be asked of educators in order to determine the understanding of grades by the teachers. Guskey and Jung (2013) found that there was no one method of grading and reporting that served all six of the purposes well. The discussion for grading and the purpose of grading must be explored at the district and building level, with input from all stakeholders in order to gain understanding. There are both advantages and disadvantages with traditional letter grades, percentage grades, and standards-based grades.

The Impact of College and Career Readiness Standards on Grading and Reporting

With the adoption and implementation of versions of CCSS spreading across the United States, adopted as College and Career Readiness Standards (CCRS) in Indiana, new discussion as to assessment and grading has been given more impetus. "School leaders, families, and educators recognize that the traditional reporting tools that have been used for the past century to report student progress provide minimal representation of student achievement" (Craig, 2011, p. 8). Due to the new accountability designations and the accompanying consequences for students, schools, corporations and states, educators now feel a sense of urgency to have a reporting tool for traditional grades that can complement the accountability reports given to students through the use of external assessments. Traditional grades worked as a method of reporting when work habits and other extraneous habits could be absorbed into grades. The

challenge for educators now is to assess and report the level of success for all students at the appropriate level for the student (Craig, 2011).

Part of the problem is that too few educators have extensive knowledge of "various grading methods, the advantages and shortcomings of those methods, and the effects that different grading policies have on students" (Guskey & Jung, 2012, p. 23). There are four major steps in grading reform that school leaders need to address. The purpose of grading and reporting must be clear to parents, teachers, students and school leaders (Guskey & Jung, 2012). When the purpose of grading is not clear, teachers tend to create policies that address all of the purposes while addressing none of them well. Knowing what the grades mean, what evidence is used to determine the grade, and how the information is communicated and used drives the discussion and yields reform and improvement in the understanding of student achievement (Guskey & Jung, 2013).

A second step in grading reform is discussion of what the grade actually does reflect. When teachers combine effort, attendance, and attitude as well as achievement, the grade becomes a "hodgepodge" (Guskey & Jung, 2009, p. 93). Brookhart (2011) and Guskey and Jung (2013) proposed a separation of criteria to better reflect student achievement. Product criteria reflect the current level of achievement the student produces. Process criteria take into account the extraneous variables of responsibility, work habits and effort when determining a grade. Progress criteria allows for much of the differentiation of student work by addressing learning gains and educational growth. After establishing specific indicators of each of these criteria, teachers can then report separate grades for each area. Understanding and communication of the criteria and indicators are key components of multiple grades being reported with success (Guskey & Jung, 2012).

The final two steps as seen by Guskey and Jung (2013) deal more with special populations, each at an extreme end of the achievement spectrum. Grading as a ranking of students has outlived its usefulness because it causes students to compete with each other for the purpose of ranking. If the focus of learning is on developing talent rather than ranking students, the competition for learning could actually be enhanced. "Rigorous academic criteria are established for attaining the high honor categories, but no limit is set on the number of students who might attain that level of achievement" (Guskey & Jung, 2012, p. 26). On the other end of the academic spectrum, grading students who struggle with learning can be addressed by modifying the skill or standard being measured. Low grades do not have a positive effect on learning for most students (Guskey & Jung, 2013; Stiggins, 2007b). Open and honest reporting of student learning on the level of work they are able to complete is an alternative to failing grades on a standard that is unattainable for students, as determined by the case conference committee (Guskey & Jung, 2013). Figure 1 shows one possible way of reporting a student's progress with modified standards. In this scenario, a letter grade is offered and numbers support student achievement in skill areas. The number 3 represents work completed with some help, and the number 4 represents work completed with minimal help. The asterisk does indicate that some of the work was modified or accommodations were implemented to assess the skill.

Subject		Marking Period			
	1	2	3	4	
LANGUAGE ARTS	B*				
Reading	3*				
Writing	4*				
Listening	3				
Speaking	3				
Language	4*				
*Grades marked with an aste	erisk are based	on modifi	ed expecta	tions.	
For additional detail, please	see the attache	d progress	report.		

Figure 1. Sample Report of Student's Progress with Modified Standards.

Most standards include content, or what students are to learn, and performance, or what students are able to do with what they have learned. "Educators have made great strides in recent years in developing standards for student learning. . . Educators also have been working hard to create better and more authentic assessments to measure students' proficiencies based on those" (Guskey & Jung, 2013, p. 99). With the adoption of clear learning standards, it is incumbent upon the leadership in educational communities to develop a reflective reporting system that meets the needs of various stakeholders by communicating achievement of a variety of student learners.

Principals, as school leaders, must bring to the forefront changes that have taken place in both evaluation and assessment practices. "They must ensure that the grading practices used in their schools are based on quality assessment principles and they should work with their entire faculty to develop a quality assessment environment" (O'Connor, 2001, para. 2). Townsley (2013) described the struggle in his school district to change to standards-based grading. Two axioms changed his grading practice as a teacher, and helped him, when he became an administrator, work with other district leaders move to a new philosophy on how to best reflect what students have learned. "Axiom 1: Report learning targets rather than assignments, assessments, and behavior" (Townsley, 2013, p. 68). Grades are calculated on how students demonstrate understanding of identified standards. "Axiom 2: Value what students learn over when they learn it" (Townsley, 2013, p. 68). Students are allowed to demonstrate their knowledge of material through the use of activities provided for extra learning and practice. A four-point scale, written in the grade book in pencil, allows the teacher to assess and reassess student demonstration of content. "As we've work through the challenges, our teachers, administrators, and board of education have remained committed to moving forward with a transition that we believe will better reflect what students have actually learned in our schools" (Townsley, 2013, p. 71). Change in how a teacher reports the knowledge a student demonstrates must involve layers of people and roles and support within the school system.

Tomlinson (2011) stated, "Consistent, specific feedback on a student's competency in essential goals is a more potent teaching tool than a letter or number grade will ever be" (p. 86). Communication between teachers and students, as well as parents, of where a student starts and how a student is progressing is essential. Guskey and Guskey (1994) cited two guidelines for fair, equitable, and useful guidelines for reporting grades: "1) Provide accurate and understandable descriptions of learning ...2) Use grading and reporting methods to enhance, not hinder, teaching and learning" (p. 17). Guskey and Guskey (1994), Tomlinson (2011), and Townsley (2013) all agreed that the work to change grading practices is not an easy journey, but is a reform that is needed. "In the beginning of the 21st century; however, the field lacks compelling evidence of reform" (Cox, 2011, p. 68).

CHAPTER 3

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The purpose of this study was to determine if there is a difference between how academic achievement is measured when using standards-based report cards and how academic achievement is measured using traditional report cards. Students are given letter grades, or other indicators to summarize their achievement. These letter grades/indicators are communicated to parents, typically on report cards, multiple times per school year. Furthermore, according to research supported by both Dweck (2006, 2008) and Pink (2009), the mindset of students is another key factor in the achievement of students. Does the use of standards-based or traditional report cards have a differing impact on the mindset of students?

Research Questions

This study addressed the following questions and subquestions: What reporting systems do elementary teachers in the state of Indiana use, and what impact does each have on assessment, communication and student mindset? Is there a difference between the perceptions of teachers using traditional report cards and those using standards-based report cards in the areas of assessment, communication or mindset of students?

Q1a. Is there a significant difference on assessment composite scores based on reporting systems within high-poverty schools?

- Q1b. Is there a significant difference on assessment composite scores based on reporting systems within low-poverty schools?
- Q2a. Is there a significant difference on communication composite scores based on reporting systems within high-poverty schools?
- Q2b. Is there a significant difference on communication composite scores based on reporting systems within low-poverty schools?
- Q3a. Is there a significant difference on mindset composite scores based on reporting systems within high-poverty schools?
- Q3b. Is there a significant difference on mindset composite scores based on reporting systems within low-poverty schools?

Null Hypotheses

The following represented the null hypotheses.

 H_01a . There is no significant difference on assessment composite scores based on reporting systems within high-poverty schools.

 H_0 1b. There is no significant difference on assessment composite scores based on reporting systems within low-poverty schools.

 H_02a . There is no significant difference on communication composite scores based on reporting systems within high-poverty schools.

H₀2b. There is no significant difference on communication composite scores based on reporting systems within low-poverty schools.

 H_03a . There is no significant difference on mindset composite scores based on reporting systems within high-poverty schools.

 H_0 3b. There is no significant difference on mindset composite scores based on reporting systems within low-poverty schools.

Study Sample

This quantitative study utilized a survey to collect information from teachers of students in Grades K-5 across the state of Indiana. A list of teachers was generated from the Indiana Department of Education (IDOE) website and then narrowed to teachers of students in Grades K-5. A Letter of Consent to Participate (Appendix A) was sent to the narrowed list of teachers inviting them to participate in my study. The survey (Appendix B) was administered after Institutional Review Board approval (Appendix C). Teachers were asked three informationgathering questions and then asked to rate their perceptions of effectiveness to seven questions about each identified area—assessment, communication and mindset—based on their perceptions of students and their own teaching philosophy.

Survey Design

This study utilized a survey that allowed me to collect information from teachers online. The survey asked teachers to use a Likert scale to identify their responses. Teachers used a sixpoint Likert scale to indicate the level of effectiveness response to the questions. Choices offered to teachers were; *strongly agree* (6), *agree* (5), *somewhat agree* (4), *somewhat disagree* (3), *disagree* (2) and *strongly disagree* (1). The data were collected anonymously through the use of Qualtrics. The three demographic questions were asked at the end of the survey to ascertain the number of years the teacher had taught Grades K-5; the type of reporting system used by the teachers; and the socioeconomic (SES) level of buildings as reported by teachers. Respondents were divided into two groups based on experience: two or fewer years and more than two years. Teachers within their first two years are part of the IMAP process in Indiana and
are considered novice. The survey then, using research from Chapter 2 of this study, focused seven questions on each of the following areas: assessment of academic achievement of students; communication by teachers of academic progress to students/parents; and mindset of students/teachers, as identified by teachers. The results of the survey were downloaded from Qualtrics and imported into SPSS Version 20.0. Using SPSS Version 20.0, a statistical analysis was conducted to determine whether the six nulls found within the study were retained.

In order to ascertain the validity of the survey, members of the Indiana State Educational Leadership Cohort in Kokomo and teachers in Grades K-5 in Kokomo School Corporation were asked to review the questions. These individuals were not invited to participate in the study. Cohort members and teachers in Grades K-5 in Kokomo School Corporation were asked to read the survey questions to determine if the survey was easy for teachers to understand, if the directions were easy to follow, if the length of the survey was reasonable for the respondents, and whether the questions focused on the intended outcomes. Feedback from the cohort members and from teachers within Kokomo was used to make adjustments to the survey questions. The feedback comments centered around adding a word to clarify the statement, such as (learning goals) to explain "learning targets." After the survey results were collected, a Cronbach's alpha test was used to estimate the internal consistency of reliability of survey items.

Cronbach came up with a measure that is loosely equivalent to splitting data in two in every possible way and computing the correlation coefficient for each split. The average of these values is equivalent to Cronbach's alpha, which is the most common measure of scale reliability. (Field, 2009, p. 674)

A Cronbach's alpha test was run on each area scored—assessment, communication, and mindset—therefore yielding three different Cronbach's alpha scores. A Cronbach's alpha score

55

of .70 was needed to assume reliability (Field, 2009, p. 675). If a question caused the Cronbach's alpha score to fall below a .7 minimum then the question was removed until the .7 threshold was reached. "This option provides a value of Cronbach's alpha for each item on your scale. It tells us what the value of alpha would be if that item were deleted" (Field, 2009, p. 677). An unreliable question should not impact the overall reliability. "If it does, then we have serious cause for concern and you should consider dropping that item from the questionnaire" (Field, 2009, p. 677). If the .7 level is unable to be obtained, then the null hypotheses on found within the study on that variable will not be tested.

Instrumentation

The survey contained a total of 24 questions, with seven pertinent questions for each area identified by research from such sources as O'Connor (2009), Reeves (2011), Guskey (2006), Dweck (2006), and Pink (2009). Research by O'Connor (2009) and Reeves (2011) brought to the forefront the appropriate and inappropriate use grades to indicate the learning of students. Guskey (2006) was a proponent of getting educators to consider the role of standards and assessments when reporting student achievement. Dweck (2006) posited there is an internal wiring in the mind of a student that either allows them to learn new information (growth mindset) or inhibits them learning from new challenges (fixed mindset). Pink (2009) examined whether or not rewards are the real motivators to achieve, specifically why they work with some but not with other students.

Data Collection Process

Invitations to participate in the survey were sent to teachers of students in Grades K- 5 compiled from a list of teachers generated from the IDOE website, then narrowed to teachers of students in Grades K-5. Information in the e-mail preceded the survey, is found in Appendix B

(i.e., letting teachers know the purpose of the survey and requesting their help to gather information). Teachers were notified that they could opt out of the survey by either not responding or by clicking out of the survey at any point. A follow-up e-mail was sent to teachers after 10 days, thanking them for their participation in the survey and asking them to participate if they had not yet done so. After five more days, the survey closed. Information collected was stored on a password-protected hard drive and the information was used as data for analysis through SPSS Version 20.0. Results of the survey were confidential and names of participants were not gathered for the purposes of this study. I will maintain information collected for three years in a secure location. Following collection of the survey data, a composite score was calculated. Scores for each question ranged from 1 = *strongly disagree* to 6 = *strongly agree*, with each of the three areas yielding a range of seven to 42. Each of the seven responses to assessment, communication, and student mindset were added within each area to yield the composite score after reliability had been ensured with SPSS through the Cronbach's alpha test. If questions were removed in order to increase reliability to acceptable levels, then the composite score maximum for each question removed was reduced.

Statistical Analysis

The statistical analysis was completed using a one-way ANOVA. "For experimental designs with categorical information (groups) on the independent variable and continuous information on the dependent variable, researchers use *t* tests or univariate analysis of variance (ANOVA)" (Creswell, 2009, p. 166). The one-way ANOVA determined if there was a significant difference on one dependent variable, the composite score, with one independent variable, the reporting type, which had three levels of reporting (traditional, newly implemented standards-based, and experienced standards-based). Newly implemented standards based were

identified as teachers using standards-based report cards less than three years; experienced standards-based were those teachers using standards-based report cards three years or more. The analysis also offered information on what reporting systems elementary teachers in the state of Indiana used, and what impact the reporting system had on assessment, communication and student mindset.

In the event the ANOVA testing yielded a significant difference between means, a posthoc test was used. A post hoc test allowed me to determine where the significant difference lies in the model. Either a Tukey's HSD or Games-Howell post hoc test was used, depending on whether the homogeneity of variance was violated. If the assumption was met, then the Tukey HSD post hoc test was utilized. "When you have equal sample sizes and you are confident that your population variances are similar then use R-E-G-W-Q or Tukey because both have good power and tight control over the Type I error rate" (Field, 2012, p. 4). If the assumption was violated, then the Games-Howell post hoc test was used as this test does not require equal variances. Field noted, "I recommend running the Games-Howell procedure in addition to any other tests you might select because of the uncertainty of knowing whether the population variances are equivalent" (Field, 2012, p. 4).

Summary

In this chapter, research methodology was discussed as well as the type of study, sample, research design, instrumentation, data collection process, statistical analysis to be used, research questions, and null hypotheses. The use of a survey allowed teachers of students in Grades 3-5 to inform me about the use of standards-based and traditional report cards in Indiana. Teachers also offered insight into whether the report card type yielded an impact on assessment, communication, and student mindset. Chapter 4 presents the findings yielded by the survey.

Chapter 5 shares the impact of the results presented in Chapter 4, as well as implications from the study and future areas of research.

CHAPTER 4

FINDINGS OF THE DATA ANALYSIS

The purpose of this study was to determine whether or not there is a significant difference between the perceptions of teachers using traditional report cards and those using standardsbased report cards in the areas of assessment, communication, and mindset of students. Teachers were surveyed and data collected regarding assessment, communication, and student mindset as seen through the lens of educators using standards-based reporting and those using traditional reporting systems. The variables included the number of years the respondent had used the current reporting system and the percentage of students receiving free/reduced lunch.

I developed the quantitative Reporting Methods Survey to measure the impact of reporting methods on assessment, communication, and student mindset. The Reporting Methods Survey consisted of 24 questions. Seven questions in each of three areas of assessment, communication, and mindset comprised the bulk of the survey. The questions from each area were mixed within the survey, without identifying which area the question represented. The questions themselves were derived from the related literature and research for the study. Three demographic questions were included to determine which reporting method the respondent used, how long the reporting method had been used by the respondent, and the socioeconomic status of the students within the schools represented. At the beginning of the survey, respondents were asked to continue if they were a teacher in Grades K-5 and to please close the survey if they were a teacher in a grade other than K-5. Teachers who continued were asked to respond to questions presented in an online format displaying three questions per page from the survey. The options for the respondents on Questions 1-24 were based on a six point Likert scale with 1= *strongly disagree* and 6 = *strongly agree*. Respondents were asked to indicate the degree to which they agreed or disagreed with the statements in the survey. Some questions were reverse-coded, meaning research indicated some answers would lean more toward *disagree* and some toward *agree*. The final three questions were demographic in nature. Question 25 asked respondents to indicate the type of reporting system (report card) used in their building—traditional or standards-based. The next question (Question 26) asked how long the respondent had used this type of report card, with the options being *fewer than three years* or *three years or more*. The final question of the survey asked respondents the free/reduced percentage of students within the building. There were three options to this question—above 50%, 35%-50%, and below 35%.

E-mail addresses of all licensed teachers who were currently teaching were obtained in April, 2015 from the IDOE. A total of 7,903 e-mail addresses were given to me by the IDOE. Teachers from the Kokomo School Corporation, my home school corporation, as well as addresses that were duplicates or null were removed prior to sending out the surveys. A total of 6,843 surveys were sent through Qualtrics software, with "bounce backs" trimming the number of possible respondents to 6,760. During the course of the survey, 1,795 (26%) were opened; of those opened, 561 (8.3%) were started, and 451 (6.7%) of those started were completed and included in the survey data.

61

Once the results were collected, the Qualtrics software imported the data to SPSS for analysis. The results of the survey were somewhat challenging to interpret. Inspection of reliability using a Cronbach's alpha test did not yield the required .7 needed to assume reliability. When the scores were under .7 after eliminating poor questions that could impact the reliability, a factor analysis looking for eigenvalues above 1 was completed. A factor analysis is "a multivariate technique for identifying whether the correlations between a set of observed variables stem from their relationship to one or more latent variables in the data, each of which takes the form of a linear model" (Field, 2009, p. 786). Latent variables cannot be directly measured, but are assumed as being related to several variables that can be measured. "By looking at the eigenvalues for a data set, we know the dimensions of the ellipse or rugby ball: put more generally, we know the dimensions of the data. Therefore, the eigenvalues show how evenly (or otherwise) the variances of the matrix are distributed" (Field, 2009, p. 243). Field (2009) later stated, "Eigenvalues are conceptually equivalent to the F-ratio in ANOVA and so the final step is to assess how large these values are compared to what we would expect by chance alone" (p. 601). Kaiser's criterion is defined as

a method of extraction in factor analysis based on the idea of retaining factors with associated eigenvalues greater than 1. This method appears to be accurate when the number of variables in the analysis is less than 30; and the resulting communalities (after extraction) are all greater than 0.7, or when the sample size exceeds 250 and the average communality is greater than or equal to 0.6. (Field, 2009, p. 788)

The use of the factor analysis identified six iterations that had initial eigenvalues > 1. The pattern matrix then yielded 17 questions that were related on four of the iterations. The four factors composing new composite scores were communication from the viewpoint of parents,

62

communication from the viewpoint of teachers, mindset, and assessment. These were the same basic areas addressed by the hypotheses outlined within the text of this study; however, only 17 of the 24 questions were needed for the calculation of the composite scores.

Items within the survey were grouped into four areas (Table 1) each having an eigenvalue

of > 1. Those areas were Teacher Communication (TC; M = 3.9, SD = .55), summarized as

communication from the teacher's perspective; Parent Communication (PC; M = 4.6, SD = .63),

viewed as communication from the parent's perspective; Student Mindset (SM; M = 4.4, SD =

.47); Assessment (A; M = 4.4, SD = .70).

Table 1

Items Contained Within the Survey

Item	Area
Parents care about the education of their child(ren).	PC
Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/ number grade.	TC
Students in my classroom know their learning targets (learning goals).	А
Public schools help level the playing field for all students.	-
The process of learning is more fascinating than the content of learning.	SM
The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/ her students.	SM
The ability of a student to learn remains relatively constant throughout school.	-
Looking 'smart' to peers is important to student learning.	SM
Students who are smart do not need to put forth effort.	-
Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners.	SM
Incentives produce learning just as engagement produces learning.	-SM
It is important for students to help create learning goals.	SM
Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn.	TC
Parents view report card grades as how well their child is achieving.	-
Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement.	-PC
Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction.	PC
Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child.	А
Report card grades reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior, and motivation.	TC
Students are allowed to redo assignments/ assessments without penalty.	А
Grades allow parents to clearly understand and support the learning process.	TC
Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school	PC
day.	

Descriptive Statistics

Frequency Data for Whole Sample

A total of 451 (6.7%) elementary teachers in Indiana completed the survey. The survey offered statements to which teachers were offered the options of these responses: strongly agree, agree, somewhat agree, overall strongly disagree, disagree, and somewhat disagree. For reporting purposes, the whole sample data was initially reported as overall agree and overall disagree. Overall agree encompassed strongly agree, agree, and somewhat agree and overall disagree encompassed strongly disagree, disagree, and somewhat disagree.

When teachers were given the statement, "Parents care about the education of their child(ren)," the majority agreed. Of the 451 responses, 424 (94%) were in the overall agree category, and 27 (6%) of the respondents were in the disagree category. Specifically, 246 of the 451 (54.5%) agreed that parents cared about the education of their children, 92 (20.4%) somewhat agreed, and 86 (19.1%) strongly agreed. Of those who disagreed that parents cared about the education of their children, seven (1.6%) somewhat disagreed, and six (1.3%) disagreed.

Teachers were asked if feedback on a student's work was more helpful to students than a letter or number grade. Overall, 414 teachers (91.7%) agreed and 37 teachers (8.3%) disagreed. Those in the agree category were somewhat evenly spread, 177 teachers (39.2%) agreed, 127 teachers (28.2%) strongly agreed, and 110 teachers (24.4%) entered somewhat agree that feedback on a student's work was more helpful to students than a letter or number grade. Of those who disagreed, 21 teachers (4.7%) somewhat disagreed, nine teachers (2.0%) disagreed, and seven teachers (1.6%) strongly disagreed.

64

A large percentage of teachers (440/451 or 97.6%) overall agreed with the statement "Students in my classroom know their learning targets (learning goals)." Again, 241 (53.4%) of the respondents agreed, 74 respondents (16.4%) strongly agreed, and 125 respondents (27.7%) agreed somewhat. Of the 11 out of 451 (2.4%) who disagreed overall, six respondents (1.3%) somewhat disagreed, four respondents (0.9%) disagreed, and one respondent (0.2%) strongly disagreed.

The next statement, "Public schools help level the playing field for all students," demonstrated an overall agreement rate of 364 teachers (80.7%). Of those who agreed, 83 teachers (18.4%) strongly agreed, 144 teachers (31.9%) agreed, and 137 (30.4%) somewhat agreed. Of those who disagreed, 55 teachers (12.2%) somewhat disagreed, 27 teachers (6.0%) disagreed, and five teachers (1.1%) strongly disagreed.

"The process of learning is more fascinating than the content of learning" had an overall agreement by 371 (82.3%) of the teachers. Of those who agreed, 54 (12.0%) strongly agreed, 175 (38.8%) agreed, and 142 (31.5%) somewhat agreed. Of the 80 (17.7%) teachers who overall disagreed that the process of learning is more fascinating than the content of learning, 59 (13.1%) somewhat disagreed, 20 (4.4%) disagreed, and one (0.2%) strongly disagreed.

A total of 411 (91.2%) teachers agreed or strongly agreed that "The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/her students." There were 274 (60.8%) who strongly agreed, 137 (30.4%) who agreed, and 29 (6.4%) who somewhat agreed for an overall agreement 440 of 97.5%. Eleven teachers disagreed that a teacher's expectations influenced the achievement of his/her students, seven teachers (1.6%) somewhat disagreed, one teacher (0.2%) disagreed, and three teachers (0.7%) strongly disagreed.

A split of teachers was demonstrated when the statement, "The ability of a student to learn remains relatively constant throughout school" was proposed. Of those, 19 (4.2%) strongly agreed, 104 (23.1%) agreed, and 135 (29.9%) somewhat agreed for an overall agreement of 258 teachers (57.2%). Of the 193 teachers (42.8%) who disagreed overall that the ability of a student to learn remains relatively constant throughout school, 97 teachers (21.5%) somewhat disagreed, 78 teachers (17.3%) disagreed, and 18 teachers (4.0%) strongly disagreed.

"Looking 'smart' to peers is important to student learning" had an overall agreement by 331 teachers (73.4%); 19 teachers (4.2%) strongly agreed, 106 teachers (23.5%) agreed, and two teachers (45.7%) somewhat agreed. Overall, 120 teachers (26.6%) disagreed that looking smart to peers was important to student learning. Of those who disagreed, 62 teachers (13.7%) somewhat disagreed, 51 teachers (11.3%) disagreed, and seven teachers (1.6%) strongly disagreed.

A number of teachers (434, 96.2%) disagreed overall with the statement that "Students who are smart do not need to put forth effort." Several teachers (237, 52.5%) strongly disagreed, 156 (34.6%) teachers disagreed, and 41 (9.1%) somewhat disagreed. Although the overall agreement with the statement was 17 teachers (3.8%), no one (zero teachers, 0%) strongly agreed that students who are smart do not need to put forth effort. There were 14 teachers (3.1%) who somewhat agreed and three teachers (0.7%) who agreed with that statement.

"Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners" was a statement agreed to overall by 432 (95.9%) of the respondents. Teachers who strongly agreed with statement numbered 141 (31.3%), 215 (47.7%) agreed, and 76 (16.9%) somewhat agreed. Teachers with an overall disagreement numbered 19 (4.2%), 12 (2.7%) somewhat disagreed, six (1.3%) disagreed, and one (0.2%) strongly disagreed. Teachers who overall agreed that incentives produce learning just as engagement produces learning numbered 355 (78.7%). Breaking the overall apart found that 35 teachers (7.8%) strongly agreed, 135 (29.9%) agreed, and 185 (41.0%) somewhat agreed. Of the overall 96 teachers (21.2%) who disagreed, 48 teachers (10.6) somewhat disagreed, 42 (9.3%) disagreed, and six (1.3%) strongly disagreed.

When given the statement that "it is important for students to help create learning goals," 419 teachers (92.8%) overall agreed. Of the 419 teachers who agreed, 121 (26.8%) strongly agreed, 195 (43.2%) agreed, and 103 (22.8%) somewhat agreed. There were 32 teachers who disagreed that it is important for students to help create learning goals, with 23 (5.1%) who somewhat disagreed, five (1.1%) disagreed, and four (0.9%) strongly disagreed.

"Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn," was overall agreed to by 313 teachers (69.4%). Those teachers who somewhat agreed totaled 214 teachers (47.5%), 83 teachers (18.4%) agreed, and 16 teachers (3.5%) strongly agreed. Those teachers who somewhat agreed totaled 77 (17.1%), 50 teachers (11.1%) disagreed, and 11 (2.4%) teachers strongly disagreed.

When given the statement "Parents view report card grades as how well their child is achieving," 441 teachers (97.8%) were in overall agreement. Of those who agreed, 128 (28.4%) strongly agreed, 268 (59.4%) agreed, and 45 (10.0%) somewhat agreed. Ten teachers (2.2%) were in overall disagreement, five (1.1%) somewhat disagreed, four (0.9%) disagreed, and one (0.2%) strongly disagreed.

Do teachers see test scores as accurate measures of student achievement? The statement was agreed to by 145 teachers (32.1%) overall, one teacher (0.2%) strongly agreed, 13 (2.9%) teachers agreed, and 131 (29.0%) somewhat agreed. Disagreeing with the statement overall were

306 teachers (67.9%). Of those who disagreed, 119 teachers (26.4%) somewhat disagreed, 111 teachers (24.6%) disagreed, and 76 teachers (16.9%) strongly disagreed.

"Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction" was a statement agreed to by 408 (90.4%) teachers. Strongly agreed was noted by 135 teachers (29.9%), 189 teachers (41.9%) agreed, and 84 teachers (18.6%) somewhat agreed. Overall 43 teachers (9.5%) disagreed with importance of formative assessment. Twenty-two teachers (4.9%) somewhat disagreed, 16 teachers (3.5%) disagreed, and five (1.1%) strongly disagreed.

Teachers (373, 82.7%) were overall in agreement that "parents in my class know the learning goals of their child." Of those who agreed, 42 (9.3%) strongly agreed, 175 (38.8%) agreed, and 156 (34.6%) somewhat agreed. Overall 78 (17.3%) teachers disagreed with this statement, 50 (11.1%) somewhat disagreed, 23 (5.1%) disagreed, and five (1.1%) strongly disagreed.

Overall, 314 teachers (69.6%) teachers agreed that "report card grades reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior, and motivation." Teachers who strongly agreed made up 36 (8.0%) of the teachers who responded, 126 teachers (27.9%) agreed, and 152 teachers (33.7%) somewhat agreed. Of the 137 teachers (30.4%) who disagreed, 74 teachers (16.4%) somewhat disagreed, 44 teachers (9.8%) disagreed, and 19 teachers (4.2%) strongly disagreed.

Approximately three-fourths (335, 74.3%) of teachers who responded agreed that students are allowed to redo assignments or assessments without penalty. Thirty-three teachers (7.3%) strongly agreed, 151 teachers (33.5%) agreed, and 151 teachers (33.5%) somewhat agreed. Of those 116 teachers (25.7%) who disagreed, 68 teachers (15.1%) somewhat disagreed, 42 teachers (9.3%) disagreed, and six teachers (1.3%) strongly disagreed.

68

"Grades allow parents to clearly understand and support the learning process" was a statement 260 teachers (57.7%) agreed with overall. Twelve teachers (2.7%) strongly agreed, 90 teachers (20.0%) agreed, and 158 teacher (35.0%) somewhat agreed. Ninety-nine teachers (22.0%) somewhat disagreed with the statement about grades, 68 teachers (15.1%) disagreed, and 24 teachers (5.3%) strongly disagreed.

What did teachers answer to the statement "Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day?" Overall agreement was noted by 286 teachers (62.4%), 14 teachers (3.1%) were in strong agreement, 71 teachers (15.7%) were in agreement, and 201 teachers (44.6%) were in some agreement. Overall disagreement was noted by 165 teachers (36.7%), 104 teachers (23.1%) were in some disagreement, 49 teachers (10.9%) were in disagreement, and 12 teachers (2.7%) were in strong disagreement.

The final three questions in the survey yielded demographic information as reported by respondents. For these three questions, one respondent did not answer which caused the population of the survey to be minus one respondent (N = 450, 0.2%). Teachers in Grades K-5 who responded to the survey were split as to the type of reporting system used in their building, 217 (48.1%) used a traditional report card and 233 (51.7%) used a standards-based report card. When asked how many years they had used this type of report card, 384 (85.1%) had used their systems for three years or more; 66 (14.6%) used their systems less than three years. The number of students in the building using free/reduced lunch was the final question, with above 50% reported by 230 teachers (51.0%), 35%-50% reported by 129 teachers (28.6%), and below 35% reported by 91 teachers (20.2%).

Answers of the respondents were then coded by the three demographic questions in order to disaggregate information provided by the demographics reported. The first of the three tables

69

answers "which type of reporting system (usually referred to as report card) is used in your building?" The number of respondents who reported traditional was 217 (48.1%). The majority of teachers (N = 201, 92.6%) reported using a traditional report card equal to or greater than three years and the rest of the teachers (N = 16, 7.4%) reported using traditional report cards fewer than three years. Teachers (N = 121, 55.8%) who used traditional report cards reported students who had free/reduced lunch as above 50%, 56 teachers (25.8%) reported 35%-50% free/reduced lunch, and 40 teachers (18.4%) reported fewer than 35% of students had free/reduced lunch.

Descriptive Statistics Traditional Reporting System

Table 2 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with traditional reporting systems with items addressing Parent Communication. The top responses by frequency were in agreement with, "Parents care about the education of their child(ren)" (N = 112, 51.6%). "Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction" (N = 93, 42.9%) was another statement with strong frequency in the agreement column. When looking at the entirety of agreement (combining somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree) these two responses were also the strongest, respectively (N = 204, 94%; N = 190, 87.6%). Respondents overall disagreed with, "Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement" (N = 143, 65.9%), which was a statement with which Kohn (2011) and O'Connor and Wormelli (2011) also disagreed. "Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day" is a statement teachers who used traditional report cards were most strongly in the "somewhat" category for agreed (N = 95, 43.8%) and for disagreed (N = 52, 24.0%). Teachers who responded to this statement did not offer strong responses either way on whether parents supported educational opportunities for their child(ren).

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Parents care about the education of their child(ren).	2 (.9%)	5 (2.3%)	6 (2.8%)	51 (23.5%)	112 (51.6%)	41 (18.9%)
Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction.	5 (2.3%)	10 (4.6%)	12 (5.5%)	8 (17.5%)	93 (42.9%)	59 (27.2%)
Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day.	9 (4.1%)	24 (11.1%)	52 (24.0%)	95 (43.8%)	30 (13.8%)	7 (3.2%)
Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement.	39 (18.0%)	54 (24.9%)	50 (23.0%)	68 (31.3%)	6 (2.8%)	0 (0%)

Traditional Reporting Systems – Parent Communication

When compared to the whole sample (Table 3), the respondents who used traditional reporting systems were more tightly grouped around the mean for Parent Communication (M = 4.49, SD = .68) than for the whole sample (M = 4.56, SD = .63). The standard deviation also indicated there was more variety in the responses in the area of Parent Communication for those using traditional report cards than for the whole sample (Table 3). There were 217 teachers using traditional report cards offering responses for Parent Communication, with 451 teachers responding overall.

Item	Ν	Whole Sample M	Whole Sample <i>SD</i>	N	Traditional M	Traditional SD
Parent Communication	451	4.56	.63	217	4.49	.68

Means for Using Traditional Report Cards – Parent Communication

Table 4 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with standards-based reporting systems with items addressing Parent Communication. The top responses by frequency were in agreement with, "Parents care about the education of their child(ren)" (N =134, 57.5%). The second highest responses by frequency were somewhat agree (N = 106, 45.5%) to "Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day." "Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction," (N = 93, 42.9%) was a statement with strong frequency when agree (N = 96, 41.2%) and strongly agree (N = 75, 32.2%)columns were combined. Respondents overall disagreed with a statement that was negatively coded, "Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement" (N = 143, 65.9%). This is a statement with which Kohn (2011) and O'Connor and Wormelli (2011) also disagreed. When compared to the whole sample, the whole group respondents were more tightly grouped around the mean for Parent Communication (M = 4.56, SD = .63) than those who used standards-based reporting systems (M = 4.63, SD = .57). The standard deviation also indicated there was more variety in the responses for the whole sample than for standards-based respondents in Parent Communication.

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Parents care about the education of their child(ren).	4 (1.7%)	2 (.9%)	8 (3.4%)	40 (17.2%)	134 (57.5%)	45 (19.3%)
Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction.	0 (.0%)	6 (2.6%)	10 (4.3%)	46 (19.7%)	96 (41.2%)	75 (32.2%)
Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day.	3 (1.3%)	25 (10.7%)	51 (21.9%)	106 (45.5%)	41 (17.6%)	7 (3.0%)
Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement.	36 (15.5%)	57 (24.5%)	69 (29.6%)	63 (27.0%)	7 (3.0%)	1 (.4%)

Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Parent Communication

When comparing standards-based and traditional reporting systems in the area of parent communication (Table 5), standards-based respondents (N = 154, 66.1%) reported agreeing with parent support for educational opportunities for their children outside the school day. This was higher than those who used traditional report cards (N = 132, 60.8%). Also, comparing standards-based and traditional reporting systems in the area of parent communication,

standards-based respondents (N = 217, 93.1%) reported they agreed with formative, ongoing assessments being key elements of instruction more than those using traditional report cards (N = 190, 87.6%).

Table 5

Item	N	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	<i>M</i> Standards- Based	<i>SD</i> Standards- Based
Parent Communication	451	4.56	.63	233	4.63	.57

Means for Using Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Parent Communication

Table 6 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with traditional reporting systems with items addressing Teacher Communication. The top response by frequency was somewhat in agreement with, "Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn" (N = 104, 47.9%). When looking at the entirety of agreement (which combined somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree), the strongest response (N = 199, 91.7%) was for "Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/ number grade." When compared to the whole sample (Table 7), the respondents who used traditional reporting systems were similar between the mean for teacher communication (M = 3.83, SD = .57) and the whole sample (M = 3.85, SD = .55).

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/ number grade.	3 (1.4%)	4 (1.8%)	11 (5.1%)	57 (26.3%)	85 (39.2%)	57 (26.3%)
Report card grades reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior, and motivation.	10 (4.6%)	20 (9.2%)	48 (22.1%)	81 (37.3%)	48 (22.1%)	10 (4.6%)
Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn.	6 (2.8%)	23 (10.6%)	39 (18.0%)	104 (47.9%)	37 (17.1%)	8 (3.7%)
Grades allow parents to clearly understand and support the learning process.	16 (7.4%)	35 (16.1%)	40 (18.4%)	89 (41.0%)	33 (15.2%)	4 (1.8%)

Traditional Reporting Systems – Teacher Communication

Item	Ν	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	<i>M</i> Traditional	<i>SD</i> Traditional
Teacher Communication	451	3.85	.55	217	3.83	.57

Means for Using Traditional Reporting Systems – Teacher Communication

Table 8 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with standards-based reporting systems with items addressing Teacher Communication. The top response by frequency was in agreement with, "Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn" (N = 110, 47.2%). "Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/ number grade" (N = 214, 91.8%) was a statement with strong frequency when combined with somewhat agree (N = 53, 22.7%), agree (N = 92, 39.5%), and strongly agree (N = 69, 29.6%).

When comparing standards-based and traditional reporting systems in the area of parent communication, standards-based respondents (N = 214, 91.8%) and traditional respondents (N = 199, 91.7%) both reported overall agreement that feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/number grade. The next highest overall response set, a combination of somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree, was regarding the statement about report card grades reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior and motivation. Standards-based report card users (N = 175, 75.1%) reported agree for report card grades reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior. Traditional report card users also agreed overall, but not as strongly (N = 139, 64.1%).

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/ number grade.	4 (1.7%)	5 (2.1%)	10 (4.3%)	53 (22.7%)	92 (39.5%)	69 (29.6%)
Report card grades reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior, and motivation.	8 (3.4%)	24 (10.3%)	26 (11.2%)	71 (30.5%)	78 (33.5%)	26 (11.2%)
Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn.	5 (2.1%)	26 (11.2%)	38 (16.3%)	110 (47.2%)	46 (19.7%)	8 (3.4%)
Grades allow parents to clearly understand and support the learning process.	8 (3.4%)	32 (13.7%)	59 (25.3%)	69 (29.6%)	57 (24.5%)	8 (3.4%)

Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Teacher Communication

Note in Table 9, when compared to the whole sample, the whole group respondents (M = 3.85, SD = .55) were similar to the mean for Parent Communication for those using a standards-

based report card (M = 3.87, SD = .52). When compared to the whole sample, the whole group respondents (M = 3.85, SD = .55) were similar to the mean for Parent Communication for those using a standards-based report card (M = 3.87, SD = .52) as reflected in Table 9. Responding to the survey regarding standards-based reporting and teacher communication were 217 teachers. Table 9

Item	N	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	<i>M</i> Standards- Based	<i>SD</i> Standards- Based
Teacher Communication	451	3.85	.55	233	3.87	.52

Means for Using Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Teacher Communication

Table 10 contains the frequency data for respondents in schools with traditional reporting systems who addressed items of Student Mindset. The top responses by frequency were in strong agreement (N = 129, 59.4%) with, "the expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/her students." "Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners" had the next highest response with respondents (N = 112, 51.6%) who agreed. When looking at the entirety of agreement (combined somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree) these two responses were the strongest also, respectively (N = 212, 97.7%; N = 208, 95.9%), along with "it is important for students to help create learning goals" (N = 201, 92.6%).

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
The process of learning is more fascinating than the content of learning.	0 (0%)	13 (6.0%)	38 (17.5%)	56 (25.8%)	92 (42.4%)	18 (8.3%)
The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/ her students.	2 (.9%)	0 (0%)	3 (1.4%)	12 (5.5%)	71 (32.7%)	129 (59.4%)
Looking 'smart' to peers is important to student learning.	3 (1.4%)	29 (13.4%)	31 (14.3%)	90 (41.5%)	54 (24.9%)	10 (4.6%)
Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners.	0 (0%)	3 (1.4%)	6 (2.8%)	42 (19.4%)	112 (51.6%)	54 (24.9%)
It is important for students to help create learning goals.	2 (.9%)	4 (1.8%)	10 (4.6%)	54 (24.9%)	95 (43.8%)	52 (24.0%)
Incentives produce learning just as engagement produces learning.	1 (.5%)	23 (10.6%)	23 (10.6%)	84 (38.7%)	71 (32.7%)	15 (6.9%)

Traditional Reporting Systems – Mindset

When compared to the whole sample (Table 11), the respondents who used traditional reporting systems were similar between the mean for Student Mindset (M = 4.38, SD = .46) and the whole sample (M = 4.43, SD = .47). The standard deviation also indicated there was minimal variety in the responses in the area of Student Mindset for traditional report cards and for the whole sample. There were 217 teachers who worked in schools with Traditional reporting and responded to the mindset questions.

Table 11

		М	SD			
		Whole	Whole		M	SD
Item	N	Sample	Sample	N	Traditional	Traditional
Mindset	451	4.43	.47	217	4.38	.46

Means for Traditional Reporting Systems – Mindset

Table 12 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with standardsbased reporting systems with items addressing Student Mindset. The top responses by frequency agreed with, "The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/ her students" (N= 145, 62.2%). The second highest responses by frequency was "somewhat agree" (N = 116, 49.8%) to "Looking 'smart' to peers is important to student learning." Three statements demonstrated strong frequency when somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree were combined; (a) expectations of the teacher influence achievement of students (N = 228, 97.9%), (b) students are motivated when they see themselves as learners (N = 223, 95.7%), and (c) it is important for students to help create learning goals (N = 218, 93.6%).

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
The process of learning is more fascinating than the content of learning.	1 (.4%)	7 (3.0%)	21 (9.0%)	86 (36.9%)	83 (35.6%)	35 (15.0%)
The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/ her students.	1 (.4%)	1 (.4%)	3 (1.3%)	17 (7.3%)	66 (28.3%)	145 (62.2%)
Looking 'smart' to peers is important to student learning.	4 (1.7%)	29 (9.4%)	30 (12.9%)	116 (49.8%)	52 (22.3%)	9 (3.9%)
Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners.	1 (.4%)	3 (1.3%)	6 (2.6%)	34 (14.6%)	103 (44.2%)	86 (36.9%)
It is important for students to help create learning goals.	2 (.9%)	0 (0%)	13 (5.6%)	49 (21.0%)	100 (42.9%)	69 (29.6%)
Incentives produce learning just as engagement produces learning.	5 (2.1%)	19 (8.2%)	24 (10.3%)	101 (43.3%)	64 (27.5%)	20 (8.6%)

Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Mindset

When compared to the whole sample (Table 13), the standards-based respondents (M = 4.48, SD = .47) were similarly grouped around the mean for Student Mindset for whole group (M = 4.43, SD = .47). The standard deviation also indicates there was the same variety in the responses for the whole sample and for standards-based respondents in Student Mindset. There were 233 teachers who worked in schools with standards-based reporting and responded to the mindset questions.

Table 13

		М	SD		М	SD
		Whole	Whole		Standards-	Standards-
Item	N	Sample	Sample	N	Based	Based
Mindset	451	4.43	.47	233	4.48	.47

Means for Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Mindset

Table 14 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with traditional reporting systems for items addressing student assessment. The top responses by frequency were in agreement with, "Students in my classroom know their learning targets" (learning goals) (N = 108, 49.8%). "Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child" (N = 84, 38.7%) was a statement with the second highest frequency, but in the somewhat agreed column. When looking at the entirety of agreement (combined somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree), the responses for "students in my classroom know their learning targets" (learning goals) (N = 213, 98.1%) had the highest frequency.

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Students in my classroom know their learning targets (learning goals).	0 (0%)	1 (.5%)	3 (1.4%)	75 (34.6%)	108 (49.8%)	30 (13.8%)
Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child(ren).	3 (1.4%)	19 (8.8%)	30 (13.8%)	84 (38.7%)	72 (33.2%)	9 (4.1%)
Students are allowed to redo assignments/ assessments without penalty.	3 (1.4%)	30 (13.8%)	37 (17.1%)	64 (29.5%)	68 (31.3%)	15 (6.9%)

Traditional Reporting System – Assessments

When compared to the whole sample (Table 15), the traditional respondents (M = 4.26, SD = .71) were more tightly grouped around the mean for Student Mindset for whole group (M = 4.42, SD = .70). The standard deviation also indicates there was the same variety in the responses for the whole sample (M = 4.26, SD = .70) and for traditional respondents (M = 4.42, SD = .71) in Student Mindset. There were 217 teachers who worked in schools with traditional reporting systems and responded to the Assessment questions.

		<i>M</i> Whole	<i>SD</i> Whole		М	SD
Item	N	Sample	Sample	N	Traditional	Traditional
Assessment	451	4.42	.70	217	4.26	.71

Means for Tradition	l Reporting Sys	tem – Assessment
---------------------	-----------------	------------------

Table 16 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with standardsbased reporting systems with items addressing Student Mindset. The top responses by frequency were in agreement with, "Students in my classroom know their learning targets (learning goals)" (N = 132, 56.7%). The second highest set of responses by frequency was agree (N = 103, 44.2%)for "Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child." The statement about students in the classroom know learning targets (learning goals) was a statement with strong frequency when combined with somewhat agree (N = 50, 21.5%), agree (N = 132, 56.7%) and strongly agree (N = 44, 18.9%) columns for an overall response (N = 226, 97%).

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Students in my classroom know their learning targets (learning goals).	1 (.4%)	3 (1.3%)	3 (1.3%)	50 (21.5%)	132 (56.7%)	44 (18.9%)
Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child.	2 (.9%)	4 (1.7%)	20 (8.6%)	71 (30.5%)	103 (44.2%)	33 (14.2%)
Students are allowed to redo assignments/ assessments without penalty.	3 (1.3%)	12 (5.2%)	31 (13.3%)	86 (36.8%)	83 (35.6%)	18 (7.7%)

Standards-Based Reporting System – Assessment

When compared to the whole sample, the whole group respondents were more tightly grouped around the mean for Student Mindset (M = 4.42, SD = .70) than those who used standards-based reporting systems (M = 4.57, SD = .66) as presented in Table 17. The standard deviation also indicated there was more variety in the responses for the whole sample than for standards-based respondents in student mindset. There were 233 teachers who used standards-based reporting and responded to the Assessment questions.

Itom	λ7	<i>M</i> Whole	SD Whole	λ7	<i>M</i> Standards-	SD Standards-
Item	1	Sample	Sample	11	Dased	Dased
Assessment	451	4.42	.70	233	4.57	.66

Means for Standards-Based Reporting Systems – Assessment

< 3 Years and ≥ 3 Years

Table 18 contains the frequency data for those teachers with less than three years' experience who responded to items that addressed Parent Communication. The top responses by frequency were in agreement with, "Parents care about the education of their child(ren)" (N = 36, 54.5%). "Parents support educational opportunities for their children outside the school day" (N = 31, 47.0%) was a statement with the second strongest frequency in the agreement column. When looking at the entirety of agreement (combined somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree) parents caring about the education of their children (N = 62, 93.9%) led the frequency for teachers with < 3 years' experience, "formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction" (N = 60, 90.9%) was the closest in frequency for parent communication. Respondents overall disagreed with, "Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement" (N = 48, 72.7%), which is a statement that was reverse-coded in the survey. Reverse coding of a statement meant that I expected the respondents to disagree with the statement.

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Parents care about the education of their child(ren).	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	4 (6.1%)	14 (21.2%)	36 (54.5%)	12 (18.2%)
Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction.	1 (1.5%)	1 (1.5%)	4 (6.1%)	14 (21.2%)	29 (43.9%)	17 (25.8%)
Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day.	1 (1.5%)	9 (13.6%)	16 (24.2%)	31 (47.0%)	9 (13.6%)	0 (0%)
Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement.	13 (19.7%)	14 (21.2%)	21 (31.8%)	14 (21.2%)	3 (4.5%)	1 (1.5%)

Frequency Data for Teachers with < 3 Years	'Experience – Parent Communication
--	------------------------------------

When compared to the whole sample (Table 19), the respondents who had < 3 years' experience were more tightly grouped around the mean for parent communication (M = 4.52, SD = .54) than for the whole sample (M = 4.56, SD = .63). The standard deviation also indicated there was more variety in the responses in the area of parent communication than for the whole

sample than for those with < 3 years' experience. There were 66 teachers who worked in schools with < 3 years' experience and responded to the Parent Communication questions.

Table 19

Means for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Parent Communication

Item	N	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	Ν	<i>M</i> <3 years Experience	<i>SD</i> <3 years Experience
Parent Communication	451	4.56	.63	66	4.52	.54

Table 20 contains the frequency data for those teachers with \geq 3 years' experience who responded to items that addressed Parent Communication. The top responses by frequency were in agreement, "Parents care about the education of their child(ren)" (N = 210, 54.7%). The second highest responses by frequency was "somewhat agree" (N = 170, 44.3%) to "Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day." The statements "Parents care about the education of their child(ren) outside of the school day." The statements "Parents care about the education of their child(ren) (N = 361, 94%) and "Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction" (N = 347, 90.4%), offered the strongest frequencies when scores for somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree were combined. When somewhat disagree, disagree, and strongly disagree were combined, respondents disagreed with "Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement" (N = 257, 65.9%). As mentioned before, this was a reverse-coded statement with which Kohn (2011) and O'Connor and Wormelli (2011) also disagreed.

Statement	Strongly Disagree N	Disagree N	Somewhat Disagree N	Somewhat Agree N	Agree N	Strongly Agree N
Statement Demente deme	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
about the education of	6 (1.6%)	7 (1.8%)	10 (2.6%)	77 (20.1%)	210 (54.7%)	74 (19.3%)
child(ren). Formative,						
ongoing	4	15	18	70	160	117
assessments are key elements of instruction. Parents support	(1.0%)	(3.9%)	(4.7%)	(18.2%)	(41.7%)	(30.5%)
educational	11	40	87	170	62	14
opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day. Test scores are	(2.9%)	(10.4%)	(22.7%)	(44.3%)	(16.1%)	(3.6%)
accurate	62	97	98	117	10	0
measures of student	(16.1%)	(25.3%)	(25.5%)	(30.5%)	(2.6%)	(0%)
acmevement.						

Frequency Data for Teachers with \geq 3 Years' Experience – Parent Communication

When compared to the whole sample (M = 4.56, SD = .63), respondents with ≥ 3 years' experience were similarly grouped around the mean for Parent Communication (M = 4.57, SD = .64). The standard deviation also indicated there was almost no variety in the responses for the whole sample and for respondents with ≥ 3 years' experience in Parent Communication (Table 21). There were 384 teachers who worked in schools with ≥ 3 years' experience and responded to the Parent Communication questions.

Item	N	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	$M \ge 3$ years	<i>SD</i> ≥3 years
Parent Communication	451	4.56	.63	384	4.57	.64

Means for Teachers with \geq 3 *Years' Experience* – *Parent Communication*

Table 22 contains the frequency data for those teachers with < 3 years' experience who responded to items that addressed Teacher Communication. The top response by frequency was somewhat in agreement with, "Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn" (N = 30, 45.5%). When looking at the entirety of agreement (somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree combined), the strongest response (N = 59, 89.4%) was for "Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/number grade."
Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/ number grade.	0 (0%)	1 (1.5%)	6 (9.1%)	16 (24.2%)	21 (31.8%)	22 (33.3%)
Report card grades reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior, and motivation.	4 (6.1%)	6 (9.1%)	6 (9.1%)	18 (27.3%)	23 (34.8%)	9 (13.6%)
Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn.	2 (3.0%)	7 (10.6%)	14 (21.2%)	30 (45.5%)	10 (15.2%)	3 (4.5%)
Grades allow parents to clearly understand and support the learning process	6 (9.1%)	6 (9.1%)	17 (25.8%)	19 (28.8%)	16 (24.2%)	2 (3.0%)

Frequency Data for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Teacher Communication

When compared to the whole sample (Table 23), the respondents with < 3 years' experience not as tightly grouped in the mean for teacher communication (M = 3.93, SD = .60) than for the whole sample (M = 3.85, SD = .55). The standard deviation indicated there was quite

a variety in the responses in the area of Teacher Communication for those teachers with < 3 years' experience and for the whole sample (Table 23). There were 66 teachers who worked in schools with < 3 years' experience and responded to the Teacher Communication questions. Table 23

Item	Ν	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	<i>M</i> <3 years	<i>SD</i> <3 years
Teacher Communication	451	3.85	.55	66	3.93	.60

Means for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Teacher Communication

Table 24 contains the frequency data for those with ≥ 3 years' experience who responded to items that addressed Teacher Communication. The top response by frequency was somewhat agree with, "Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn" (N = 184, 47.9%). "Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/number grade" (N = 156, 40.6%) was the statement with the second highest frequencies. When scores for somewhat agree (N = 94, 24.5%), agree (N = 156, 40.6%) and strongly agree (N = 104, 27.1%) were combined, the highest frequencies followed the statement "Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/number grade" (N = 354, 92.2%).

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/ number grade.	7 (1.8%)	8 (2.1%)	15 (3.9%)	94 (24.5%)	156 (40.6%)	104 (27.1%)
Report card grades reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior, and motivation.	14 (3.6%)	38 (9.9%)	68 (17.7%)	134 (34.9%)	103 (26.8%)	27 (7.0%)
Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn.	9 (2.3%)	42 (10.9%)	63 (16.4%)	184 (47.9%)	73 (19.0%)	13 (3.4%)
Grades allow parents to clearly understand and support the learning process.	18 (4.7%)	61 (15.9%)	82 (21.4%)	139 (36.2%)	74 (19.3%)	10 (2.6%)

Frequency Data for Teachers with ≥ 3 Years' Experience – Teacher Communication

When compared to the whole sample, the whole group respondents (M = 3.85, SD = .55) were similar (Table 25) to the mean for Teacher Communication for those with ≥ 3 years' experience (M = 3.84, SD = .54). The standard deviation indicated there was minimal variety in the responses in the area of Teacher Communication for those teachers with ≥ 3 years' experience and for the whole sample (Table 25). There were 66 teachers who worked in schools with \geq 3 years' experience and responded to the Teacher Communication questions.

Table 25

Means for Teachers with \geq 3 *Years' Experience* – *Teacher Communication*

Item	N	M Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	$\frac{M}{\geq 3 \text{ years}}$	<i>SD</i> ≥3 years
Teacher Communication	451	3.85	.55	384	3.84	.54

Table 26 contains the frequency data for those with < 3 years' experience who responded to items about student mindset. The top responses by frequency were in strong agreement (N = 39, 59.1%), "The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/her students." Respondents agreed with "Looking 'smart' to peers is important to student learning" had the next highest response (N = 30, 45.5%). When looking at the entirety of agreement (somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree were combined), the response regarding the expectations of the teacher influencing the achievement of students was the strongest (N = 65, 98.5%). The next highest frequencies when all agreement options were combined were "Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners" (N = 62, 93.9%), along with "It is important for students to help create learning goals" (N = 61, 93.4%).

	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
The process of learning is more fascinating than the content of learning.	0 (0%)	3 (4.5%)	9 (13.6%)	22 (33.3%)	24 (36.4%)	8 (12.1%)
The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/ her students.	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (1.5%)	4 (6.1%)	22 (33.3%)	39 (59.1%)
Looking 'smart' to peers is important to student learning.	1 (1.5%)	10 (15.2%)	8 (12.1%)	30 (45.5%)	15 (22.7%)	2 (3.0%)
Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners.	0 (0%)	2 (3.0%)	2 (3.0%)	12 (18.2%)	26 (39.4%)	24 (36.0%)
It is important for students to help create learning goals.	0 (0%)	1 (1.5%)	4 (6.1%)	16 (24.2%)	28 (42.4%)	17 (25.8%)
Incentives produce learning just as engagement produces learning.	1 (1.5%)	4 (6.1%)	6 (9.1%)	24 (36.4%)	23 (34.8%)	8 (12.1%)

Frequency Data for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Mindset

When compared to the whole sample, those teachers with < 3 years' experience were more tightly clustered for the mean for student mindset (M = 4.37, SD = .46) than for the whole sample (M = 4.43, SD = .47). The standard deviation indicated there was minimal variety in the responses in the area of student mindset for those teachers with < 3 years' experience and for the whole sample (Table 27). There were 66 teachers who worked in schools with < 3 years' experience and responded to the mindset questions.

Table 27

Mean for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Mindset

Item	N	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	Ν	<i>M</i> <3 years	<i>SD</i> <3 years
Mindset	451	4.43	.47	66	4.37	.46

Table 28 contains the frequency data for those with \geq 3 years' experience who responded to items that addressed Student Mindset. The top responses by frequency were in agreement with, "The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/her students" (N = 235, 61.2%). The second highest responses by frequency was in "agree" (N = 189, 49.2%) to "Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners." Three statements demonstrated strong frequency when somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree scores were combined; (a) expectations of the teacher influence achievement of students (N = 374, 97.4%), (b) students are motivated when they see themselves as learners (N = 369, 96.1%), and (c) it is important for students to help create learning goals (N = 358, 93.2%).

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
The process of learning is more fascinating than the content of learning.	1 (.3%)	17 (4.4%)	50 (13.0%)	120 (31.3%)	151 (39.3%)	45 (11.7%)
The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/ her students.	3 (.8%)	1 (.3%)	5 (1.3%)	25 (6.5%)	115 (29.9%)	235 (61.2%)
Looking 'smart' to peers is important to student learning.	6 (1.6%)	41 (10.7%)	53 (13.8%)	176 (45.8%)	91 (23.7%)	17 (4.4%)
Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners.	1 (.3%)	4 (1.0%)	10 (2.6%)	64 (16.7%)	189 (49.2%)	116 (30.2%)
It is important for students to help create learning goals.	4 (1.0%)	3 (.8%)	19 (4.9%)	87 (22.7%)	167 (43.5%)	104 (27.1%)
Incentives produce learning just as engagement produces learning.	5 (1.3%)	38 (9.9%)	41 (10.7%)	161 (41.9%)	112 (29.2%)	27 (7.0%)

Frequency Data for Teachers with ≥ 3 Years' Experience – Mindset

When compared to the whole sample (Table 29), the respondents with \geq 3 years' experience (*M* = 4.44, *SD* = .47) were similarly grouped around the mean for Student Mindset

with the whole group (M = 4.43, SD = .47). The standard deviation also indicated there was the same variety in the responses for the whole sample and for those with ≥ 3 years' experience in the area of Student Mindset. There were 384 teachers who worked in schools with ≥ 3 years' experience and responded to the mindset questions.

Table 29

Means for Teachers With \geq 3 *Years' Experience* – *Mindset*

Item	N	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	$M \ge 3$ years	$SD \ge 3$ years
Mindset	451	4.43	.47	384	4.44	.47

Table 30 contains the frequency data for those teachers with < 3 years' experience who responded to items that addressed student assessment. The top responses by frequency were in agreement with, "Students in my classroom know their learning targets" (learning goals) (N = 41, 62.1%). "Students are allowed to redo assignments/assessments without penalty" (N = 30, 45.5%) had the second highest frequency of somewhat agree. When looking at the entirety of agreement (somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree scores were combined), the responses for "Students in my classroom know their learning targets" (learning goals) (N = 65, 98.5%) had the highest frequency.

	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Students in my classroom know their learning targets (learning goals).	0 (0%)	1 (1.5%)	0 (0%)	14 (21.2%)	41 (62.1%)	10 (15.2%)
Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child.	2 (3.0%)	3 (4.5%)	7 (10.6%)	20 (30.3%)	29 (43.9%)	5 (7.6%)
Students are allowed to redo assignments/ assessments without penalty.	2 (3.0%)	5 (7.6%)	9 (13.6%)	30 (45.5%)	14 (21.2%)	6 (9.1%)

Frequency Data for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Assessment

When compared to the whole sample (Table 31), teachers with < 3 years' experience (M = 4.40, SD = .67) were very similarly grouped around the mean for Assessment for whole group (M = 4.42, SD = .70). The standard deviation also indicated there was some variety in the responses for the whole sample (M = 4.42, SD = .70) and for respondents with < 3 years' experience (M = 4.40, SD = .67) in the area of Assessment. There were 66 teachers who worked in schools with < 3 years' experience and responded to the student assessment questions.

		M Whole	<i>SD</i> Whole		M	SD
Item	N	Sample	Sample	N	< 3 years	< 3 years
Assessment	451	4.42	.70	66	4.40	.67

Means for Teachers with < 3 Years' Experience – Assessment

Table 32 contains the frequency data for those teachers with \geq 3 years' experience who responded to items that addressed Assessment. The top responses by frequency were in agreement with, "Students in my classroom know their learning targets" (learning goals) (N = 199, 51.8%). The second highest set of responses by frequency was agreement (N = 146, 38.0%) to "Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child." The statement about students in the classroom knowing learning targets (learning goals) was a statement with strong frequency when combined with somewhat agree (N = 111, 28.9%), agree (N = 199, 51.8%) and strongly agree (N = 64, 16.7%) with an overall response (N = 374, 97.4%).

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Students in my classroom know their learning targets (learning goals).	1 (.3%)	3 (.8%)	6 (1.6%)	111 (28.9%)	199 (51.8%)	64 (16.7%)
Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child.	3 (.8%)	20 (5.2%)	43 (11.2%)	135 (35.2%)	146 (38.0%)	37 (9.6%)
Students are allowed to redo assignments/ assessments without penalty.	4 (1.0%)	37 (9.6%)	59 (15.4%)	120 (31.3%)	137 (35.7%)	27 (7.0%)

Frequency Data for Teachers with ≥ 3 Years' Experience – Assessment

When compared to the whole sample (Table 33), the whole group respondents (M = 4.42, SD = .70) and the respondents with ≥ 3 years' experience (M = 4.42, SD = .71) were tightly grouped around the mean for Assessment. The standard deviation also indicated there was little variety in the responses for the whole sample and for respondents with ≥ 3 years' experience in the area of assessment. There were 384 teachers who worked in schools with ≥ 3 years' experience who responded to the Assessment questions.

Item	N	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	M \geq 3 years	<i>SD</i> ≥3 years
Assessment	451	4.42	.70	384	4.42	.71

Means for Teachers with \geq 3 *Years' Experience* – *Assessment*

Free/Reduced Lunch

Table 34 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with < 35% free/reduced lunch for items addressing Parent Communication. The top responses by frequency were in agreement with, "Parents care about the education of their child(ren)" (N = 51, 56.0%). "Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day" (N = 47, 51.6%) was a statement with the second highest frequency, but was in the somewhat agree column. When looking at the entirety of agreement (somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree combined), the strongest responses were to "Parents care about the education of their children" (N = 86, 94.5%) and "Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction" (N = 84, 92.3%). Respondents overall disagreed (strongly disagree, disagree, and somewhat disagree combined) with, "Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement" (N = 53, 58.2%), which was a statement with which Kohn (2011) and O'Connor and Wormelli (2011) also disagreed. This is because the statement as presented to respondents was reverse-coded, or a statement made in the opposite of the research cited.

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Parents care about the education of their child(ren).	1 (1.1%)	1 (1.1%)	3 (3.3%)	7 (7.7%)	51 (56.0%)	28 (30.8%)
Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction.	1 (1.1%)	0 (0%)	6 (6.6%)	15 (16.5%)	34 (37.4%)	35 (38.5%)
Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day.	0 (0%)	7 (7.7%)	8 (8.8%)	47 (51.6%)	23 (25.3%)	6 (6.6%)
Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement.	8 (8.8%)	18 (19.8%)	27 (29.7%)	33 (36.3%)	4 (4.4%)	1 (1.1%)

	Frequency Data	for Free/Reduced	l Lunch – Parent	Communication
--	----------------	------------------	------------------	---------------

When compared to the whole sample (Table 35), the respondents for the whole sample (M = 4.56, SD = .63) were more tightly grouped around the mean for Parent Communication than were those with < 35% free/reduced lunch (M = 4.79, SD = .59). The standard deviation also indicated there was more variety in the responses in the area of Parent Communication for those in the whole sample than for those with < 35% free/reduced lunch. There were 91 teachers

who worked in schools with < 35% free/reduced lunch who responded to the assessment questions.

Table 35

Means for Free/Reduced Lunch – Parent Communication

Item	N	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	<i>M</i> Parent Communication	<i>SD</i> Parent Communication
<35% Free/ Reduced	451	4.56	.63	91	4.79	.59

Table 36 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with \geq 50% free/reduced lunch for items addressing Parent Communication. The top responses by frequency were in agreement with, "Parents care about the education of their child(ren)" (N = 116, 50.4%). The second highest responses by frequency was agree (N = 103, 44.8%) for "Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction." "Parents care about the education of their child(ren)" (N = 212, 92.8%) was a statement with strong frequency when combined with somewhat agree (N = 62, 27%), agree (N = 116, 50.4%) and strongly agree (N = 34, 14.8%). Respondents overall disagreed (strongly disagree, disagree, and somewhat disagree combined) with, "Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement" (N = 162, 70.4%), which is a statement with which Kohn (2011) and O'Connor and Wormelli (2011) also disagreed. This is because the statement as presented to respondents was reverse-coded, or a statement made in the opposite of the research cited.

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Parents care about the education of their child(ren).	4 (1.7%)	6 (2.6%)	8 (3.5%)	62 (27.0%)	116 (50.4%)	34 (14.8%)
Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction.	2 (.9%)	12 (5.2%)	14 (6.1%)	42 (18.3%)	103 (44.8%)	57 (24.8%)
Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day.	9 (3.9%)	33 (14.3%)	62 (27.0%)	93 (40.4%)	29 (12.6%)	4 (1.7%)
Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement.	45 (19.6%)	60 (26.1%)	57 (24.8%)	61 (26.5%)	7 (3.0%)	0 (0%)

Frec	quency	Data	for	≥ 50)%	Free/	Red	luced	Lunch	′ı−.	Parent	Comn	iunic	atio	n
------	--------	------	-----	-----------	----	-------	-----	-------	-------	------	--------	------	-------	------	---

When compared to the whole sample (Table 37), the \geq 50% free/reduced lunch respondents (M = 4.43, SD = .65) were more tightly grouped around the mean for Parent Communication than those for the whole group (M = 4.56, SD = .63). The standard deviation also indicated there was little variety in the responses for the whole sample and \geq 50% free/reduced lunch in the area of Parent Communication. There were 230 teachers who worked in schools with \geq 50% free/reduced lunch who responded to the Parent Communication questions.

Table 37

Means for \geq 50% *Free/Reduced Lunch* – *Parent Communication*

Item	Ν	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	<i>M</i> Parent Communication	<i>SD</i> Parent Communication
≥50% Free/ Reduced Lunch	451	4.56	.63	230	4.43	.65

Table 38 contains the frequency data for those respondents with < 35% free/reduced Lunch with items that addressed Teacher Communication. The top response by frequency was somewhat agreed for, "Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/ number grade" (N = 48, 52.7%). "Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn" (N = 42, 46.2%) was the second strongest as measured by frequency for respondents with < 35%free/reduced lunch that addressed items of Teacher Communication. When looking at the entirety of agreement (somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree were combined) the strongest response (N = 88, 96.7%) was to "Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/number grade."

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/ number grade.	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	3 (3.3%)	15 (16.5%)	48 (52.7%)	25 (27.5%)
Report card grades reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior, and motivation.	3 (3.3%)	8 (8.8%)	15 (16.5%)	32 (35.2%)	24 (26.4%)	9 (9.9%)
Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn.	0 (0%)	13 (14.3%)	17 (18.7%)	42 (46.2%)	15 (16.5%)	4 (4.4%)
Grades allow parents to clearly understand and support the learning process.	2 (2.2%)	15 (16.5%)	20 (22.0%)	29 (31.9%)	21 (23.1%)	4 (4.4%)

< 35% Free/Reduced Lunch – Teacher Communication

When compared to respondents < 35% free/reduced lunch (M = 3.90, SD = .49), the whole sample responses (M = 3.85, SD = .55) were more tightly clustered around the mean for Teacher Communication (Table 39). The standard deviation also indicated there was more variety in the responses for the whole sample than for those with < 35% free/reduced lunch in the

area of Teacher Communication. There were 91 teachers who worked in schools with < 35% free/reduced lunch who responded to the teacher communication questions.

Table 39

Item	N	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	<i>M</i> Teacher Communication	<i>SD</i> Teacher Communication
<35%	451	3.85	.55	91	3.90	.49

Means for < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch – Teacher Communication

Table 40 contains the frequency data for those respondents with \geq 50% free/reduced lunch for items that addressed Teacher Communication. The top response by frequency agreed with "Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn" (N = 111, 48.3%). "Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/number grade" (N = 209, 90.9%) was a statement with strong frequency when somewhat agree (N = 53, 22.7%), agree (N = 92, 39.5%) and strongly agree (N = 69, 29.6%) scores were combined.

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/ number grade.	4 (1.7%)	5 (2.2%)	12 (5.2%)	64 (27.8%)	83 (36.1%)	62 (27.0%)
Report card grades reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior, and motivation.	10 (4.3%)	20 (8.7%)	38 (16.5%)	80 (34.8%)	65 (28.3%)	17 (7.4%)
Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn.	9 (3.9%)	21 (9.1%)	40 (17.4%)	111 (48.3%)	42 (18.3%)	7 (3.0%)
Grades allow parents to clearly understand and support the learning process.	15 (6.5%)	36 (15.7%)	44 (19.1%)	85 (37.0%)	45 (19.6%)	5 (2.2%)

Frequency Data for \geq 50% *Free/Reduced Lunch* – *Teacher Communication*

When compared to the whole sample (Table 41), the whole group respondents (M = 3.85, SD = .55) were similar to the mean for Teacher Communication for those with $\ge 50\%$ Free/Reduced Lunch (M = 3.85, SD = .56). The standard deviation also indicated there was little variety in the responses for the whole sample and $\ge 50\%$ free/reduced lunch in the area of Teacher Communication. There were 230 teachers who worked in schools with $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch and responded to the Teacher Communication questions.

Table 41

Means for \geq 50% *Free/ Reduced Lunch – Teacher Communication*

Item	N	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	<i>M</i> Teacher Communication	<i>SD</i> Teacher Communication
≥50% Free/ Reduced Lunch	451	3.85	.55	230	3.85	.56

Table 42 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with < 35%free/reduced lunch that addressed items of student mindset. The top responses by frequency were in strong agreement (N = 57, 62.6%) with "The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/her students." "Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners" had the next highest response with respondents (N = 46, 40.5%) who agreed. When looking at the entirety of agreement (somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree were combined), "The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/her students" produced the most frequency of responses (N = 90, 98.9%). There were two responses with strong responses also, "It is important for students to help create learning goals" and "Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners;" both showed the same frequencies of responses (N = 86, 94.5%).

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
The process of learning is more fascinating than the content of learning.	0 (0%)	5 (5.5%)	9 (9.9%)	32 (35.2%)	37 (40.7%)	8 (8.8%)
The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/her students.	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (1.1%)	7 (7.7%)	26 (28.6%)	57 (62.6%)
Looking 'smart' to peers is important to student learning.	3 (3.3%)	13 (14.3%)	9 (9.9%)	39 (42.9%)	22 (24.2%)	5 (5.5%)
Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners.	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	5 (5.5%)	8 (8.8%)	46 (40.5%)	32 (35.2%)
It is important for students to help create learning goals.	1 (1.1%)	1 (1.1%)	3 (3.3%)	22 (24.2%)	41 (45.1%)	23 (25.3%)
Incentives produce learning just as engagement produces learning.	1 (1.1%)	11 (12.1%)	12 (13.2%)	34 (37.4%)	26 (28.6%)	7 (7.7%)

Frequency Data for < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch – Mindset

When compared to the respondents with < 35% free/reduced lunch (M = 4.46, SD = .42), the whole sample (M = 4.43, SD = .47) was somewhat more tightly clustered around the mean for student mindset (Table 43). The standard deviation also indicated there was more variety in the responses for the whole sample than for those with < 35% free/reduced lunch in the area of student mindset. There were 91 teachers who worked in schools with < 35% free/reduced lunch who responded to the mindset questions.

Table 43

Means for < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch – Mindset

Item	N	M Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	M Mindset	<i>SD</i> Mindset
<35% Free/ Reduced Lunch	451	4.43	.47	91	4.46	.42

Table 44 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with \geq 50% free/ reduced lunch with items that addressed Student Mindset. The top responses by frequency were in somewhat agreement with, "Looking 'smart' to peers is important to student learning" (N =114, 49.6%). The second highest responses by frequency were agree (N = 116, 49.8%) for "It is important for students to help create learning goals" (N = 98, 42.6%) and "Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners" (N = 97, 42.2%). Three statements demonstrated strong frequency when somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree were combined: (a) "expectations of the teacher influence achievement of students" (N = 222, 96.5%), (b) "students are motivated when they see themselves as learners" (N = 211, 91.7%).

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)	
The process of learning is more fascinating than the content of learning.	1 (.4%)	9 (3.9%)	33 (14.3%)	65 (28.3%)	90 (39.1%)	32 (13.9%)	
The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/her students.	3 (1.3%)	1 (.4%)	4 (1.7%)	13 (5.7%)	69 (30.0%)	140 (60.9%)	
Looking 'smart' to peers is important to student learning.	2 (.9%)	30 (13.0%)	32 (13.9%)	114 (49.6%)	45 (19.6%)	7 (3.0%)	
Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners.	1 (.4%)	6 (2.6%)	4 (1.7%)	48 (20.9%)	97 (42.2%)	74 (32.2%)	
It is important for students to help create learning goals.	3 (1.3%)	2 (.9%)	14 (6.1%)	54 (23.5%)	98 (42.6%)	59 (25.7%)	
Incentives produce learning just as engagement produces learning.	4 (1.7%)	20 (8.7%)	25 (10.9%)	94 (40.9%)	66 (28.7%)	21 (9.1%)	

Frequency Data for \geq 50% Free/Reduced Lunch – Mindset

When compared to the respondents with $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch (M = 4.39, SD = .48), the whole sample (M = 4.43, SD = .47) was somewhat more tightly clustered around the mean for Student Mindset (Table 45). The standard deviation indicated there was little variety in the responses for the whole sample than for those with $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch in the area of Student Mindset. There were 230 teachers who worked in schools with $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch who responded to the mindset questions.

Table 45

Means for \geq 50% *Free/Reduced Lunch* – *Mindset*

Item	Ν	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	Ν	<i>M</i> Mindset	<i>SD</i> Mindset
≥ 50% Free/ Reduced Lunch	451	4.43	.47	230	4.39	.48

Table 46 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with < 35%free/reduced lunch with items that addressed student assessment. The top responses by frequency agreed with the statement, "Students in my classroom know their learning targets" (learning goals) (N = 43, 47.3%). "Students in my classroom know their learning targets" (learning goals) (N = 35, 38.5%) was the same statement and had the second highest frequency, but was scored as somewhat agree. When looking at the entirety of agreement (somewhat agree, agree, and strongly agree were combined), the responses for "Students in my classroom know their learning targets" (learning goals) (N = 88, 96.7%) had the highest frequency.

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Students in my classroom know their learning targets (learning goals).	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	2 (2.2%)	35 (38.5%)	43 (47.3%)	11 (12.1%)
Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child.	1 (1.1%)	7 (7.7%)	11 (12.1%)	28 (30.8%)	33 (36.3%)	11 (12.1%)
Students are allowed to redo assignments/ assessments without penalty.	3 (3.3%)	10 (11.0%)	11 (12.1%)	30 (33.0%)	32 (35.2%)	5 (5.5%)

Frequency Data for < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch – Assessment

When compared to the whole sample (Table 47), the respondents from schools with < 35% free/reduced lunch (M = 4.34, SD = .77) were more tightly grouped around the mean for Assessment than the whole group (M = 4.42, SD = .70). The standard deviation also indicated there was the more variety in the responses for < 35% free/reduced lunch (M = 4.34, SD = .77) than for the whole sample (M = 4.42, SD = .70) in Student Mindset. There were 91 teachers who worked in schools with < 35% free/reduced lunch who responded to the assessment questions.

Item	N	<i>M</i> Whole Sample	<i>SD</i> Whole Sample	N	<i>M</i> Assessment	SD Assessment
<35% Free/ Reduced Lunch	451	4.42	.70	91	4.34	.77

Means for <35% Free/Reduced Lunch – Assessment

Table 48 contains the frequency data for those respondents in schools with $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch with items addressing Assessment. The top responses by frequency were in agreement with, "Students in my classroom know their learning targets (learning goals)" (N =128, 55.7%). The second highest set of responses by frequency was agree (N = 90, 39.1%) to "Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child." The statement about students in the classroom knowing learning targets (learning goals) was a statement with strong frequency when combining somewhat agree (N = 56, 24.3%), agree (N = 128, 55.7%) and strongly agree (N = 40,17.4%) columns in an overall response (N = 224, 97.4%).

Statement	Strongly Disagree N (%)	Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Disagree N (%)	Somewhat Agree N (%)	Agree N (%)	Strongly Agree N (%)
Students in my classroom know their learning targets (learning goals).	1 (.4%)	2 (.9%)	3 (1.3%)	56 (24.3%)	128 55.7%)	40 (17.4%)
Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child.	2 (.9%)	11 (4.8%)	27 (11.7%)	84 (36.5%)	90 (39.1%)	16 (7.0%)
Students are allowed to redo assignments/ assessments without penalty.	3 (1.3%)	19 (8.3%)	38 (16.5%)	78 (33.9%)	78 (33.9%)	14 (6.1%)

Frequency Data for \geq 50% Free/Reduced Lunch – Mindset

When compared to the whole sample (Table 49), the whole group respondents were almost evenly grouped around the mean for Student Mindset (M = 4.42, SD = .70) than those who were in schools with $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch (M = 4.41, SD = .65). The standard deviation also indicated there was more variety in the responses for the whole sample than for those respondents in schools with $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch for student mindset. There were 230 respondents to the survey with $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch who responded to the questions on student mindset.

		M Whole	<i>SD</i> Whole		М	SD
Item	N	Sample	Sample	N	Assessment	Assessment
\geq 50% Free/						
Reduced Lunch	451	4.42	.70	230	4.41	.65

Means for \geq 50% *Free/Reduced Lunch* – *Mindset*

Inferential Data

The null hypotheses were developed and tested for each area signified by the research questions. The following represent the null hypotheses:

 H_01 . There is no significant difference on assessment composite scores based on reporting systems within schools.

 H_02 . There is no significant difference on communication composite scores based on reporting systems within schools.

 H_03 . There is no significant difference on mindset composite scores based on reporting systems within schools.

The first hypothesis was "Is there a significant difference on assessment composite scores based on reporting systems within schools?" This was initially addressed by seven research questions within the survey. After factor analysis, the pattern matrix validated three questions within the assessment grouping. They were (a) Students in my classroom know their learning targets (learning goals), (b) Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child(ren), and, (c) Students are allowed to redo assignments/assessments without penalty. Also, data collected allowed *t* test information to be compiled for both respondents with \geq 50% free/reduced population and *t* test information for respondents with < 35% free/reduced population.

Assessment and \geq 50% Free/Reduced Population

The assumptions of independent samples *t* test were examined to assure the assumptions were met. First, the examination of the box plot revealed there were no outliers since no data point was more than 1.5 standard deviations away from the edge of the box within the box plots. Therefore, there were no outliers within the dependent variables, and the assumption was met. Next the assumption of normality was inspected using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Since the *p* value was > .05, there was no violation of assumption of normality. The Levine's test for equality of variances, or homogeneity of variance, was also observed and reported, F = 2.024, p = .156. Consequently, Levine's test was not significant, the assumption of homogeneity was not violated meaning the variance between on assessment composite scores for respondents who reported $\ge 50\%$ free/reduced lunch and used either traditional or standards-based reporting systems (cards) within schools were equal to each other.

The independent samples *t* test included 121 teachers who used traditional reporting cards (M = 4.23, SD = .67) and 109 teachers who used standards-based reporting systems (M = 4.67, SD = .58). There was a significant difference found between respondents who used traditional report cards and those who used standards-based report cards, t(228) = 4.75, p < .001, two-tailed. Therefore, the null was rejected. On average, in schools with \geq 50% free/reduced lunch populations, teachers who used standards-based report cards reported higher scores on assessment statements (M = 4.62, SD = .58) than those teacher who used traditional report cards (M = 4.23, SD = .67).

Assessment and < 35%% Free/Reduced Lunch Population

The assumptions of independent samples t test were studied to assure the assumptions were met. First, the examination of the box plot revealed there were no outliers since no data

point was more than 1.5 standard deviations away from the edge of the box within the box plots. Therefore, there were no outliers within the dependent variables, and the assumption was met. Next, the assumption of normality was inspected using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Since the *p* value was > .05, there was no violation of assumption of normality. The Levine's test for homogeneity of variance was also observed and reported, F = 0.022, p = .881. Consequently, the assumption of homogeneity was not violated, meaning the variance between on assessment composite scores for respondents who reported \geq 50% free/reduced lunch used either traditional or standards-based reporting systems (cards) within schools were equal to each other.

The independent samples *t* test included 40 teachers using traditional reporting cards (M = 4.08, SD = .75), and 51 teachers used standards-based reporting systems (M = 4.54, SD = .72). There was a significant difference found between respondents who used traditional report cards and those who used standards-based report cards, t(89) = 3.00, p = .003, two-tailed. Therefore, the null was rejected. On average, in schools with < 35% free/reduced lunch populations, teachers who used standards-based report cards reported higher scores on assessment statements (M = 4.54, SD = .72) than those who used traditional report cards (M = 4.08, SD = .75).

The second null hypothesis was "Is there a significant difference on communication composite scores based on reporting systems within schools?" Communication was initially addressed by seven research questions within the survey. After factor analysis, the pattern matrix validated four questions within the Communication from the Parent viewpoint. They were; (a) Parents care about the education of their child(ren), (b) Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction, (c) Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day, and (5) Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement. After factor analysis, the pattern matrix also validated four questions within the

Communication from teacher viewpoint. They were: (a) Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/number grade; (b) Report card grades reflect academic achievement, behavior, and motivation; (c) Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn; and (d) Grades allow parents to clearly understand and support the learning process. Also, data collected allowed for compilation of *t* test information for both respondents with \geq 50% free/reduced lunch population and for respondents with < 35% free/reduced lunch population.

Parent Communication and ≥ 50% Free/Reduced Lunch Population

The assumptions of independent samples *t* test were studied to assure the assumptions were met. First, the examination of the box plot revealed there were no outliers since no data point was more than 1.5 standard deviations away from the edge of the box within the box plots. Therefore, there were no outliers within the dependent variables, and the assumption was met. Next, the assumption of normality was inspected using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Since the *p* value was > .05, there was no violation of assumption of normality. The Levine's test for equality of variances, or homogeneity of variance, was also observed and reported, F = 2.668, p = .104. Consequently, Levine's test was not significant, the assumption of homogeneity was not violated, meaning the variance between on assessment composite scores for respondents who reported $\ge 50\%$ free/reduced lunch using either traditional or standards-based reporting systems (cards) within schools were equal to each other.

The independent samples *t* test included 121 teachers who used traditional reporting cards (M = 4.34, SD = .68), and 109 teachers who used standards-based reporting systems (M = 4.53, SD = .60). There was a significant difference found between respondents who used traditional report cards and those who used standards-based report cards, t(228) = 2.23, p = .027, two-tailed. Therefore, the null was rejected. On average, in schools with $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch

populations, teachers who used standards-based report cards reported higher scores on parent communication statements (M = 4.53, SD = .60) than those who used traditional report cards (M = 4.34, SD = .68).

Parent Communication and < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch Population

The assumptions of independent samples *t* test were studied to assure the assumptions were met. First, the examination of the box plot revealed there were no outliers since no data point was more than 1.5 standard deviations away from the edge of the box within the box plots. Therefore, there were no outliers within the dependent variables, and the assumption was met. Next, the assumption of normality was inspected using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Since the *p* value was > .05, there was no violation of assumption of normality. The Levine's test for equality of variances, or homogeneity of variance, was also observed and reported, F = 1.188, p = .279. Consequently, Levine's test was not significant, the assumption of homogeneity was not violated, meaning the variance between on assessment composite scores for respondents who reported $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch used either traditional or standards-based reporting systems (cards) within schools were equal to each other.

The independent samples *t* test included 40 teachers who used traditional reporting cards (M = 4.88, SD = .54), and 51 teachers who used standards-based reporting systems (M = 4.72, SD = .62). There was not a significant difference found between respondents who used traditional report cards and those who used standards-based report cards, t(89) = 1.29, p = .202, two-tailed. Since the *p* value was > .05, the difference could be due to chance. Therefore, the null was not rejected. On average, in schools with $\ge 50\%$ free/reduced lunch populations, teachers who used traditional report cards report cards report cards report cards not seement.

statements (M = 4.88, SD = .54) than those who used standards-based report cards (M = 4.72, SD = .62).

Teacher Communication and ≥ 50% Free/Reduced Lunch Population

The assumptions of independent samples *t* test were studied to assure the assumptions were met. First, the examination of the box plot revealed there were no outliers since no data point was more than 1.5 standard deviations away from the edge of the box within the box plots. Therefore, there were no outliers within the dependent variables and the assumption was met. Next, the assumption of normality was inspected using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Since the *p* value was > .05, there was no violation of assumption of normality. The Levine's test for equality of variances, or homogeneity of variance, was also observed and reported, F = 1.990, p = .160. Consequently, Levine's test was not significant, the assumption of homogeneity was not violated, meaning the variance between assessment composite scores for respondents who reported $\ge 50\%$ free/reduced lunch used either traditional or standards-based reporting systems (cards) within schools were equal to each other.

The independent samples *t* test included 121 teachers who used traditional reporting cards (M = 3.76, SD = .59), and 109 teachers who used standards-based reporting systems (M = 3.95, SD = .51). There was a significant difference found between respondents who used traditional report cards and those who used standards-based report cards, t(228) = 2.67, p = .008, two-tailed. Therefore, the null was rejected. On average, in schools with $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch populations, teachers who used standards-based report cards reported higher scores on teacher communication statements (M = 3.95, SD = .51) than those who used traditional report cards (M = 3.76, SD = .59).

Teacher Communication and < 35% Free/Reduced Lunch Population

The assumptions of independent samples *t* test were studied to assure the assumptions were met. First, the examination of the box plot revealed there were no outliers since no data point was more than 1.5 standard deviations away from the edge of the box within the box plots. Therefore, there were no outliers within the dependent variables, and the assumption was met. Next, the assumption of normality was inspected using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Since the *p* value was > .05, there was no violation of assumption of normality. The Levine's test for equality of variances, or homogeneity of variance, was also observed and reported, F = .77, p = .394. Consequently, Levine's test was not significant, the assumption of homogeneity was not violated, meaning the variance between on assessment composite scores for respondents who reported < 35% free/reduced lunch used either traditional or standards-based reporting systems (cards) within schools were equal to each other.

The independent samples *t* test included 40 teachers who used traditional reporting cards (M = 4.03, SD = .44), and 51 teachers who used standards-based reporting systems (M = 3.79, SD = .51). There was a significant difference found between respondents who used traditional report cards and those who used standards-based report cards, t(89) = 2.39, p = .019, two-tailed. Therefore, the null was rejected. On average, in schools with < 35% free/reduced lunch populations, teachers who used standards-based report cards reported lower scores on teacher communication statements (M = 3.79, SD = .51) than those who used traditional report cards (M = 4.03, SD = .44).

The third null hypothesis was "Is there a significant difference on mindset composite scores based on reporting systems within schools?" This was initially addressed by seven research questions within the survey. After factor analysis, the pattern matrix validated six

questions within the mindset grouping. They were; (a) The process of learning is more fascinating than the content of learning, (b) The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/her students, (c) Looking "smart" to peers is important to student learning, (d) Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners, (e) It is important for students to help create learning goals, and (f) Incentives produce learning just as engagement produces learning. Also, data collected allowed for compiling *t* test information for both respondents with \geq 50% free/reduced lunch population and *t* test information for respondents with < 35% free/reduced lunch population.

Mindset and ≥ 50% Free/Reduced Lunch Population

The assumptions of independent samples tests were studied to assure the assumptions were met. First, the examination of the box plot revealed there were no outliers since no data point was more than 1.5 standard deviations away from the edge of the box within the box plots. Therefore, there were no outliers within the dependent variables, and the assumption was met. Next, the assumption of normality was inspected using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Since the *p* value was > .05, there was no violation of assumption of normality. The Levine's test for equality of variances, or homogeneity of variance, was also observed and reported, F = .081, p = .776. Consequently, Levine's test was not significant, the assumption of homogeneity was not violated, meaning the variance between on assessment composite scores for respondents who reported \geq 50% free/reduced lunch used either traditional or standards-based reporting systems (cards) within schools were equal to each other.

The independent samples *t* test included 121 teachers who used traditional reporting cards (M = 4.32, SD = .46), and 109 teachers who used standards-based reporting systems (M = 4.48, SD = .50). There was a significant difference found between respondents who used traditional

report cards and those who used standards-based report cards, t(228) = 2.61, p = .010, two-tailed. Therefore, the null was rejected. On average, in schools with $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch populations, teachers who used standards-based report cards reported higher scores on mindset statements (M = 4.48, SD = .50) than those who used traditional report cards (M = 4.32, SD = .46).

Mindset and <35% Free/Reduced Lunch Population

The assumptions of independent samples *t* test were studied to assure the assumptions were met. First, the examination of the box plot revealed there were no outliers since no data point was more than 1.5 standard deviations away from the edge of the box within the box plots. Therefore, there were no outliers within the dependent variables, and the assumption was met. Next, the assumption of normality was inspected using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Since the *p* value was > .05, there was no violation of assumption of normality. The Levine's test for equality of variances, or homogeneity of variance, was also observed and reported, *F* = .017, *p* = .896. Consequently, Levine's test was not significant, the assumption of homogeneity was not violated, meaning the variance between on assessment composite scores for respondents who reported < 35% free/reduced lunch used either traditional or standards-based reporting systems (cards) within schools were equal to each other.

The independent samples *t* test included 40 teachers who used traditional reporting cards (M = 4.50, SD = .43), and 51 teachers who used standards-based reporting systems (M = 4.43, SD = .41). There was a significant difference found between respondents who used traditional report cards and those who used standards-based report cards, t(89) = 3.00, p < .003, two-tailed. Therefore, the null was rejected. On average, in schools with < 35% free/reduced lunch populations, teachers who used standards-based report cards reported lower scores on mindset
statements (M = 4.43, SD = .41) than those who used traditional report cards (M = 4.50, SD = .43).

Summary of Findings

In April 2015, elementary teachers who currently held positions within Indiana were surveyed. Responding to the survey were 451 current elementary teachers, 217 (48.1%) who used traditional reporting cards and 233 (51.8%) who used standards-based report cards. Data for one respondent was missing. Descriptive statistics were then analyzed to determine the relationship between the type of report cards used and teacher views of assessment, parent viewpoint of communication, teacher viewpoint of communication, and student mindset.

Teachers who used standards-based report cards reported higher scores on assessment statements than those who used traditional report cards in both schools of poverty and schools of affluence. Overall, there was a significant difference found between teachers who used traditional report cards and those who used standards-based report cards in the area of assessment, regardless of poverty level.

Communication from the viewpoint of the parent also yielded higher mean scores by teachers who used traditional report cards than those who used standards-based report cards in schools of poverty, but in schools of affluence the standards-based reporting system had a higher mean. Regarding communication from a parent's point of view, there was a significant difference between teachers who used traditional report cards and standards-based report cards with $a \ge 50\%$ free/reduced lunch status. There was no significant difference between teachers who used traditional or standards-based report cards with < 35% free/reduced lunch.

Communication from the viewpoint of the teacher also yielded higher scores by teachers who used traditional report cards than those who used standards-based report cards and < 35%

free/reduced lunch. The viewpoint of teachers regarding communication from a parental point of view was higher for those teachers who used standards-based report cards and had \geq 50% free/reduced lunch. Looking at communication from a parent's point of view, there was a significant difference between teachers who used traditional report cards and standards-based report cards whether in schools of poverty or schools of affluence.

The teacher responses to mindset showed those who used standards-based report cards with $\geq 50\%$ free/reduced lunch had a higher score than those who used traditional report cards, and those who used standards-based with < 35% free/reduced lunch had lower scores than those who used traditional report cards. Regarding student mindset, there was a significant difference between teachers who used traditional report cards and standards-based report cards with a \geq 50% free/reduced lunch status, but no significant difference between teachers who used traditional or standards-based report cards with < 35% free/reduced lunch.

Chapter 5 offers a summary of the findings expressed in the study. Implications of the findings and recommendations based on the findings are also discussed. Limitations of the study are addressed and recommendations for future research are offered. A summary of the main points of this research completes Chapter 5.

CHAPTER 5

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

This study was conducted to determine whether or not there is a significant difference between the perceptions of teachers who use traditional report cards and those who use standards-based report cards in the areas of assessment, communication, and mindset of students. Chapter 5 is divided into three major sections. The first section offers a summary of the findings in the study. The second section presents implications and recommendations based on those findings. The final section offers recommendations for future research. The three sections are then followed by a short summary of the study.

Summary of Findings

A survey was sent to 6,843 teachers who held elementary teaching licenses. Responding were 451 teachers, 217 (48.1%) who reported they used traditional reporting cards, and 233 (51.8%) who reported they used standards-based report cards. Descriptive statistics were analyzed to determine the relationship between the type of report cards used and areas of assessment, parent viewpoint of communication, teacher viewpoint of communication, and student mindset. Initially, there were only three areas of hypotheses—assessment, communication, and student mindset. However, a Cronbach's alpha test revealed a lack of internal consistency so a factor analysis was completed. The factor analysis yielded four areas in

the pattern matrix that then supported the areas of assessment and student mindset and divided communication into two viewpoints—that of the teacher and that of the parent. At that point, a *t* test was completed to determine whether there were significant differences between the two different reporting types on any of the four factors within both types of schools.

Communication from the viewpoint of the teacher was significant for both students in schools of affluence and students in schools of poverty. In the area of communication from the viewpoint of teachers, the mean for standards-based respondents (M = 3.95, SD = .51) for schools of poverty was significantly higher than the mean for traditional respondents (M = 3.76, SD = .59). Teachers of students in schools of poverty responded that standards-based grading provided better communication for the teacher than a traditional report card. When teachers worked with students in schools of poverty, those who used standards-based report cards were significantly stronger, t(228) = 2.67, p = .008) in the area of communication from a teacher viewpoint. The mean in the area of communication for schools of affluence, from the viewpoint of teachers, was higher for traditional respondents (M = 4.03, SD = .44) than for standards-based respondents (M = 3.79, SD = .51). For schools of affluence, teachers responded that traditional report cards offered better communication. When teachers worked in schools of affluence, those who used traditional report cards were significantly stronger, t(89) = 2.39, p = .019), in the area of communication from teachers viewpoints.

The findings on communication from the viewpoint of the teacher were based on replies to four statements: (a) Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/number grade (Tomlinson, 2011); (b) Report cards reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior and motivation (Guskey & Jung, 2013; Marzano & Heflebower, 2011); (c) Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn (Stiggins, 2007b; Willingham, 2002); and (d) Grades allow parents to clearly understand and support the learning process (Guskey & Jung, 2013; Kohn, 2011; Tomlinson, 2005). The respondents agreed with the statements and their responses vielded significant findings for both schools of affluence and schools of poverty. Specifically, although Stiggins (2004) and Willingham (2002) agreed that letter grades offered the incentive for students to learn, this study revealed 69% of responding teachers agreed with the statement. Tomlinson (2005) found that feedback on the letter grade helps students more than letter grades, and 91% of teacher respondents agreed. Although 58% of teachers who responded agreed letter grades allow parents to understand and support the learning process, according to research by Guskey and Jung (2012), Kohn (2011), and Tomlinson (2005), this is due to more familiarity with letter grades than actual understanding of achievement. The research suggested letter grades are a common form of communicating student achievement, because both teachers and parents are familiar with letter grades, due to their personal experiences. However, research suggested letter grades have long been used as a form of communication, although they often are meaningless insofar as communicating student achievement (Finkelstein, 1913).

For this study, the area of teacher communication had the unique distinction of having highly significant findings for traditional report cards and highly significant findings for standards-based report cards. Teachers in schools of poverty reported standards-based report cards were more effective for their students. This could be because students in schools of poverty benefit more from the breaking down of standards, both within the classroom and on a report card. Students in schools of poverty often start academically behind students in schools of affluence. Standards-based report cards identify specific learning skills students need to learn, and communicate student deficiencies with greater detail. Teachers in schools of affluence responded that traditional report cards were more effective for their students in regards to teacher communication of student achievement. One reason for this may be that affluent students typically enter school with higher skills and excel faster than students in schools of poverty, and teachers do not see a need for the breakdown of overall letter grades into skill areas.

Communication from the viewpoint of the parent was significant, t(228) = 2.23, p = .027, for schools of poverty. In the area of communication from the viewpoint of parents, the mean for standards-based respondents (M = 4.53, SD = .60) for schools of poverty was significantly higher than the mean for traditional respondents (M = 4.34, SD = .68). Teachers of students from poverty responded that standards-based report cards offered better communication, t(228) = 2.23, p = .027, from the viewpoint of parents than a traditional report card. Respondents found communication from the viewpoint of parents as not significant, t(89) = 1.29, p = .202, for schools of affluence. The mean in the area of communication for schools of affluence from the viewpoint of parents was higher for traditional respondents (M = 4.88, SD = .54) than for standards-based respondents (M = 4.72, SD = .62), but this could be contributed to chance as the difference was not significant. Teachers in schools of affluence responded that there was not a significant difference between traditional report cards and standards-based report cards, t(89) = 1.29, p = .202, regarding communication from the viewpoint of parents.

The findings on communication from the parent viewpoint were based on replies by teachers to four statements: (a) Parents care about the education of their child(ren) (Thompson, 2007); (b) Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction (Black & Wiliam, 1998; Erickson, 2011; Guskey & Jung, 2012); (c) Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside the school day (Duncan & Murane, 2014; Dweck, 2006). The fourth statement was that test scores are accurate measures of student achievement (Kohn, 2011;

O'Connor & Wormelli, 2011). This was actually a statement that was reverse-coded, and 67% of respondents disagreed with the statement, giving support to research.

Parent communication, for this study, had highly significant findings for standards-based report cards, yet no significance for traditional report cards. This may be because parents in schools of poverty benefit more from ongoing communication regarding formative growth within the classroom. They also benefit from a breakdown on the report card of specifically what skills their child(ren) are lacking in. Parents in schools of poverty want their child(ren) to succeed in school, and this breakdown offers parents the next steps to help their child(ren) succeed. Students in schools of poverty often start school academically behind students in schools of affluence due to a lack of parents knowing how to build academic success at early ages. Another reason students in schools of poverty start behind is that parents (often single parents) need to often work multiple or low paying jobs in order to support their family. Teachers of students in schools of affluence did not find significance with either reporting system. One reason for this may be that parents in schools of affluence typically have more time and resources and are able to provide more academic assistance to or for their child(ren). Resources often are in the form of time or money to provide assistance and support with academic concerns or academic enrichment opportunities that parents in schools of poverty do not have access to (Duncan & Murane, 2014).

Respondents found student mindset was significant, t(228) = 2.61, p = .010, for schools of poverty. The mean for standards-based respondents (M = 4.48, SD = .50) for schools of poverty was significantly higher than the mean for traditional respondents (M = 4.31, SD = .46). Teachers of students from poverty responded that standards-based grading impacted student mindset more than a traditional report card. Respondents did not demonstrate as a significant difference on student mindset, t(89) = 0.73, p = .467) for schools of affluence. The mean in the area of student mindset for schools of affluence was higher for traditional respondents (M = 4.50, SD = .43) than for standards-based respondents (M = 4.43, SD = .41). For schools of affluence, teachers responded that traditional report cards impacted student mindset more than standards-based report cards, yet the impact was not significant and could be attributed to chance.

The findings on mindset were based on replies to six statements: (a) The process of learning is more fascinating than the content of learning (Dweck, 2006; Pink, 2009); (b) The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/her students (Dweck, 2006; Ricci, 2013; Thompson, 2007); (c) Looking "smart" to peers is important to student learning (Ricci, 2013); (d) Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners (Dweck, 2006; Pink, 2009); (e) It is important for students to help create learning goals (O'Connor, 2009; Stiggins & Chappuis, 2005); (f) Incentives produce learning just as engagement produces learning (O'Connor, 2009; Pink, 2009). The final statement was actually a reverse-coded statement, which means that research does not support the statement that incentives produce learning just as engagement produce learning just as engagement.

Standards-based teachers responded that mindset was significant in schools of poverty but did not find mindset to be significant in schools of affluence. One reason for this could be that the expectations of the teacher are often higher in schools of affluence than in schools of poverty. Students in schools of poverty often enter with less academic skills, and although teachers have the same standards to address, teachers in schools of poverty have to provide more scaffolding and support to their students. Therefore, their expectations lower so they may see themselves and their students as successful. Their students may well have grown more than the students in schools of affluence but may not yet be academically on par with their peers.

Overall, there was a significant difference found between teachers who used standardsbased report cards and those who used traditional report cards in the area of assessment, whether students were in a school of affluence or a school of poverty. In the area of assessment for schools of poverty, the mean for standards-based respondents (M = 4.62, SD = .58) was significantly higher than the mean for traditional respondents (M = 4.23, SD = .67). The mean in the area of assessment for schools of affluence was higher for standards-based respondents (M =4.54, SD = .72) than for traditional respondents (M = 4.08, SD = .75). Assessment mean scores offered the most disparity between standards-based and traditional scores than every other set of scores, reflecting the strength of teacher respondent support for standard-based assessments.

The findings on assessment were based on replies to three statements: (a) Students in my classroom know their learning targets/goals (O'Connor, 2009; Stiggins & Chappuis, 2005); (b) Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child (O'Connor, 2009; Oliver, 2011); (c) Students are allowed to redo assignments/assessments without penalty (O'Connor, 2009). Respondents agreed with the statements and their responses yielded significant findings for both schools of affluence and schools of poverty. They also reported higher means for standards-based report cards than for traditional report cards. Whether teachers worked with students in schools of affluence or students in schools of poverty, those using standards-based report cards were significantly stronger in support of the area of assessment that agreed with the research supporting the statements. Specifically, O'Connor (2011) and Stiggins and Chappuis (2005) not only supported students and parents who know learning goals and the ability of students to redo assignments, they also support standards-based reporting as the best method to communicate learning goals and support multiple opportunities for students to demonstrate knowledge of material.

One overall findings of this study was that teachers in schools of poverty found standards-based report cards more effective for their students than traditional report cards. One reason for this could be that students in schools of poverty often struggle more with learning than do students in schools of affluence (Duncan & Murane, 2014). Standards-based reporting breaks learning into specific elements of instruction that are then used as feedback to improve student understanding. Reports to parents are broken down into more specific elements of learning that in turn provide parents with more specific progress of student achievement (O'Connor, 2009; Stiggins, 2006).

Standards-based instruction also allows teachers to more easily differentiate their teaching by breaking down standards and offering students more specific learning targets, or next steps, to improve their learning. Quinn (2012) stated, "Grades tell students how well they did in comparison to each other, but almost nothing of what they need to work on to get better" (p. 57). An important element of successful standards-based reform initiative includes grading and reporting that refers to specific learning criteria (Guskey, 2006). Diamond (2007) found that students in schools of poverty often receive more didactic instruction (lecture, seat work, memorization, recitation) than do students in schools of affluence. He encouraged addressing class achievement gaps by increasing the use of interactive forms of instruction, which is most commonly used with standards-based reforms. This study supports research that teachers of students in schools of poverty may benefit from differentiating the presentation of material. In other words, teaching in an area of poverty takes different strategies than teaching in areas of affluence in order to impact student performance and growth. Standards-based reporting supports this differentiation by reporting on specific skills rather than offering one grade for an overall area of learning.

Furthermore, this study supports research (O'Connor, 2010; Stiggins & Chappuis, 2005) citing the benefit of breaking down the standards into meaningful, specific criteria that are well-defined learning targets known by students and parents. This study suggests that formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction. Parents may see homework assignments or parent teacher conferences as pieces of this formative instruction and rely upon teachers to share this information with them. Perhaps this is the reason that feedback on a student's work is more helpful to the student that the letter or number grade by itself, according to both survey respondents and research (Tomlinson, 2011).

Student engagement in the learning process is of particular importance to students in schools of poverty. This study supports research by Dweck (2006) and Pink (2009) that suggests that incentives for learning are not as important as student engagement. An important piece of this is supported by research into the mindset of students, significantly students in schools of poverty. Teacher expectations influence the achievement of students (Dweck, 2008; Ricci, 2013) and students are motivated when they see themselves as learners. These statements are supported by research and by the respondents in this study.

Another overall finding of this study was that communication for parents and teachers of students in schools of poverty found standards-based report cards more effective than traditional report cards. For teachers of affluent students, traditional report cards were more effective than standards-based report cards. Communication of student feedback is more powerful than socioeconomic status (Reeves, 2011). According to O'Connor (2009), grades need to be based on public learning goals and standards. Standards-based reporting more clearly removes extraneous elements from the grading process than does traditional grading. According to parent viewpoint as reported by teachers, why, then, do parents of affluent students seem to trust

traditional report cards more? It could be that there is more communication taking place in affluent schools than in schools of poverty. When looking at the communication system (O'Connor, 2009), some of the more comprehensive methods of report card conferencing and other communication strategies may be more accessible to parents of affluence than parents of poverty. O'Connor (2009) offered a chart that explained communication with parents, from limited to comprehensive (Figure 2). Such things as phone calls, web pages, portfolios and exhibitions all come with an added cost, which is sometimes prohibitive to parents of students in poverty. "What is provided must not overwhelm parents" (O'Connor, 209, p. 220). Parents of students in affluence are more likely to understand the grade given on a traditional report card, or ask questions in order to understand the grade.

Limited		(\rightarrow	Compre	ehensive
Report Cards Confer- encing	G r a d e s	Brief comments on report cards	Warning or criticism which is informal	Parent/ Teacher conference without student	Expanded format on report cards	Frequent and ongoing communic ation	Confere ncing involvin g student	Confere ncing led by student
Other commu nication Strate- gies		Assessment reports that are standardized; weekly or monthly progress reports	Phone calls, notes, letters home	School Open Houses	School Web Pages	Calls home, notes, letters, assignmen ts, and homework	Port- folios, Exhibi- tions	Port- folios, Exhibi- tions

Figure 2. Communication Strategies (adapted from O'Connor, 2009, p. 220).

Yet another finding of this study was in the area of assessment. Teachers of students in schools of poverty and schools of affluence viewed assessment with standards-based report cards more effective than with traditional report cards. Standards-based report cards are based on clear

standards (O'Connor, 2009; Stiggins, 2007a). These standards are spelled out in the report card itself and break down different areas of assessment. They often also offer all stakeholders more direct means of achievement than an overall letter grade. "Students, parents, and teachers must understand not only what the grade is, they must also have sufficiently specific information that they can collaborate to use the teacher's feedback to improve student performance" (Reeves, 2011, p. 9). Stiggins (2007a) reported that when students are given a target that is clear and actionable, they are more likely to reach their target. Students benefit from knowing what they will be expected to learn and what they will be assessed on. Knowing this target gives students a better chance of hitting the target and helps the teacher develop a focus for instruction.

Implications

What implications do the findings of this study offer to educators? Overall, teachers who teach in schools of poverty see the benefits from standards-based report cards in areas of communication, student mindset, and student assessment. The results for teachers in schools of affluence seemed mixed, but they did demonstrate the belief that traditional report cards seemed to benefit them more than standards based in regard to communication from the viewpoint of the teacher. The other three areas did not demonstrate significant difference and speculation on the true feelings of teachers within schools of affluence would not be appropriate. The other three areas did not demonstrate and speculation on the true feelings of teachers within schools of affluence and speculation on the true feelings of teachers within schools of affluence and speculation on the true feelings of teachers within schools of affluence and speculation on the true feelings of teachers within schools of appropriate. Given this information, how do educators respond? There are some findings of the study that offer some actionable areas educators need to be addressing within their school community.

Communication between parents and teachers is not an option. It is assumed by educators that affluent parents care about the education of their children. According to findings

and research, parents of students in poverty also care about the education of their children. Parents of all students should know the learning goals of their child(ren). This information helps them support the learning of their child(ren). Since parents of affluence have more access to money, they often can offer their children more opportunities for learning outside of school (Duncan & Murane, 2014). This does not mean that parents of students in poverty do not care about the education of their child(ren) (Dweck, 2006). The findings of this study support that teachers believe parents care about the education of their child(ren).

The question for educators then is what actionable steps are being taken to support communication? Are parents and students aware of curricular and specifically student learning goals? Are goals offered in understandable language to parents and students? Are teachers comfortable with sharing not only where a specific child is performing with the student and with a parent, but also what the next steps for learning are? Are teachers offering feedback to parents and students? The findings of this study and other research support the idea that feedback is important to a student's growth and learning. Tomlinson (2005) found that feedback on the letter grade helps students more than letter grades, and 91% of teacher respondents agreed. Are district-level leaders providing the expectation, opportunity, and support for these conversations to occur? How often do these conversations occur? If students are expected to learn, everyone involved in their education must be prepared to offer the support and opportunity for that learning to take place. Communication needs to be ongoing to be effective; educators must be given the expectation and offered the support for this to occur.

District leaders should also examine the reporting method they support. Research suggests that grading has undergone changes throughout history. Although written feedback was the means of communication of student progress in early years, letter grades were offered as a

means of addressing an influx of students into the school system. Yet from the beginning, letter grades based on percentages were brought into question (Finklestein, 1913). For years, the mechanistic industry allowed schools to produce students accustomed to letter grades, because ranking of students was sufficient for the workforce. However, in the 21st century, meaningless letter grades (Kohn, 1999) are no longer sufficient to communicate what students are learning to students, parents, or the community students enter upon graduation. Although 58% of teachers who responded agreed letter grades allow parents to understand and support the learning process, according to research by Guskey & Jung (2012), Kohn (1999), and Tomlinson (2005), this is due to more familiarity with letter grades than actual understanding of achievement. Traditional reporting has allowed teachers and educators to accumulate a variety of sources of student work into a single omnibus grade for each skill area (Marzano & Heflebower, 2011). This omnibus grade allows student performance on skills to be combined with external factors, such as attendance, completion of assignments on time, extra credit, and extra projects to muddy the actual skill level of the student. The purpose of using standards-based grading is to align grading practices with content standards by measuring and reporting a student's proficiency (Oliver, 2011). Overall, the standards-based cards seek to remedy the omnibus grade by providing clarity regarding student achievement. District-level leaders should lead the discussion as to what they are actually communicating to their constituents and school community. Parents expect/trust the school/teacher to offer formative and ongoing assessments to their child(ren). Parents expect the assessment of their child(ren) to accurately reflect what their child(ren) knows and can do.

District and building leaders must also provide a solution to the discrepancy that often exists between letter grades and student achievement as measured by summative tests. Ongoing curriculum that is used for creating lessons for students should be offered at a district level, and that curriculum should be supported by ongoing formative assessments and should support endof-year assessments. These assessments should be clearly communicated to parents so that parents of all levels of education and income know the expectations their child(ren) are expected to attain. Is this communication an actionable part of intentional communication or a hopeful expectation? District leaders must lead their staff in making it an intentional piece of communication at all levels.

Very little discussion has been offered to educators regarding mindset. Mindset not only affects students, but mindset affects teachers and parents. Teacher expectations influence the learning of their students (Dweck, 2008). This is of particular importance to teachers in schools of poverty. If teachers expect less of their students, they accept less from their students. This is educationally dangerous, especially to students in schools of poverty. Parents of students in schools of poverty likely have less education and less means to provide academic interventions for their child(ren) outside of school (Duncane & Murane, 2014). Yet the child(ren) have the same expectations for summative assessments as other students do. It is incumbent upon teachers, especially those working with students in schools of poverty to communicate learning goals. Teachers of students in schools of poverty need different skill sets for providing instruction. Students in schools of poverty benefit from work that is more interactive with less lecture; they benefit from meaningful, specific criteria with specific next steps. Standards-based report cards offer more specific criteria than traditional report cards, and this was recognized in this study by teachers of students in schools of poverty and schools of affluence. District leaders at all levels should discuss standards-based reporting with their teachers and parents as a means to clear communication of achievement.

Educators are able to do offer learning experiences to children, yet children must make the decision to accept those opportunities. Teachers would benefit from further understanding of the mindset of students. One key piece that teachers must understand is that they must offer opportunities for students to be successful. Looking smart is important to student learning; otherwise they will shut down and learning will be shut off (Dweck, 2008; Ricci, 2013). Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners; success breeds success. If educators/teachers are able to build success into the goals for students, letting them know where they are, where they need to go, and the next step to get there, students are more likely to reach their goal (Stiggins, 2007a).

The area of student assessment in this study is specifically tied to learning goals, engagement of students, and how students are assessed. One implication for all educators is that engagement of students is key to students' learning. Students may have an inner motivation to learn which is intrinsic motivation. However, not all students have this inner motivation, and intrinsic motivation may change across time. Therefore, parents and educators turn to extrinsic motivation, or types of rewards, to learn. Extrinsic motivation can work for some students; however, it does not work for all students and/or does not work all the time. Student engagement is the key for students regardless of the form of motivation, whether intrinsic or extrinsic. The question for educators then becomes how to engage students in their learning. Some questions educators must ask themselves include, but are not limited to, these two: "How do I recognize student engagement?" and "How do I foster student engagement?"

The findings of the study have offered some pieces of student engagement that offer insight.

1. Students need to know their learning targets/learning goals.

2. Students need to be engaged in creating their personal learning goals.

3. Students should be allowed to redo assessments/ assignments without penalty. These are supported by the research of O'Connor (2009), Stiggins (2007a), and Reeves (2011). Standards-based report cards support breaking learning into areas of skill, which are reported to students and parents, rather than an overall grade for a subject as reported by traditional report cards. District leaders and educators at all levels need to look at the message their reporting system is conveying. Do students, parents, and the community understand the actual achievement presented by the current reporting system? If the answer is anything but yes, a commitment to further study of the reporting system should be undertaken.

Recommendations for Future Research

This study just touched on the impact of standards-based reporting and its possible impact for students in schools of poverty, as well as students in schools of affluence. As the standards-based reporting movement expands, it would be worthwhile to study the achievement of students in schools of poverty both with the report cards and achievement as measured by standardized tests. If standards-based reporting is truly impacting student achievement, standards-based testing should also reflect that growth.

The report offered in this study discussed parent communication; however, this is reported as seen through the eyes of the teachers. Research into communication from the actual interview of parents would be worthwhile to study. Teachers report grades to parents, but what do the parents understand the grades to mean? Do parents truly understand how their children are achieving, or are grades of current students compared to grades received by the parents when they were students? Do stakeholders view grades through the perspective of what was done to them, or is there an understanding of achievement?

Standards-based grades break down elements of learning and should offer a more direct relationship to summative, standards-based test results such as end-of-year testing. For too long, report card grades have led students/parents/other stakeholders to believe students are doing well or doing poorly, only to receive summative test results with differing views of achievement. Which form of reporting offers the most informative insight into the achievement of students? Stakeholders need to receive actionable and informative information that consistently reports student achievement and growth. Implications of these findings are of particular importance to teachers in schools of poverty, as the use of standards-based report cards are significant when teachers look at Student Assessment, Teacher Communication, Parent Communication, and Student Mindset. Although traditional report cards actually show significance in one area (Teacher Communication) for one student group (schools of affluence), more consideration should be given to the use of standards-based report cards for all students. In Indiana, respondents at this time indicated 217 teachers (48.2%) still use traditional report cards and 233 teachers (51.8%) currently use standards-based report cards. Corporations and teachers should consider the use of standards-based report cards, especially if schools within their district are schools of poverty. Such a change in reporting system would necessitate discussions by adult stakeholders in the school community; however, the benefit to students should drive at least consideration of the use of standards-based reporting.

Recent research studied the importance of a growth mindset both for teachers and for students. Student engagement is a buzzword that flows across all levels of education both in practice and in research, and students with a growth mindset are often seen as students who are engaged (Dweck, 2008; Ricci, 2013). However, classrooms are filled with both students of growth mindset and students with a fixed mindset. Little training has been offered to educators

(or parents or students) in the area of identifying student mindset. Even less professional development or training has been offered on how to help students, parents, and teachers with fixed mindsets move toward a growth mindset. Research in this area could involve assessing mindset and achievement using both a pre- and post-test, offering training, and then determining the impact of the training on student achievement after instruction in the area of growth mindset characteristics.

This study asked teachers their experience with traditional or standards-based report cards. There may be teachers who have experience with both types of reporting. What does their experience offer to the debate? What insights might they offer to the discussion of communication and student assessment? Does the level of poverty impact the form of reporting in a significant way? Does the reporting system impact the level of feedback they offer to students or to parents?

Finally, what about the stakeholders? No one has asked for input from students in order to compare their understanding of their learning targets and their achievement of those targets. Is there a relationship? The study asked teachers about parent communication. What would parents say about the communication of their child(ren)'s learning targets and how well they understand where their child(ren) are achieving? Do parents have experience with both types of reporting systems, and if so, what are the strengths or weaknesses of each? An often forgotten stakeholder is the next level for the student, whether the college, workplace, or other training. Do stakeholders understand the meanings of each reporting system and does one offer more information than the other?

Summary

This quantitative study was conducted to determine if there is a difference between standards-based reporting methods and traditional reporting methods. The study utilized the lens of students in schools of poverty and students in schools of affluence to look at the areas of assessment, communication from both teacher and parent viewpoint, and student mindset. A significant difference was found between standards-based reporting and traditional reporting in the areas of assessment, communication from both teacher and parent viewpoints, and student mindset, specifically when using the lens of schools of poverty. Assessment and communication from the viewpoint of teachers were also significant for schools of affluence. Overall, standardsbased reporting had a higher mean than traditional reporting in both areas of communication and in the area of mindset for schools of poverty. Assessment had a higher mean for both traditional and standards-based assessment for all students.

This study offers evidence there is a significant difference between standards-based report cards and traditional report cards for students in schools of poverty. Standards-based report cards are seen as significant in the areas of teacher and parent communication, student mindset, and student assessment. In the area of assessment, standards-based report cards are also significant for students in affluent settings. The only area reported as significant for traditional report cards was in teacher communication. For students in affluent settings, parent communication and student mindset did not offer significant findings for either standards-based report cards or traditional report cards. Overall, standards-based report cards offer significant findings and should be considered when educators are looking at communication, assessment of students, and student mindset.

REFERENCES

- Allen, J. D. (2005). Grades as valid measures of academic achievement of classroom learning. *The Clearing House, 78,* 218-223. doi:10.3200/TCHS.78.5.218-223
- Answers. (2002). *School grading systems*. Retrieved from http://www.answers.com/topic/schoolgrading-systems
- Arter, J. A. (2010, May). Interim benchmark assessments: Are we getting our eggs in the right basket? Paper presented at the National Council on Measurement in Education, Denver, CO. Retrieved from http://ati.pearson.com/downloads/Interim-Benchmark-Assessments-Paper-d.pdf
- Black, P., & Wiliam, D. (1998). Assessment and classroom learning. *Assessment in Education*, 5(1), 7-74. Retrieved from http://content.cqu.edu.au/FCWeb/getFile.do?id=24450
- Brennan, R. T., Kim, J., Wenz-Gross, M., & Siperstein, G. N. (2001). The relative equitability of high-stakes testing versus teacher-assigned grades: An analysis of the Massachusetts
 Comprehensive Assessment System (MCAS). *Harvard Educational Review*, *71*, 173-216.
 Retrieved from http://scholar.harvard.edu/jameskim/publications/relative-equitability-high-stakes-testing-versus-teacher-assigned-grades
- Brookhart, S. M. (2001, March). *The "standards" and classroom assessment research*. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Association of Colleges for Teacher Education, Dallas, TX. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED451189

Brookhart, S. M. (2011). Starting the conversation about grading. *Educational Leadership*, 69(3), 10-14. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educationalleadership/nov11/vol69/num03/Starting-the-Conversation-About-Grading.aspx

Chapman, H. B., & Ashbaugh, E. J. (1925). Report cards in American cities. *Educational Research Bulletin, 4,* 289-310. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1471120

Cizek, G. J. (1996). Grades: The final frontier in assessment reform. *NASSP Bulletin*. doi:10.1177/019263659608058416

- Cizek, G. J. (2009). Reliability and validity of information about student achievement:
 Comparing large-scale and classroom testing contexts. *Theory Into Practice, 48*, 63-71.
 doi:10.1080/00405840802577627
- Common Core State Standards Initiative. (2014). *Development process*. Retrieved from http://www.corestandards.org/about-the-standards/development-process/
- Cox, K. B. (2011). Putting classroom grading on the table: A reform in progress. *American Secondary Education, 40*(1), 67-87. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/id=EJ951229
- Craig, T. A. (2011). Effects of standards-based report cards on student learning (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (UMI No. 3498282)
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Damour, L. (2011). *Teaching girls to adopt a growth mindset*. Shaker Heights, OH: Center for Research on Girls at Laurel School. Retrieved from http://www.laurelschool.org/about/documents/CRG_GRWTHMNDSET.pdf

- Diamond, J. B. (2007). Where the rubber meets the road: Rethinking the connection between high-stakes testing policy and classroom instruction. *Sociology of Education, 80,* 285-313. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/20452714
- Duncan, G. J., & Magnuson. (2011). The nature and impact of early achievement skills, attention skills, and behavior problems. In G. J. Duncan & R. J. Murnane (Eds.), *Whither opportunity: Rising inequality, schools, and children's life chances* (pp. 47-70). New York, NY: Russell Sage.
- Duncan, G. J., & Murnane, R. J. (2014). *Restoring opportunity: The crisis of inequality and the challenge for American education*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.
- Durm, M. W. (1993). An A is not an A: A history of grading. *The Educational Forum*, *57*. Retrieved from http://www.indiana.edu/~educy520/sec6342/week_07/durm93.pdf

Dweck, C. S. (2006). *Mindset*. New York, NY: Ballantine Books.

- Dweck, C. S. (2008). *Mindset: The new psychology of success*. New York, NY: Ballantine Books.
- Elikai, F., & Schuhmann, P. W. (2010). An examination of the impact of grading policies on students' achievement. *Issues in Accounting Education*, 25, 677-693. Retrieved from http://www.aaajournals.org/doi/abs/10.2308/iace.2010.25.4.677

Eliot, C. W. (1923). Harvard memories. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Erickson, J. A. (2011). Effective grading practices: How grading reform changed our school.
 Educational Leadership, 69(3), 66-70. Retrieved from
 http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/nov11/vol69/num03/How Grading-Reform-Changed-Our-School.aspx

Fegley, A. D. (2010). *Cultivating a growth mindset in students at a high-achieving high school* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3396994)

Field, A. (2009). Discovering statistics using SPSS (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Finkelstein, I. E. (1913). *The marking system in theory and practice*. Baltimore, MD: Warwick & York.
- Fisher, D., Frey, N., & Pumpian, I. (2011). No penalties for practice. *Educational Leadership*, 69(3), 46-51. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/Publications/Educational-Leadership/Digital-EL-Redirect.aspx
- Gerson, R. (2013, February 5). Essays on teaching [Web log post]. Retrieved from http://www.edarticle.com/category/216/essays-on-teaching.php
- Glass, K. D. (2009). The relationship between the teacher's assessment of content knowledge and a standards-based assessment (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3374147)

Good, W. (1937). Should grades be abolished? Education Digest, 2(4), 7-9.

- Goodwin, B. (2011). Research says / Grade inflation: Killing with kindness? *Educational Leadership*, 69(3), 80-81. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/nov11/vol69/num03/Grade-Inflation@-Killing-with-Kindness%C2%A2.aspx
- Gordon, M. E., & Fay, C. H. (2010). The effects of grading and teaching practices on students' perceptions of grading fairness. *College Teaching*, 58(3), 93-98.
 doi:10.1080/87567550903418586
- Green, K. H., & Emerson, A. (2007). A new framework for grading. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 32,* 495-511. doi:10.1080/02602930600896571

- Gullen, K., Gullen, J., & Erickson-Guy, N. (2012). Conversations about grading. *Principal Leadership*, 12, 24-27. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ980861
- Guskey, T. R. (2006, April). "It wasn't fair!" Educators' recollections of their experiences as students with grading. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, San Francisco, CA. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED492005.pdf
- Guskey, T. R. (2011). Five obstacles to grading reform: No more "We've always done it that way." *Educational Leadership*, 69(3), 16-21. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership-nov11/vol69/num03/Five-Obstacles-to-Grading-Reform.aspx
- Guskey, T. R., & Guskey, T. R. (1994). Making the grade: What benefits students? *Educational Leadership*, 52(2), 14-20. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ527450
- Guskey, T. R., & Jung, L. A. (2009, April). *Grading and reporting in a standards-based environment: Implications for students with special needs*. Paper presented at the American Educational Research Association, San Diego, CA. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED509343.pdf
- Guskey, T. R., & Jung, L. A. (2012). Four steps in grading reform. *Principal Leadership*, *13*(4), 23-28. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1002406
- Guskey, T. R., & Jung, L. (2013). Answers to essential questions about standards, assessments, grading, and reporting. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.
- Guskey, T. R., Swan, G. M., & Jung, L. A. (2011). Grades that mean something. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 93(2), 52-57. Retrieved from http://www.ise.ac.th/ASS/Grades%20That% 20Mean%20Something.pdf

Gwidt, K. M. (2010). Exploring student understanding of grades and report cards. (Doctoral Dissertation, Marian University). Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/857079216

- Jung, L. A., & Guskey, T. R. (2007, April). Determining fair grades for students with special needs: A standards-based model. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago, IL. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED497353
- Kohn, A. (1999). The case against grades. *Educational Leadership*, 69(3), 28-33. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/nov11/vol69/num03/The-Case-Against-Grades.aspx
- Krakovsky, M. (2010). The effort effect. *Stanford Magazine*. Retrieved from http://alumni.stanford.edu/get/page/magazine/article/?article id=32124
- Lalley, J. P., & Gentile, J. R. (2009). Classroom assessment and grading to assure mastery. *Theory Into Practice*, 48(1), 28-35. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ823942
- Marzano, R. J., & Heflebower, T. (2011). Grades that show what students know. *Educational Leadership*, 69(3), 34-39. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/nov11/vol69/num03/Grades-That-Show-What-Students-Know.aspx
- McGrath, D. L. (2006). The relationship between grade level and performance of students with the most significant cognitive disabilities as measures with ISTAR (Indiana standards tool for alternate reporting): Implications for policy decisions (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://phdtree.org/pdf/25725913-the-relationship-between-grade-leveland-performance-of-students-with-the-most-significant-cognitive-disabilities-asmeasured-with-istar-indi/

- McMillan, J. H., Myran, S., & Workman, D. (2002). Elementary teachers' classroom assessment and grading practices. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *95*, 203-213. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/27542381
- McTighe, J., & Ferrara, S. (1995). *Assessing learning in the classroom*. Washington, DC: National Education Association.
- Nelson III, C. A., & Sheridan, M. A. (2011). Lessons from neuroscience research for understanding causal links between family and neighborhood characteristics and educational outcomes. In G. J. Duncan & R. J. Murnane (Eds.), *Whither opportunity: Rising inequality, schools, and children's life chances* (pp. 27-46). New York, NY: Russell Sage.
- O'Connor, K. (2001). The principal's role in report card grading. *NASSP Bulletin*, *85*(621), 37-46. doi:10.1177/019263650108562105
- O'Connor, K. (2009). How to grade for learning, K-12 (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.
- O'Connor, K. (2010). Grades When, why, what impact, and how? *Education Canada, 50*(2), 38-41. Retrieved from www.cea-ace.ca/education-canada/article/grades-when-why-what-impact-and-how
- O'Connor, K. (2011). A repair kit for grading (2nd ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson Education.
- O'Connor, K., & Wormeli, R. (2011). Reporting student learning. *Educational Leadership*, 69(3), 40-44. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/nov11/vol69/num03/Reporting-Student-Learning.aspx
- Oliver, B. (2011). Making the case for standards-based grading. *Just for the ASKing!*, 8(1). Retrieved from http://iowaascd.org/index/php/download_file/view/821/1016/

- Oliver, B. (2012, February). Assessment and grading: Point/Counterpoint. *Just for the ASKing!* Retrieved from www.justaskpublications.com
- Otto, D. (1973). *Pass-fail grading systems: A literature review* (Doctoral dissertation, Alberta University, Edmonton). Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED109209
- Pattison, E., Grodsky, E., & Muller, C. (2013). Is the sky falling: Grade inflation and the signaling power of grades. *Educational Researcher*, *42*, 259-265.
 doi:10.3102/0013189X13481382

Pink, D. (2009). Drive. New York, NY: Riverhead Books.

- Proulx, C., Spencer-May, K., & Westerberg, T. (2012). Moving to standards-based grading: Lessons from Omaha. *Principal Leadership*, 13(4), 30-34. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1002408
- Quinn, T. (2012). A crash course on giving grades. *Phi Delta Kappan, 93*(4), 57-59. doi:10.1177/003172171109300414
- Reardon, S. F. (2011). The widening achievement gap between the rich and the poor: New evidence and possible explanations. In G. D. Duncan & R. J. Murnane (Eds.), *Whither* opportunity? Rising inequality, schools, and children's life chances (pp. 91-116). New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Reedy, R. (1995). Formative and summative assessment: A possible alternative to the gradingreporting dilemma. *NASSP Bulletin*, *79*, 47-51. doi:10.1177/019263659507957308
- Reeves, D. B. (2011). Elements of grading. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.
- Ricci, M. C. (2013). *Mindsets in the classroom: Building a culture of success and student achievement in schools*. Waco, TX: Prufrock Press.

 Ross, J. A., & Kostuch, L. (2011). Consistency of report card grades and external assessments in a Canadian province. *Education Association Evaluation and Accountability*, 23, 159-180. doi:10.1007/s11092-011-9117-3

- Rowan, B. (2011). Intervening to improve the educational outcomes o fstudents in poverty:
 Lessons from recent work in high-poverty schools. In G. D. Duncan & R. J. Murnane
 (Eds.), *Whither opportunity? Rising inequality, schools, and children's life chances* (pp. 523-538). New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Scanlan, C. L. (2003). Assessment, evaluation, testing and grading [White paper]. Retrieved from https://www.scribd.com/doc/89761181/Assessment-Evaluation-Testing-and-Grading
- Scriffiny, P. L. (2008). Seven reasons for standards-based grading. *Educational Leadership*, 66(2), 70-74. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational_leadership /oct08/vol66/num02/Seven_Reasons_for_Standards-Based_Grading.aspx
- Simmons, N. E. (2010). (De)Grading the standardized test: Can standardized testing evaluate schools? [White Paper]. Retrieved from http://www.cea-ace.ca?sites/default/files/EdCan-2004-v44-n3-Simmons.pdf

Stepitup²Thrive. (2011). *Resource center*. Retrieved from http://www.stepitup2thrive.org/

Stiggins, R. (2004). New assessment beliefs for a new school mission. *Phi Delta Kappan, 86*(1), 22-27. doi:10.1177/003172170408600106

Stiggins, R. (2005). From formative assessment to assessment FOR learning: A path to success in standards-based schools. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 87, 324-328. doi:10.1177/003172170508700414 Stiggins, R. (2006). Assessment for learning: A key to motivation and achievement. *Edge*, *2*(2), 3-19. Retrieved from http://ati.pearson.com/downloads/edgev2n2_0.pdf

- Stiggins, R. (2007a). Assessment through the student's eyes. *Educational Leadership*, 64(8), 22-26. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educationalleadership/may07/vol64/num08/Assessment-Through-the-Student's-Eyes.aspx
- Stiggins, R. (2007b). Five assessment myths and their consequences. *Education Week*, 27(8), 28-29. Retrieved from http://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2007/ 10/17/08stiggins.h27.html?print=1
- Stiggins, R., & Chappuis, J. (2005). Using student-involved classroom assessment to close achievement gaps. *Theory Into Practice*, 44(1), 11-18. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ724993
- Thompson, G. (2007). A mind-set is a difficult thing to change: Why reforming low-performing schools requires eradicating negative beliefs about students. *The Claremont Letter*, 2(3).
 Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED538239.pdf
- Tierney, R. D., Simon, M., & Charland, J. (2011). Being fair: Teachers' interpretations of principles for standards-based grading. *The Educational Forum*, 75, 210-227. doi:10.1080/00131725.2011.577669
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2005). Grading and differentiation: Paradox or good practice? *Theory Into Practice, 44,* 262-269. doi:10.1207/s15430421tip4403_11

Tomlinson, C. A. (2011). One to grow on / Finding your grading compass. *Educational Leadership*, 69(3), 86-87. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/nov11/vol69/num03/Finding-Your-Grading-Compass.aspx

Townsley, M. (2013). Redesigning grading – districtwide. *Educational leadership*, 71(4), 68-71. Retrieved from http://www.educationalleadershipdigital.com/educationalleadership/20131201#pg71

- Vanderbilt University, Center for Teaching. (2012). *Grading student work* [White Paper]. Retrieved from http://www.GradingStudentWorkCenter forTeachingVanderbiltUniversity.html
- Vermeij, R. (2013, December 10). *Have the mindset of a champion* [Web log post]. Retrieved from http://www.dancearchives.net/2013/12/10/mindset-champion-jean-dorff/
- Willingham, W. W., Pollack, J. M., & Lewis, C. (2002). Grades and test scores: Accounting for observed differences. *Journal of Educational Measurement*, 39(1), 1-37. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1435104

APPENDIX A: CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

Traditional and Standards-Based Reporting of Student Achievement

You are being invited to participate in a research study about the impact of traditional and standards-based report cards on student achievement. This study is being conducted by Paula Concus, a doctoral student in the Education Department at Indiana State University as part of a dissertation study. You were selected as a possible participant in this study because you are a teacher of elementary students in the state of Indiana.

There are no known risks to participating in this research study. There are no costs to you for participating in the study. The information you provide will be used to determine if grading practices have an impact on communication of achievement, assessment of students, and student mind-set. The questionnaire will take about 10 minutes to complete. The information collected may not benefit you directly, but the information learned in this study should provide more general benefits.

This survey is anonymous. No one will be able to identify you or your answers, and no one will know whether or not you participated in the study. Individuals from the Institutional Review Board may inspect these records. Should the data be published, no individual information will be disclosed.

Your participation in this study is voluntary, and your IP address will not be collected, however absolute anonymity cannot be guaranteed over the Internet. No one will be able to identify you or your answers, and no one will know whether or not you participated in the study. Please note that the name of the school in which you work will not be collected in the survey. The names of the schools or districts will not be revealed in the final document. By completing this survey and submitting your answers to the following questions, you are voluntarily agreeing to participate. You are free to decline to answer any particular question you do not wish to answer for any reason. If you wish to withdraw from participation in this survey, you may exit the survey by closing your browser at any time.

If you are willing to participate in this survey, please click the arrow at the bottom of this page. If you have any questions about the study, please contact:

Paula Concus, 4587 E Co Rd 00 N S, Kokomo, Indiana 46901, (765) 454-7030, or by email pconcus@kokomo.k12.in.us, or contact my dissertation chair, Dr. Terry McDaniel, Indiana State University, University Hall Room 211G Terre Haute, In 47809 812-237-3862 tmcdaniel@indstate.edu If you have any questions about your rights as a research subject or if you feel you've been placed at risk, you may contact the Indiana State University Institutional Review Board (IRB) by mail at Indiana State University, Office of Sponsored Programs, Terre Haute, IN, 47809, by phone at (812) 237-8217, or by e-mail at irb@indstate.edu.

By clicking the arrow below, I agree to participate in this survey.

APPENDIX B: TRADITIONAL AND STANDARDS-BASED REPORTING SURVEY

Reporting Methods Survey

- Q1 Parents care about the education of their child(ren).
 - O Strongly Disagree
 - **O** Disagree
 - O Somewhat Disagree
 - O Somewhat Agree
 - O Agree
 - O Strongly Agree
- Q2 Feedback on a student's work is more helpful to students than a letter/ number grade.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - **O** Disagree
 - Somewhat Disagree
 - O Somewhat Agree
 - O Agree
 - **O** Strongly Agree
- Q3 Students in my classroom know their learning target(s).
 - **O** Strongly Disagree
 - **O** Disagree
 - O Somewhat Disagree
 - O Somewhat Agree
 - O Agree
 - O Strongly Agree
- Q4 Public schools help level the playing field for all students.
 - **O** Strongly Disagree
 - **O** Disagree
 - **O** Somewhat Disagree
 - O Somewhat Agree
 - O Agree
 - O Strongly Agree

- Q5 The process of learning is more fascinating than the content of learning.
 - **O** Strongly Disagree
 - O Disagree
 - Somewhat Disagree
 - O Somewhat Agree
 - O Agree
 - O Strongly Agree

Q6 The expectations of the teacher influence the achievement of his/her students.

- Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- O Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- O Strongly Agree
- Q7 The ability of a student to learn remains relatively constant throughout school.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - **O** Disagree
 - Somewhat Disagree
 - **O** Somewhat Agree
 - O Agree
 - Strongly Agree

Q8 Looking smart to peers is important to student learning.

- O Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- **O** Somewhat Disagree
- **O** Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- O Strongly Agree

Q9 Students who are smart do not need to put forth effort.

- Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- **O** Somewhat Disagree
- O Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- O Strongly Agree
- Q10 Students are motivated when they see themselves as learners.
 - **O** Strongly Disagree
 - **O** Disagree
 - **O** Somewhat Disagree
 - O Somewhat Agree
 - O Agree
 - O Strongly Agree
- Q11 Incentives produce learning just as engagement produces learning.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - **O** Disagree
 - **O** Somewhat Disagree
 - Somewhat Agree
 - O Agree
 - O Strongly Agree

Q12 It is important for students to help create learning goals.

- **O** Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- O Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- **O** Strongly Agree

Q13 Letter grades offer the incentive for students to learn.

- Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- **O** Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- Strongly Agree

Q14 Parents view report card grades as how well their child is achieving.

- **O** Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- **O** Somewhat Disagree
- O Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- O Strongly Agree

Q15 Test scores are accurate measures of student achievement.

- **O** Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- **O** Somewhat Disagree
- O Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- **O** Strongly Agree

Q16 Formative, ongoing assessments are key elements of instruction.

- **O** Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- **O** Somewhat Disagree
- O Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- **O** Strongly Agree

Q17 Parents in my class know the learning goals of their child.

- **O** Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- **O** Somewhat Disagree
- O Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- **O** Strongly Agree

Q18 Report card grades reflect academic achievement, effort, behavior, and motivation.

- **O** Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- **O** Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- Strongly Agree

Q19 Students are allowed to redo assignments/ assessments without penalty.

- **O** Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- **O** Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- O Strongly Agree

Q20 Grades allow parents to clearly understand and support the learning process.

- Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- O Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- O Strongly Agree

Q21 Parents support educational opportunities for their child(ren) outside of the school day.

- Strongly Disagree
- **O** Disagree
- Somewhat Disagree
- O Somewhat Agree
- O Agree
- O Strongly Agree

Q22 Which type of reporting system (usually referred to as "report card") is used in your building?

- **O** Traditional
- Standards-Based

Q23 How many years have you used this type of report card?

- **O** Less than three (3) years
- **O** Three (3) years or more

Q24 What is the Free/ Reduced percentage of students in your building?

- O Above 50%
- **O** 35% 50%
- O Below 35%